

Kidger, Simone Verina (2017) *The impact of the synovial environment and GM-CSF on the myeloid compartment in rheumatoid arthritis.* PhD thesis.

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/8012/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

The Impact of the Synovial Environment and GM-CSF on the Myeloid Compartment in Rheumatoid Arthritis.

Simone Verina Kidger BSc (Hons)



Submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation University of Glasgow

February 2017

Abstract

The synovial environment in rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a milieu of Damage Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs), cytokines and immune complexes, which can modulate the activation or polarisation of myeloid cells. GM-CSF, which is a pivotal myeloid cell growth factor, is also a pro-inflammatory cytokine that drives aspects of RA immunopathogenesis. Inhibition of GM-CSF signalling has been successful in both mouse models and in clinical trials for RA, however, the specific effect of GM-CSF on myeloid cells in a synovial setting is not well understood. The aim of this thesis was to investigate the impact of the synovial environment and GM-CSF on myeloid cells in RA.

GM-CSF stimulation induced monocytes to secrete substantial amounts of the chemokine CCL17. However, this induction of CCL17 was significantly inhibited upon co-stimulation with RA synovial fluid, but not osteoarthritis (OA) synovial fluid, whilst the expression of other chemokines was unaffected. TLR ligands also inhibited GM-CSF driven CCL17, however, through the use of MyD88/TRIF knockout mouse monocytes, we found RA synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 was TLR-independent. Small Immune Complexes and IFN α also had the capacity to inhibit GM-CSF induction of CCL17, suggesting multiple mechanisms within the RA synovial fluid to prevent this induction. Despite the consistency of RA synovial fluid causing inhibition of the GM-CSF signalling pathway in comparison to OA synovial fluid, there were no distinct effects on macrophage polarisation. The RA synovial environment has more of an impact on monocyte activation in comparison to macrophage polarisation, as synovial fluid from other arthropathies had the comparable effects on macrophage phenotypes.

This thesis concludes that RA synovial fluid contains several factors that inhibit GM-CSF induction of CCL17. This suggests a regulatory mechanism, preventing the excessive secretion of CCL17 by monocytes, thereby preventing exacerbation of immunopathogenesis.

Table of Contents

| Abstract | 2 |
|---------------------------------------------|------|
| List of Tables | 6 |
| List of Figures | 7 |
| Acknowledgements | |
| Author's declaration | 11 |
| Abbreviations | 12 |
| Chapter 1 Introduction | 18 |
| 1.1 Rheumatoid Arthritis | 18 |
| 1.1.1 Clinical symptoms | |
| 1.1.2 Classification | |
| 1.1.3 Epidemiology | |
| 1.2 Risk Factors for RA | 20 |
| 1.2.1 Genetic | |
| 1.2.2 Environmental | 21 |
| 1.2.3 Gender | |
| 1.3 Other Inflammatory Erosive Diseases | 22 |
| 1.3.1 Osteoarthritis | |
| 1.3.2 Psoriatic Arthritis | 23 |
| 1.4 Immunopathology of RA | 23 |
| 1.4.1 Monocyte and Macrophage lineage in RA | 25 |
| 1.4.2 Dendritic Cells in RA | |
| 1.4.3 DAMPs in RA | |
| 1.4.4 T cells | |
| 1.4.5 T cells in RA | |
| 1.4.6 B cells in RA | |
| 1.4.7 Autoantibodies and Immune Complexes | |
| 1.4.8 Synovial Fluid | |
| 1.5 Cytokine Pathways in RA | |
| 1.5.1 ΙΝFα | |
| 1.5.2 IL-1 | |
| 1.5.3 IL-6 | |
| 1.6 Chemokines in RA | |
| 1.6.1 Chemokine structure and function | |
| 1.6.2 CXCL8 (IL-8) | |
| 1.6.3 CXCL10 | |
| 1.6.4 CCLZ | |
| 1.6.5 CCL17 and CCR4 | |
| 1.7 Treatment of RA | |
| 1.7.1 DMARDS | |
| 1.7.2 Inerapeutics | |
| | |
| 1.8.1 INF α INIDITION | |
| 1.0.2 IL-OK DIOCKAGE | //4/ |
| 1.9 Unsuccessful cytokine therapies | /4 |
| 1.7.1 IL-1 INNIDILION | |

| 1.9.2 Unmet Need | 48 |
|--------------------------------------------------------------------|----|
| 1.10 GM-CSF | 48 |
| 1.10.1 Biology | 48 |
| 1.10.2 Clinical Relevance | 51 |
| 1.10.3 Targeting GM-CSF | 51 |
| 1.11 Hypothesis and Aims | 52 |
| Chapter 2 Materials and Methods | 54 |
| 2.1 Patients and Controls | 54 |
| 2.2 Primary Human Cell Culture | 54 |
| 2.2.1 Isolation of PBMCs from buffy coats and peripheral blood | 54 |
| 2.2.2 Purification of T cells from PBMCs | 54 |
| 2.2.3 T cell stimulation | 55 |
| 2.2.4 Purification of Monocytes from PBMCs | 55 |
| 2.2.5 Macrophage differentiation | 56 |
| 2.2.6 Monocyte stimulation | 56 |
| 2.2.7 Monocyte genetic manipulation | 56 |
| 2.3 Immune Complexes | 57 |
| 2.3.1 Small Immune Complex Formation | 57 |
| 2.3.2 Depletion of Immune Complexes from Synovial Fluid | 57 |
| 2.4 Fluorescent labelling | 58 |
| 2.4.1 Pacific blue labelling of antibody | 58 |
| 2.5 Mice | 58 |
| 2.5.1 Extraction of bone marrow monocytes | 58 |
| 2.5.2 Stimulation of monocytes | 59 |
| 2.6 Transcript Analysis | 59 |
| 2.6.1 RNA extraction | 59 |
| 2.6.2 cDNA synthesis | 60 |
| 2.6.3 qPCR | 60 |
| 2.6.4 Taqman Low Density Array | 63 |
| 2.7 Cytokine and Chemokine Analysis | 64 |
| 2.7.1 Sample Preparation | 64 |
| 2.7.2 ELISA | 64 |
| 2.7.3 Luminex | 65 |
| 2.7.4 Meso-Scale Discovery (MSD) Multi-Array | 66 |
| 2.8 Immunohistochemistry (IHC) | 66 |
| 2.8.1 Antigen Retrieval | 66 |
| 2.8.2 Primary Antibody and ImmPress Secondary | 6/ |
| 2.8.3 IHC scoring | 68 |
| 2.9 Flow Cytometry (FACS) | 68 |
| 2.9.1 Assessment of cell purity - Human | 68 |
| 2.9.2 Assessment of cell purity - Mouse | 69 |
| | 69 |
| | 69 |
| 2.10 Limulus Assay | /1 |
| | /1 |
| Chapter 3 GM-CSF/CCL17 axis in RA | 73 |
| 3.1 Introduction | 73 |
| 3.2 Results | 76 |
| 3.2.1 Chemokine secretion in GM-CSF stimulated monocytes | 76 |
| 3.2.2 CCL17 secretion in RA monocytes | 80 |
| 3.2.3 TLR ligands inhibited GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in monocytes | 82 |
| 3.2.4 Investigation into the mechanism of LPS inhibition of CCL17 | 86 |

| 3.2.5 Activated T cells produced GM-CSF, but CCL17 does not exacerbate |
|---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| GM-CSF secretion |
| 3.2.6 IMMUNONISTOCNEMISTRY ANALYSIS OF RA SYNOVIAL MEMORANES NIGNLIGHTED |
| 3.2.7 Histological comparison between RA and OA synovial membranes 98 |
| 3.3 Discussion |
| Chapter 4 The impact of the synovial environment on the GM-CSF/CCL17 axis |
| 111 |
| 4.1 Introduction |
| 4.2 Results |
| 4.2.1 RA synovial fluid contains a higher concentration of cytokines and chemokines in comparison to $\Omega \Delta$ 114 |
| 4.2.2 Synovial fluid impacts GM-CSF stimulated monocyte CCL17 secretion. |
| 117 |
| 4.2.3 Transcript analysis of the kinetics of synovial fluid inhibition 119 |
| 4.2.4 Synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 is not via extracellular inhibition of |
| a secreted factor |
| 4.2.5 Delaying the co-stimulation with RA synovial fluid still inhibited GM- |
| 4.2.6 Synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 is TLR independent |
| 4.2.7 IFN α and small immune complexes can inhibit the induction of CCL17 |
| by GM-CSF stimulation 131 |
| 4.2.8 Investigation into GM-CSF and CCL17 associated signalling 135 |
| 4.2.9 Investigation into CCL17 inhibition by RA synovial fluid through the |
| Inhibition of JAK1 and JAK3 |
| |
| environment 152 |
| 5.1 Introduction |
| 5.2 Results |
| 5.2.1 The effect of <i>in vitro</i> stimuli on macrophage polarisation 155 |
| 5.2.2 Evaluation of valid housekeeping genes |
| 5.2.3 The effect of disease stimuli on macrophage polarisation |
| synovial fluid stimulation 166 |
| 5.2.5 Monocyte phenotype analysis after stimulation with synovial fluid and |
| Mavrilimumab |
| 5.2.6 Mavrilimumab caused induction of CCL17 and TNF $lpha$ in synovial fluid |
| treated monocytes 175 |
| 5.2.7 Investigation into the induction of TNF α by Mavrilimumab 177 |
| |
| 5.3 Discussion |
| 5.3 Discussion |
| 5.3 Discussion |
| 5.3 Discussion 181 Chapter 6 General Discussion 188 6.1 Future Work 190 6.2 Conclusions 191 |
| 5.3 Discussion181Chapter 6 General Discussion1886.1 Future Work1906.2 Conclusions191Appendix192 |

List of Tables

| Table 1.1: | 2010 ACR/EULAR RA classification criteria | 19 |
|------------|-------------------------------------------------|----|
| Table 1.2: | Chemokine Receptors and their chemokine ligands | 41 |
| Table 2.1: | cDNA synthesis | 60 |
| Table 2.2: | End Point PCR | 61 |
| Table 2.3: | Primer Sequences | 62 |
| Table 2.4: | Macrophage TLDA card | 63 |
| Table 2.5: | Monocyte TLDA cards | 64 |
| Table 2.6: | ELISA kits | 65 |
| Table 2.7: | IHC Primary Antibodies | 67 |
| Table 2.8: | FACS antibodies | 71 |

List of Figures

| Figure 1.1 Synovial Immunopathogenesis | . 24 |
|----------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------|
| Figure 1.2 Macrophage Differentiation and Polarisation. | . 28 |
| Figure 1.3 TLR Signalling | . 32 |
| Figure 1.4 GM-CSFR signalling | . 50 |
| Figure 3.1 Human Monocyte Purity Check | . 78 |
| Figure 3.2 Chemokine Induction after GM-CSF stimulation of monocytes | . 79 |
| Figure 3.3 CCL17 induction in RA monocytes and TSLP inability to induce CCL1 | 7. |
| | . 81 |
| Figure 3.4 LPS or TLR ligand inhibition of CCL17 in GM-CSF stimulated monocyt | tes |
| | . 84 |
| Figure 3.5 Transcriptional analysis of CCL17, CCL22 and CXCL8 after GM-CSF and | nd |
| LPS co-stimulation | . 85 |
| Figure 3.6 Delayed assay start with monocytes cultured in human serum | . 88 |
| Figure 3.7 siRNA knockdown of SOCS3 in monocytes. | . 89 |
| Figure 3.8 GM-CSF production in T cells after CCL17 stimulation | . 92 |
| Figure 3.9 RA synovial membrane pathology | . 95 |
| Figure 3.10 Immunohistochemistry of RA synovial membranes of CCL17, CCR4, | |
| GM-CSFR α , CD3, CD68 | . 96 |
| Figure 3.11 RA synovium scoring compared intimal lining, sub-lining, interstitie | um |
| and aggregates | . 97 |
| Figure 3.12 IHC of synovial lining of RA and OA sections | 100 |
| Figure 3.13 RA histological scoring compared with OA in intimal lining, and sub |)- |
| lining | 101 |
| Figure 3.14 Positive cell count of RA and OA synovial lining | 102 |
| Figure 3.15 Interstitium of RA compared with OA | 103 |
| Figure 3.16 Schematic detailing our hypothesis | 110 |
| Figure 4.1 Cytokines in Synovial Fluid | 115 |
| Figure 4.2 Chemokines in Synovial Fluid | 116 |
| Figure 4.3 Synovial Fluid impact on GM-CSF induced chemokines | 118 |
| Figure 4.4 Time course assessing synovial fluid effect on transcripts | 121 |
| Figure 4.5 Conditioned media from GM-CSF stimulated monocytes was unable | to |
| induce CCL17. | 123 |
| Figure 4.6 Time course analysing when synovial fluid inhibited CCL17 | 125 |
| Figure 4.7 ILR2 and ILR4 inhibiting antibodies could not reverse the CCL17 | 400 |
| Inhibition by RA synovial fluid. | 128 |
| Figure 4.8 MyD88/ IRIF KNOCKOUT MOUSE MONOCYTE GM-CSF INduced CCL1/ | 4 2 0 |
| Induction inhibited by RA synovial fluid | 130 |
| Figure 4.9 immune Complexes inhibit CCL17, but depletion was unable to | 4 7 7 |
| Figure 4.40 IFN inhibited CM CCF induced CCI 47 in management | 122 |
| Figure 4.10 IFN α inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL17 in monocytes | 134 ₄27 |
| Figure 4.11 pSTAT5 analysis after RA synovial fluid and GM-CSF stimulation. | 137 130 |
| Figure 4.12 pSTAT6 analysis after RA synovial fluid and GM-CSF stimulation. | 138 |
| Figure 4.13 Totacitinib effect on GM-CSF induction of CCL17 | 141 |
| Figure 4.14 CCL17 Inhibition analysed using TotacitiniD | 14Z |
| Figure 4.15 Schematic of updated hypothesis | 101 157 |
| Figure 5.1 Experimental macrophage transcriptional profiles. | 13/ |
| Figure 5.2 Transcriptional analysis | 137 h |
| PA or OA supervial fluid | 11 120 |
| RA UI VA SYNOVIAL ILUIU | 103 |

| Figure 5.4 Transcriptional analysis by qPCR of macrophages differentiated with | า |
|-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------|------------|
| diseased synovial fluid 1 | 164 |
| Figure 5.5 Chemokine induction after synovial fluid stimulations 1 | 165 |
| Figure 5.6 Transcriptional comparison between monocyte and macrophages aft synovial fluid stimulation | ter 168 |
| Figure 5.7 TLDA analysis of monocytes stimulated with RA, OA or PsA synovial | |
| fluid 1 | 169 |
| Figure 5.8 Effect of Mavrilimumab on monocyte phenotypes 1 | 173 |
| Figure 5.9 Assessment of variability by qPCR 1 | 174 |
| Figure 5.10 Monocytes pre-treated with Mavrilimumab secreted TNF α and CCL 1 | 17. 176 |
| Figure 5.11 Dose response of Mavrilimumab and isotype analysing $TNF\alpha$ induction. | 179 |
| Figure 5.12 Isotype does not induce apoptosis in monocytes | 180 |

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank all of my supervisors, but primarily Dr Carl Goodyear for all of the support and guidance you've given me along the PhD journey. You have been exceptionally patient, and I really appreciate all of the time and effort that has gone into both my project and my thesis. Particularly at those times when you clearly were very busy, yet still found time to talk through data or give advice on the next experiments. Without your help and advice, I definitely would not be the scientist I am today and for that I really am grateful. Thank you also to Professor Iain McInnes in Glasgow, and Dr Matthew Sleeman and Dr Matthew Robinson at MedImmune for your input throughout my project to drive the best science out of the project. I really appreciated the opportunity of spending time at MedImmune in Cambridge to learn more about science in industry.

A huge thanks to the Goodyear-McInnes lab of past and present for all their help both in and out of the lab. Everyone has played a part in making my PhD experience what it was and I really appreciate all the moral boosting moments from press-ups in the lab to spontaneous bursts into song as well as the science help towards my project. A special thanks for help in the lab to Cecilia, Pamela and Aysin for all of your FACS knowledge, Jim and Shauna for your IHC help, Derek and Mariola for the siRNA guidance and Felix, Mark, Hussain and Moeed. Thanks also to everyone on level 3 and level 4 who have made my PhD experience what it has been. The lunchtime chats in the common room and drinks after work (which were more frequent when I lived closer) really helped me to switch off.

To Alison, Louise, Kay, Kayleigh and Kenny, you have all made my Scottish PhD experience a truly unforgettable experience. I have such fond memories of many giggles with many at my expense but I really would not have had such a fantastic time in Scotland without you all. A big thanks in particular to the two that sat beside me for my first 2 years, Alison and Louise: Alison, you really know the right things to say! From advice and hugs, to puppies in Christmas hats, during the stressful moments, you really are a great friend. Louise, I can honestly say being sat next to you for the entirety of my PhD has been an experience! I think the bond was sealed after the jointly shed tears when you binned my RNA

samples! You have been an incredible help in the lab from cutting sections, to advice and hugs when they've been required! I will definitely miss the chats about the ridiculous over tea and your unicorn and Disney madness! The next person I sit next to will have a lot to match up to.

Thank you to my friends and family who have all helped without even realising. Lisa, those lunchtime meet ups really were a great excuse to unwind. Claire, thank you for always being at the end of the phone when I needed to get something off my chest. Sarah, it's been great to chat and visit to take my mind off science. To my Nan, your letters really are such a highlight of my week and always make me smile.

I also have to take this opportunity to give a massive thank you to my Mum and Dad. Without your support, love and guidance, I would never have achieved what I have or become the person that I am. You have inspired me to make the most of my life, and I cannot thank you enough for all the help you've given me along the way.

Finally, to my amazing husband, Andrew, you really have been incredible at helping me get to this point. Thank you is just not enough for all that you have done for me, and without you I don't think I would have made it. At least I'd have never been in Scotland, so thank you for making me follow you, as it really has been an unforgettable experience! Thank you for being there through the highs and lows from making me smile on those bad science days to the encouragement through the write-up. Your love has got me through this PhD and for that I am eternally grateful. I love you.

Author's declaration

I declare that this thesis is the result of my own work. No part of this thesis has been submitted for any other degree at The University of Glasgow, or any other institution.

Simone Kidger

Abbreviations

| Α | АСРА | Anti-Citrullinated Protein Antibody |
|---|--------|---------------------------------------------|
| | ACR | American College of Rheumatology |
| | APC | Allophycocyanin |
| В | BM | Bone Marrow |
| | BSA | Bovine Serum Albumin |
| с | cDC | Conventional Dendritic Cell |
| | cDNA | Complementary Deoxyribonucleic Acid |
| | CIA | Collagen Induced Arthritis |
| | CRP | C Reactive Protein |
| | CTLA-4 | Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Associated Protein 4 |
| D | DAMP | Damage-Associated Molecular Pattern |
| | DAPI | 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole |
| | DAS28 | Disease Activity Score 28 |
| | DAS40 | Disease Activity Score 40 |
| | DC | Dendritic Cell |
| | DMARD | Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drug |
| | DMSO | Dimethyl Sulfoxide |
| | dNTP | Deoxynucleotide |

- E EAE Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis
 - EDTA Ethylendiaminetetraacitic Acid
 - ELISA Enzyme-linked Immunosorbant Assay
 - ESR Erythrocyte Sedimentation Rate
 - EULAR European League Against Rheumatism
- F FACS Fluorescent Associated Cell Sorting
 - FBS Foetal Bovine Serum
 - FcR Fc Receptor
 - FcγR Fc gamma Receptor
 - FITC Fluorescein Isothiocyanate
 - FLS Fibroblast-Like Synoviocytes
 - FMO Fluorescence Minus One
 - FOXP3 Forkhead Box P3
- **G** GATA3 GATA binding protein 3
 - GM-CSF Granulocyte Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor
 - GM-CSFR Granulocyte Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor Receptor
 - GM-CSFRα Granulocyte Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor Receptor alpha chain
 - GWAS Genome-Wide Association Study
- H HLA Human Leukocyte Antigen

| I | ICAM | Intercellular Adhesion Molecule |
|---|--------|-----------------------------------------------|
| | IFN | Interferon |
| | lg | Immunoglobulin |
| | IHC | Immunohistochemistry |
| | IKK | IKB Kinase |
| | IL | Interleukin |
| | IRAK | Interleukin-1 Receptor-Associated Kinase |
| | IRF | Interferon Regulatory Factor |
| J | JAK | Janus Kinase |
| К | КО | Knockout |
| L | LAL | Limulus Amebocyte Lysate |
| | LC | Langerhan Cell |
| | LPS | Lipopolysaccharide |
| Μ | M-CSF | Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor |
| | M-CSFR | Macrophage-Colony Stimulating Factor Receptor |
| | МАРК | Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase |
| | MFI | Mean Fluorescent Intensity |
| | мнс | Major Histocompatability Complex |
| | MSD | Meso-Scale Discovery |

| | МТХ | Methotrexate |
|---|-------|-----------------------------------------------------|
| | MyD88 | Myeloid Differentiation Primary Response Gene 88 |
| Ν | n.d | Not Detected |
| | ΝϜκΒ | Nuclear Factor Kappa B |
| 0 | OA | Osteoarthritis |
| Ρ | PAD | Peptidylarginine Deiminase |
| | PAMP | Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern |
| | PBMC | Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell |
| | PBS | Phosphate Buffered Saline |
| | PCR | Polymerase Chain Reaction |
| | pDC | Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cell |
| | PE | Phycoerythrin |
| | PI | Propidium Iodide |
| | PRR | Pattern Recognition Receptor |
| | PsA | Psoriatic Arthritis |
| Q | qPCR | Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction |
| R | RA | Rheumatoid Arthritis |
| | RANKL | Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor Kappa-B Ligand |
| | RF | Rheumatoid Factor |

| RNA | Ribonucleic | Acid |
|-----|-------------|------|
|-----|-------------|------|

- RORyT RAR-related orphan receptor gamma T
- RT Reverse Transcriptase
- S SD Standard Deviation
 - SIC Small Immune Complex
 - siRNA Small Interfering Ribonucleic Acid
 - SOCS Suppressor of Cytokine Signalling
 - SpA Staphylococcal Protein A
 - STAT Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription
- T TAC Tetrameric Antibody Complex
 - TAK Transforming Growth Factor Beta-Activated Kinase 1
 - TBK Tank Binding Kinase
 - TGF- β Transforming Growth Factor Beta
 - Th1 T Helper 1 Cell
 - Th17 T Helper 17 Cell
 - Th2 T Helper 2 Cell
 - TIRAP Toll-Interleukin 1 Receptor Domain Containing Adaptor Protein
 - TLR Toll Like Receptor
 - TMB 3,3',5,5'-Tetramethylbenzidine

- TNFα Tumour Necrosis Factor Alpha
- TRAF TNF Receptor-Associated Factor
- TRAM TRIF-Related Adaptor Molecule
- Treg T Regulatory Cell
- TRIF TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon-B
- TSLP Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin
- TSLPR Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin Receptor
- V VCAM Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule
 - VEGF Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
- W WT Wildtype

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Rheumatoid Arthritis

1.1.1 Clinical symptoms

Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease with a chronic inflammatory pathology that primarily affects the small joints of the hands and feet (1,2). Clinically, the disease manifests as swelling and pain of multiple joints that can result in irreversible joint deformation (3). Peak onset of disease is between the age of 25 and 55. RA is characterised by: cell infiltration into the joint lining causing severe synovitis; angiogenesis; and bone and cartilage erosion caused by the synovitis (4). The joints are the main affected area, however, RA can also be considered a systemic condition as there are a number of co-morbidities associated in approximately 80% of RA patients (5). These include cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, periodontal disease, gastrointestinal disorders, pulmonary problems and increased cancer risk (6). RA patients can expect their life expectancy to be 3 to 10 years lower than average (7).

1.1.2 Classification

The diagnosis of RA is made primarily on physical findings. There is no single test that can confirm or exclude diagnosis of RA; therefore a number of criteria are examined to aid diagnosis. These include: the number and location of joints affected; the presence and abundance of rheumatoid factor (RF) or anticitrullinated protein antibodies (ACPA) in the serum; the levels of C-reactive protein (CRP); erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR); and the duration of the symptoms (8). The 1987 American College of Rheumatology (ACR) classification criteria was focused on discerning patients with established RA, which was successful, however, this system led to a failure in identifying patients with early disease (8,9). New identification criteria were defined in the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification criteria created to differentiate patients with synovitis and those patients at more risk of developing erosive RA (Table 1.1). Patients achieving a score of more than 6 were classified as having RA (10). Having the ability to differentiate patients into categories also benefits the identification of patients for clinical trials (8). Table 1.1 2010 ACR/EULAR RA classification criteria

| Symptom | Score |
|-----------------------------------------------------------------|-------|
| A. Joint Involvement | |
| 1 large Joint | 0 |
| 2-10 large joints | 1 |
| 1-3 small joints (with or without involvement of large joints) | 2 |
| 4-10 small joints (with or without involvement of large joints) | 3 |
| >10 joints (at least 1 small joint) | 5 |
| B. Serology | |
| Negative RF and negative ACPA | 0 |
| Low-positive RF or low-positive ACPA | 2 |
| High-positive RF or high-positive ACPA | 3 |
| C. Acute-phase reactants | |
| Normal CRP and normal ESR | 0 |
| Abnormal CRP or normal ESR | 1 |
| D. Duration of symptoms | |
| <6 weeks | 0 |
| ≥6 weeks | 1 |

1.1.3 Epidemiology

The world prevalence of RA is approximately 0.5-1%, however incidence is declining over time. The annual incidence is now 25-50 cases per 100,000 (11). Interestingly, there is geographical variation in incidence of RA as in China and Japan, the incidence is low (0.2-0.3%) whereas in some native American populations the incidence is high (\geq 5%) (8,12). In the UK, prevalence of RA is 0.8% with an incidence of 36 per 100,000 women and 14 per 100,000 men (13). There are few prevalence studies in developing countries, however there is some evidence to suggest a significantly lower prevalence (0.1-0.5%) of RA in developing countries in comparison to North America and Northern Europe (14). This suggests there are potential genetic and/or environmental factors that can increase the potential for disease onset. Importantly, in recent years evidence has been generated to support both genetic and environmental risk factors in RA susceptibility.

1.2 Risk Factors for RA

1.2.1 Genetic

In the last couple of decades a substantial amount of work has been done to investigate the link between genetics and RA predisposition. Numerous studies have been undertaken and it is clear that there is no one gene responsible for RA but rather a complicated multi-gene landscape. Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS) have identified more than 100 loci associated with RA risk, however the effect of an individual locus is low (15).

Although one gene cannot explain the genetic predisposition in RA, the initial observation in genetic studies revealed that Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLA) was associated with the onset of RA. It remains as the best characterised genetic risk factor (16). The HLA are located in the class II region of the Major Histocompatibility Complex (MHC). Several of the HLA-DRB1 alleles are associated with RA in multiple populations. These alleles share an epitope, which is a short amino acid sequence, located in the hypervariable region of the DRB1 molecule (16-18). The shared epitope hypothesis suggests that the specific antigen-binding groove is affected, supporting the role for T cells in RA (19). Recent studies have also suggested that HLA-DR3 is associated with ACPA negative RA patients, highlighting different molecular signatures for the disease subgroups (20,21).

There are multiple RA risk loci that have been identified from GWAS studies. For example, PTPN22 was identified by GWAS, and is associated with several autoimmune conditions. It encodes lymphoid tyrosine phosphatase (LYP), which in the disease-associated variant has increased activity. T-cell receptor and B-cell receptor signalling was reduced in carriers of this variant leading to the survival of autoreactive T cells. RF and ACPA have also been associated with the PTPN22 polymorphism (15,16). Despite the numbers of loci that have been identified, outside of the HLA loci, these only represent 5.5% of the total risk of developing the disease. Furthermore, there are other risk factors such as environmental risks that have been associated with development of RA (15)

1.2.2 Environmental

Various environmental factors for example smoking, diet and infection have been associated with the onset of RA, however, cigarette smoking the strongest identified factor (22). Smoking attributes to 25% of all RA cases, which increases to 35% for seropositive RA (patients classified as RF and ACPA positive)(Section 1.4.7) (23). Smoking increases susceptibility for RA, with the risk more apparent in men than women, with several studies demonstrating a dose response between heavy smoking and RA, with the risk remaining high even after ceasing to smoke (7,22-25). The mechanism causing the increased risk of RA from smoking is not fully understood, however, there have been some studies to suggest several mechanisms. The cigarette chemical tetrachlorodibenzo-P-dioxin (TCDD) has been found to affect general immunity by upregulating the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8 through the stimulation of NF κ B and ERK pathways (7,26). Smoking has also been linked to the shared epitope of HLA-DRB1 and the production of ACPAs. HLA-DRB1 is known to be specific to seropositive RA patients, and in smokers, citrullinated proteins are abundant in the lungs. Citrullinated α -enolase is an autoantigen for RA that has linked HLA-DRB1 allele and smoking as risk factors for RA (27).

Several microorganisms have also been implicated in the development of RA due to high titres of antibodies against Epstein-Barr Virus, Mycobacterium tuberculosis or human papillomavirus as well as others in sera of RA patients. However, this is controversial as no specific microbe directly causes RA. It is thought that microorganisms may trigger the development of RA in individuals with a genetic susceptibility (7).

Dietary factors, including vitamin D and omega-3 fatty acids have been shown to have a protective effect for auto-inflammatory diseases including RA. Vitamin D prevents the onset of Collagen-Induced Arthritis (CIA) in mice, and has been shown to prevent the onset of RA in genetically susceptible patients. In already diagnosed RA patients, vitamin D intake has been correlated with lower disease activity. The mechanism is perhaps due to upregulated anti-inflammatory cytokines and inhibited more pro-inflammatory cytokines (23,28). Omega-3 decreases pro-inflammatory mediators through leukotrienes and prostaglandins, but has had modest effects on RA risk. However, consumption of fish has been shown to improve RA symptoms (29,30).

1.2.3 Gender

Gender plays a part in the susceptibility to RA. Women are 2 to 4 times more likely to develop RA than men, with women less likely to go into remission than men (13,31). In women, RA is also more likely to develop at times of flux in sex hormones. Interestingly, studies have found pregnancy protective, with RA patients going into remission, however relapsing after pregnancy during breastfeeding is high. This is thought to be due to the major changes in hormone levels (32,33). There are many studies to suggest that the Oral Contraceptive Pill is protective in the development of RA, confirming the link between sex hormones and RA (23,34). Innate and adaptive immune cells have the oestrogen receptor, suggesting that oestrogen can have an impact on the immune response. Oestrogen prevents T cell dependent responses and neutrophil adhesion to the endothelium, preventing extravasation into the tissue (35).

1.3 Other Inflammatory Erosive Diseases

1.3.1 Osteoarthritis

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a common chronic musculoskeletal disorder affecting 15% of the world's population. It is a disease associated with ageing, joint trauma and obesity. OA is not an autoimmune disease and has long been thought as a non-inflammatory mechanical disease of weight-bearing joints with destabilisation to the joint causing mechanical damage (36,37). However, more recent findings suggest that OA does have an underlying inflammatory element and that there is synovial inflammation before the structural change in the joint. There are also several immune processes that are ongoing within the synovium in OA, primarily from the innate immune response, with Toll Like Receptor (TLR) signalling playing a major part in immunopathology (37). Currently the only treatments for OA sufferers are pain relief and knee replacements with replacements only viable for approximately 15 years (38,39).

1.3.2 Psoriatic Arthritis

Psoriatic arthritis (PsA), second to RA in incidence of inflammatory arthritis, has less than a 0.1% occurrence in the population (40), but interestingly affects 40% of people with psoriasis (41). Clinically, PsA has very similar manifestations as RA, with small joint arthropathies, however, unlike RA, erosive bone damage is uncommon (42). PsA has a strong genetic link, with 15% of people having a relative with the same condition. CD8 T cells are thought to have a major role in PsA pathology, however autoantibodies are absent from disease (43). The cytokine IL-17 and the IL-17 receptor family members are also crucial to the pathogenesis of PsA. There are increased levels of IL-17 in psoriatic joints, which is thought to be the reason for increased synovial fibroblast proliferation and bone remodelling (44). Anti-IL-17 and anti-IL-17R antibodies are now therapeutics used for the treatment of both PsA and psoriasis (45).

1.4 Immunopathology of RA

In a healthy joint, the synovial membrane consists of few cells, primarily fibroblast-like synoviocytes and macrophages in the intimal lining layer. During inflammation, predominantly CD4⁺ T cells infiltrate into the synovium (Figure 1.1). Other immune cells for example dendritic cells and B cells are recruited and form tertiary lymphoid follicles with T cells, in the synovium (1). The influx of these immune cells, as well as the production of autoantibodies causes the disease pathology. However, RA is a heterogeneous disease, and currently there is no molecular signature. Dennis et al., 2014, suggest that RA pathologies can be subdivided into homogeneous molecular phenotypes. Within these homogeneous molecular populations, cellular differences have been observed in gene-expression profiles. Through FACS analysis, fibroblasts, macrophages and T cells were observed in all molecular clusters, whereas B cells were found only in lymphoid and myeloid clusters. This suggests that some cell types are more prevalent in some types of disease than others; however, there is as yet no definitive categorisation of RA phenotypes due to the level of heterogeneity. This heterogeneity within RA explains why all patients to do not respond to treatment in the same way. However, the homogeneous molecular phenotypes of RA are caused by specific cellular mechanisms (20,46) (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1 Synovial Immunopathogenesis

A normal joint in comparison to the RA joint. In the RA joint, multiple immune cells including monocytes, macrophages, fibroblasts, dendritic cells, T cells and B cells are involved in pathogenesis.

1.4.1 Monocyte and Macrophage lineage in RA

1.4.1.1 Monocytes

Monocytes are a conserved leukocyte population that derive from haematopoietic stem cells in the bone marrow in either the foetal liver or the adult bone marrow (47,48). Monocytes depend on Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor (M-CSF) for survival, as mice deficient of the M-CSFR had monocytopenia (48,49). After leaving the bone marrow, monocytes circulate for a couple of days in the blood before entering the tissues to receive environmental cues for further differentiation into monocyte-derived cells (50). Monocytes are heterogeneous and can be defined by their CD14 and CD16 expression. CD14 is a co-receptor for TLR4, therefore important in the binding of LPS, whereas CD16, also known as $FC_{\gamma}RIII$ has a low affinity for IgG (51). Monocytes are subdivided into: classical, which are $CD14^{++}CD16^{-+}$; intermediate, which are CD14⁺⁺CD16⁺; or non-classical, which are CD14⁺CD16⁺⁺. Classical monocytes are the most abundant of the monocyte phenotypes with 10 fold greater numbers than the non-classical monocyte in circulation (52). Classical monocytes are also CCR2^{high} CXCR1^{low} whereas the intermediate and non-classical monocytes are CCR2^{low}CXCR1^{high}. This is important as it reflects the chemokines in which they bind. Classical and intermediate monocytes are both proinflammatory with classical monocytes responding to CCL2 to migrate into the site of inflammation, and intermediate monocytes binding CXCL8 and CXCL6 (53). The intermediate monocytes normally account for about 10% of the monocytes in the blood in healthy people, however in RA their numbers increase to $11.7\% \pm 5.6\%$. This highlights the importance of monocytes in disease pathogenesis (54).

Monocytes, upon inflammatory cues, become immune effector cells that have the ability to migrate into inflamed tissues from the blood. Monocytes produce cytokines and chemokines upon activation, and also have the ability to differentiate into inflammatory monocyte-derived cells (50).

In RA, the CD16 positive, intermediate monocytes are highly represented mainly in the lining layer of the synovial tissue. These monocytes that express CD16 also have a high expression of TLR2 in comparison to monocytes without CD16, with no difference in the expression of TLR4. They produce cytokines such as TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-8 as well as more anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10 and IL-1RA (55). On arrival to the synovium, monocytes are subject to a milieu of many cytokines, chemokines, DAMPs and immune complexes. In response to many synovial factors, monocyte differentiation is initiated. Monocytes can also modify their responses, releasing cytokines and therefore causing the activation of T cells (56). Upon entry into the synovium, a monocyte is exposed to a variety of stimuli. Prior to differentiation, the response of a monocyte responses to synovial stimuli.

1.4.1.2 Macrophages

Macrophages are tissue resident cells that maintain tissue homeostasis. In homeostasis, macrophages are involved in the phagocytic clearance of cellular debris and erythrocytes (57). They are termed professional phagocytes as they express receptors such as scavenger receptors and phosphatidylserine receptors that recognise apoptotic or necrotic cells and are not present on all cells (58).There are multiple macrophage lineages and more recently, it has been determined that tissue resident macrophages are not monocyte derived. They are terminally differentiated cells that are embryonic derived (50). Genetic fate-mapping techniques have led to the understanding that macrophages are derived from the yolk-sac and can self renew in the tissue (59). In inflammation both tissue derived macrophages and monocyte derived macrophages have distinctive roles(60).

During inflammation, monocytes are recruited into the tissue where they receive environmental cues and differentiate into cells such as macrophages. Macrophages are heterogeneous as the environmental cues received upon differentiation from monocytes reflect their phenotype (47).

Macrophages or monocyte-derived cells are highly plastic, but have historically been classified into two distinct groups: M1 or M2; M1 macrophages are traditionally differentiated with IFN_γ, IFN_γ and LPS, or GM-CSF and they have a more pro-inflammatory phenotype; and M2 macrophages are IL-4, IL-4 and IL-13, IL-10 or M-CSF stimulated macrophages, which have a more regulatory phenotype (61-63). M1 macrophages or classically activated macrophages are considered more pro-inflammatory as upon stimulation, they produce cytokines such as TNF α , IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-12 as well as chemokines and growth factors. They also express high levels of MHC class II, with co-stimulatory molecules to present antigen to T cells, thereby activating the adaptive immune response (64). M2 or alternatively activated macrophages are thought to be more regulatory as they produce IL-10, can antagonise M1 responses and promote the resolution of inflammation (58) (Figure 1.2). However, this classification of macrophage phenotypes is not representative of macrophages in vivo as the classifications were determined from in vitro monocyte-derived macrophages. In the tissue, the environmental milieu influences differentiation and activation therefore leading to a spectrum of macrophage phenotypes (57). Despite this understanding that macrophages are heterogeneous, there are guidelines for macrophage classification dependent on expression of transcription factors, chemokines, cytokines and scavenger receptors amongst others, which are specifically for in vitro derived macrophages (63). These guidelines are useful for clarity between culture conditions that were previously used for M1 or M2 macrophages, however, this does not relate to disease specific macrophages or allow for the spectrum of macrophage phenotypes (Figure 1.2).



Figure 1.2 Macrophage Differentiation and Polarisation.

A) Traditional terminology for macrophage differentiation. Macrophages differentiated in vitro from monocytes with specific identified stimuli, differentiated into either M1 or M2 macrophages. B) The widely accepted concept that due to the large variety of stimuli received in the tissue, macrophages are not easily categorised, but have a spectrum of activation.

In RA, macrophages are responsible for the release of many pro-inflammatory cytokines that influence T cell polarisation (Section 1.4.4). IL-12 is involved in Th1 polarisation (Section 1.4.4), whereas IL-1 β , IL-6 and IL-23 are involved in Th17 polarisation. The stimulation by macrophages to skew CD4⁺ T cells to a Th17 phenotype has been considered to perpetuate inflammation due to a positive feedback loop between the Th17 cells and macrophages (56). Macrophages are present in the intimal lining layer of the synovium, which they share with fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS). FLS play a pivotal role in RA pathogenesis and joint destruction through the secretion of Matrix Metalloproteinases, which leads to cartilage destruction and bone erosion (65).

FLS, once activated, secrete TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1, which prolongs inflammation and they also sustain regulatory feedback loops (66). The crosstalk between macrophages and fibroblast-like synoviocytes has been shown to modulate macrophage cytokine expression. Macrophage expression of TNF induced genes, such as type I interferons, were repressed by FLS, and interestingly IL-4 and growth factors such as M-CSF were up-regulated. FLS appear to influence macrophage polarisation to a more M2 phenotype (67). This M2-like phenotype of IL-10 producing macrophages is specific to the intimal lining macrophages, as the sub-lining macrophages have a more heterogeneous phenotype as there are some macrophages that secrete IFN γ and some that secrete IL-10 (68). Despite the variety of macrophages within the synovium, a large proportion secrete proinflammation (69). However, it is unknown what the effect of the synovial environment is specifically on the macrophage phenotype. Therefore, this thesis aims to evaluate macrophage phenotypes after stimulation with synovial fluid.

Macrophages are involved with the perpetual inflammation observed in RA due to the cytokines and chemokines they release, and their interaction with the adaptive immune response. Therefore, targeting macrophages has been considered in the treatment of RA. Some therapeutics already in use do indirectly target macrophages such as antibodies targeting TNF α , which is a cytokine that is readily released by activated macrophages (70).

1.4.2 Dendritic Cells in RA

Dendritic cells (DCs) are professional antigen presenting cells, which are recruited to the synovium upon the inflammatory insult (71). DCs can be classified into 2 major categories derived from a common DC precursor (CDP): conventional DCs (cDCs) and plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs). cDCs can then be further divided based on their expression of CD1c and CD141 (72,73). These all have a distinct function to either stimulate or inhibit the immune response (74). DCs are immature in the periphery, however, become activated in response to inflammatory mediators such as: pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMP) via C type Lectin receptors or Toll Like Receptors (TLR); or by immune complexes (IC) via FC γ receptors (FC γ R) (71). Chemokines are involved in the recruitment of DCs to the tissue, where they are exposed to the inflammatory mediators. Once activated, DCs migrate to the lymph nodes where they present antigen to T cells and release cytokines that lead to T cell maturation (75). In RA, synovial DCs are more differentiated than precursors that are isolated from RA or normal peripheral blood due to the elevated expression of MHC Class II and adhesion molecules (76,77). Synovial fluid contains high numbers of both cDCs and pDCs in comparison to the blood suggesting a role for them in disease pathogenesis in both antigen presentation and through the release of inflammatory mediators (71).

1.4.3 DAMPs in RA

Damage Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) are endogenous danger signals or alarmins that host molecules rapidly release from damaged or necrotic cells. DAMPs are a sterile inflammatory insult that causes activation of Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs), such as TLRs or C type lectin receptors (78,79). They have the ability to mediate an inflammatory response by stimulating the recruitment of cells to sites of tissue damage and by activating innate immune cells (80). DAMPs include proteins such as high mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB1), tenascin c, heat shock proteins, extracellular matrix proteins and the S100 group of proteins (81-83). Recent work has suggested that various DAMPS, released during synovial damage, are important in RA (82). One particular class of DAMP that is elevated in RA SF in comparison to OA synovial fluid are the S100 proteins (84). It has also been suggested that the S100A9 protein could be used as biomarker for methotrexate responsiveness (85). The proteome of PBMCs and the serum of methotrexate responders, had higher levels of \$100A9 in comparison to non-responders at the baseline before treatment (85). Tenascin C, an extracellular matrix glycoprotein, has also been shown to be a contributing factor to inflammation and joint destruction in the zymosan-induced model of RA in mice. In Tenascin C knockout mice, the inflammation is not sustained in the model, and the mice are protected from joint destruction as cell infiltration and synovial thickening were reduced (86). In RA patients, Tenascin C was identified in circulation and was up-regulated in comparison to controls. After treatment with either Methotrexate or anti-TNF α therapy, circulating levels were decreased (87). High Mobility Box Group Protein 1 (HMGB1) is another DAMP associated with RA pathogenesis. It is a highly abundant and conserved protein that is normally within the cell nucleus. It becomes a DAMP when a cell

undergoes necrosis and it is released from the cell (88). In the mouse model of RA, CIA, inhibition of HMGB1 ameliorated disease, whereas addition of exogenous HMGB1 led to a worsening of disease (89). In RA, HMGB1 is upregulated in the serum, synovial fluid and synovial tissues, and an inhibitor has been considered as a clinical approach for RA treatment (90). DAMPs are proinflammatory as can activate antigen-presenting cells such as monocytes or macrophages by binding to PRRs such as TLRs.

TLRs have been implicated in RA due to their activation upon sensing DAMPS or PAMPs within the synovial environment (91). Upon ligand binding, the signalling cascade is either MyD88-dependent or MyD88 independent (Figure 1.3). MyD88dependent signalling leads to the activation of NF κ B and the transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF α . MyD88-independent signalling, via TRIF, leads to the activation of NF κ B and the transcription of type I interferons (92). Both MyD88-dependent and MyD88-independent TLR signalling have a role in RA, and FLS express high levels of TLRs triggering the secretion of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines and degradative enzymes such as MMPs. Monocytes and macrophages in RA also express high levels of TLR2 and TLR4, which, when activated lead to the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6 (93).



Figure 1.3 TLR Signalling

TLR4 ligand, such as LPS, binds TLR4 with the co-receptor CD14, and downstream cascades signal either via MyD88; leading to a NFkB activation and transcription of pro-inflammatory cytokines, or via TRIF; leading to the activation of IRF3 and the transcription of Type I interferons.

1.4.4 T cells

There are several flavours of T cells, all with different roles, and RA is associated with a Th1 and Th17 immune response (94) (Section 1.4.5). T cells are classified as either $CD4^+$ or $CD8^+$. $CD4^+$ T cells can then be divided into multiple subgroups depending on their cytokine expression profile. Th1 T cells are differentiated from naïve T cells through IL-12 and IFNy stimulation. Th1 T cells are then identified through the predominance of the transcription factor Tbet, and their production of IFN γ and IL-2. Th2 cells, however, are induced by IL-4 stimulation; they express the transcription factor GATA3 and produce cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 (95,96). A Th1 immune response evokes cell-mediated immunity, whereas a Th2 response induces an antibody-mediated response, and is therefore associated with allergy (97). Th1 and Th2 T cells were the fore-runners the with regard to T cell polarisation but it is now appreciated that there are alternative T cell subsets or polarisation states that differ based on their cytokine expression. These subsets include Th17 cells, which have been classified due to their production of IL-17A, however they also secrete IL-17F and IL-22 (98). They are induced from naïve T cells through stimulation with IL-1 β and IL-23, or TGF β , IL-6 and IL-23 and they predominantly use ROR γ T as their transcription factor. Treg cells are a regulatory T cell, that are induced by TGF β or IL-2. They are identified by expressing FOXP3 transcription factor, and produce TGF β and IL-10 (95,96,98).

1.4.5 T cells in RA

The role of T cells in RA is much more varied and complex than the classical expansion of effector T cell clones upon recognition of presented antigen (99). In RA, there is not a specific auto-antigen to which T cells are targeted, however, some T cells would recognise autoantigen. T cells are a large proportion of the cells infiltrating into the synovium, and they are implicated in RA pathogenesis. From animal models and previous understanding, RA had been traditionally considered a Th1 driven disease. In the CIA mouse model, cytokine profiles were analysed and IFNγ was abundant as opposed to Th2 cytokines (100,101). Inhibition of IL-12 shown using a knockout mouse and inhibiting antibodies to IL-12, led to reduced disease in mice, suggesting a Th1 driven disease (101,102). However, more recent evidence has shown that Th17 cells

have a more of a role in RA pathogenesis. This became apparent when both IL-6 deficient mice and IL-23 deficient mice had attenuated disease in the CIA model. Both IL-6 and IL-23 are required for Th17 development and the numbers of Th17 cells in the IL-23 deficient mice were reduced (3,103,104). This finding has been confirmed through overexpression of IL-17, which exacerbated disease, or inhibiting IL-17, which improved disease (105-107). A high percentage of Th17 cells have been identified in the synovial fluid of RA patients, compared with peripheral blood. IL-17 has also been found in abundance in the synovial fluid of RA patients (108,109). Despite the strong case for targeting IL-17 in RA, anti-IL-17 therapy has not met primary endpoints in efficacy trials (110). However, trials are still continuing and there is hope for efficacy in combination with other therapies (111).

Interestingly, there are other subsets of T cells found within the RA joint, which, under normal conditions are anti-inflammatory. Treg cells have suppressive functions, through suppressing other T cell subsets. They express high levels of the IL-2R, thereby up-taking IL-2 and depriving other T cells. They also express CTLA-4, which inhibits expression of co-stimulatory molecule CD80. They produce the more immunoregulatory cytokines: IL-10 and IL-35 (112). Treg cells (CD4⁺, CD25⁺) are present in the synovium, however they have a decreased ability to control an immune response, as they were unable to regulate pro-inflammatory cytokines released by effector T cells. Interestingly, after anti-TNF α treatment, their function was restored (113).

1.4.6 B cells in RA

B cells are abundantly found in the synovium of rheumatoid arthritis patients. They infiltrate into the synovium and form either diffuse or follicle aggregates (114). They have multiple roles including presenting antigen to T cells and the activation of T cells. The aggregation of B and T cells, in the form of tertiary lymphoid follicles in the synovial membrane, apparent in 60% of RA patients, facilitate their interaction (46,115). B cells also produce pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IFN γ and the chemokine, CXCL13 exacerbating inflammation through the recruitment and stimulation of macrophages and T cells (94,116). The differentiated plasma cells produce autoantibodies such as rheumatoid factor and anti-cilltrullinated protein antibodies (3,117).

There have been studies investigating the role of B cells in RA. μ MT mice, which are B cell deficient, were resistant to the onset of CIA, although T cell reactivity to CII was unaffected between wildtype and μ MT mice (118). This showed that depleting B cells could be effective as a therapy. Rituximab was initially developed for the treatment of lymphoma, through the targeting of CD20, present on neoplastic B cells, but not plasma cells (119). It was developed as an RA therapy due to the role of B cells in RA (120). Rituximab has been successful in some patients but not in others, highlighting the heterogeneity between RA sufferers and the variety of treatments required (121).

1.4.7 Autoantibodies and Immune Complexes

In RA, there is not a single autoantibody, unlike other autoimmune conditions such as Graves' disease in which antibodies are targeted against the Thyroid Stimulating Hormone Receptor (122). However, in RA, several autoantibodies have been identified such as rheumatoid factor and anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPA) (123,124). In the region of 80% of RA patients are rheumatoid factor positive which is an antibody, that is autoreactive against the antigenic Fc region of IgG (114). Approximately 75% of RA patients are ACPA positive. They have more severe disease than ACPA negative patients (125). ACPA are primarily IgG specific to proteins that have been citrullinated such as vimentin, fibrinogen, collagen, fibronectin and α -enolase (94,126,127). Citrullination is an enzymatic process involving the enzyme Peptidylarginine Deiminase (PAD) 2 or 4, which catalyses the conversion arginine to citrulline in a post-translational modification. These citrullinated proteins are targeted by autoantibodies in RA (128). ACPAs are correlated with a more destructive form of RA, as it has been found that ACPAs can bind to osteoclast surfaces and cause osteoclast differentiation leading to bone resorption through the production of IL-8 (125,129). In mouse studies, the addition of ACPA also causes trabecular bone loss (129). ACPAs form immune complexes and bind Fc receptors causing activation of monocytes and macrophages leading to the secretion of cytokines such as TNF α (127). The binding of immune complexes to cells positive for Fc receptors is also thought to induce the complement system, leading to exacerbated RA pathogenesis (130).
1.4.8 Synovial Fluid

The volume of synovial fluid of a normal joint is minimal, and is thought to be for the transport of nutrients to the cartilage and lubrication of the joint (131). In a diseased joint, the amount of synovial fluid is increased, and contains immune cells. The synovial fluid of an RA patient is a complex milieu, containing inflammatory cytokines, cell debris, metabolites and immune complexes.

There have been multiple studies into the contents of synovial fluid and whether there are potential biomarkers present (46,85,132). Studies have investigated the metabolite profile of RA synovial fluid with non-RA synovial fluid from Behçet's disease, ankylosing spondylitis and gout patients. This analysis identified 22 metabolites that were present and higher in synovial fluid of RA patients compared with non-RA patients. These included succinate, asparagine and citrulline. Interestingly, there were also 10 metabolites that were downregulated in RA synovial fluid compared with the non-RA synovial fluid, including glycerol and isopalmitic acid. This suggests that the RA synovial fluid metabolite profile has some homogeneity with the potential for metabolic biomarkers (132).

Proteomic analysis of synovial fluid has also been investigated with biomarkers and a greater understanding of disease pathogenesis as the potential outcome. 135 proteins have been identified as differentially expressed at a greater than 3 fold higher level than OA synovial fluid (133). These include the DAMP S100 proteins, S100A8 and S100A9, which have been identified in multiple studies in RA synovial fluid at higher levels than in OA synovial fluid. Both have been suggested as biomarkers to discriminate between RA and other inflammatory arthritis (84,133). Of the proteins identified, the majority were extracellular matrix or cytoplasmic proteins, however proteins of the plasma membrane and nucleus were also identified. Proteins involved in the glycolytic pathway of metabolism were also up-regulated, linking the metabolite profile, and the potential importance of metabolic changes in a diseased joint (133). Interestingly, the proteomic profile is not constant, and changes from early RA to more established RA, suggesting that synovial fluid protein biomarkers could monitor disease progression (134). PAD enzymes have been identified in RA synovial fluid and are active in 80% of synovial fluids tested (128). The presence of active PAD enzymes in synovial fluid of RA patients suggests that citrullinated proteins would also be present in synovial fluid. Citrullinated fibronectin has been observed in RA synovial fluid, at higher levels than in OA patients. However, the level of citrullinated fibronectin was not correlated with the level of ACPA in synovial fluid (135).

The cytokines in synovial fluid are related to ACPA status, as ACPA positive patients have more T cell derived pro-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-1 β and IL-17F, in comparison to ACPA negative patients (136). There are numerous cytokines and chemokines that have been observed in RA synovial fluid, including IFN α , TNF α , IL-1R α , IL-1 β , IL-10, IL-6, CCL17, CXCL8 and CCL5. These have all been found at higher levels than in OA synovial fluid, and some such as TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β have been found to drive RA pathogenesis. Others such as IL-10 and IL-1R α are thought to be involved in regulation of disease, whereas the role of the chemokine CCL17, is not as well defined in RA (137-142).

1.5 Cytokine Pathways in RA

Cytokines affect the majority of biological processes including disease pathogenesis, antigen response, specific cognitive changes, embryonic development and ageing (143). In relation to RA, there are cytokines that can be classed as pro- or anti- inflammatory. Cytokines play a major part in the pathogenesis of RA, and have been implicated in multiple aspects of disease processes (144). At each stage of disease from the onset to the resolution of disease, cytokines are involved (3). Cytokines have effects on specific target cells that can promote further immune responses through cell activation, cell localisation and cell longevity in the synovial environment (144). In RA, the proinflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-1, IL-6 and GM-CSF have been found in abundance in the joint at all stages of disease. However, anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF β have also been found at high levels in the RA joint perhaps suggesting other roles for these cytokines (3,94,123,144).

1.5.1 TNF α

Tumour Necrosis Factor-alpha (TNF α) is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that plays a major role in inflammatory disease, particularly in the pathogenesis of RA. TNF α is produced by a variety of cell types, but primarily by monocytes and macrophages. The secretion of $TNF\alpha$ is a major cause of synovitis in RA, through further induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as GM-CSF, IL-1, IL-6 and IL-8 by cells such as fibroblast-like synovial cells or monocytes and macrophages (145) (146). Stimulation of synoviocytes with TNF α leads to an increase in production of IL-6, IL-1 and TNF α , through an autocrine loop (147). The effect of TNF α on fibroblast-like synovial cells leads to the prolonged inflammation in the joint. TNF α has been implicated in cartilage degradation as stimulating chondrocytes with TNF α in *ex vivo* experiments using bovine and porcine cartilage discs, caused cartilage resorption and prevented further synthesis of proteoglycan (148,149). In TNF-receptor 1 deficient mice, incidence of disease was lower than wildtype controls, however the affected joints progressed to the same degree as the wildtype mice, suggesting potentially that it is primarily the onset of disease that is TNF α dependent (150). Due to the involvement in RA pathogenesis, TNF α was investigated as a potential therapeutic target, and is now used as a successful cytokine therapy (Section 1.8.1).

1.5.2 IL-1

IL-1 is subdivided into IL-1 α and IL-1 β , both of which are expressed in the RA synovial tissue, with IL-1 β expressed, both at the mRNA and protein level, at much higher levels than IL-1 α (151). IL-1 is produced by monocytes and macrophages and has wide ranging effects on synoviocytes, chondrocytes, B and T cells through binding to type I IL-1 receptors (152). IL-1 β has also been found in the serum of RA patients, with levels correlated to disease activity. Interestingly, in mouse models of RA using IL-1 deficient mice, there was no change in paw swelling or disease incidence. Cartilage erosion was however greatly reduced, leading to an implication of IL-1 in the cartilage resorption and bone erosion phenotype of RA through the activation of osteoclasts and matrix-enzyme production by chondrocytes (3,150,152). IL-1 was subsequently

investigated as a potential therapeutic, however, it had limited success as a cytokine therapy in RA (Section 1.9.1)

1.5.3 IL-6

IL-6 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine that has its effects on multiple cell types. This is in part due to having both membrane bound and soluble receptors (sIL-6R), thereby increasing the number of responsive cells (153). IL-6 can induce the development of osteoclasts and in conjunction with other cytokines such as TNF α can result in bone erosion (154,155). IL-6 also stimulates neutrophil migration, and the differentiation of B cells into plasma cells. This is important as IgG, IgA or IgM rheumatoid factors as well as anti-citrullinated protein antibodies are increased in RA patients and therefore the increase in IL-6 in RA patients would lead to increased B cell activity further influencing synovial inflammation (153). Mice treated with a monoclonal antibody to IL-6 during the CIA model, showed reduced disease scores compared with a control treatment. Also, IL-6 knockout mice had significantly lower disease incidence than wildtype controls (103). In patients, IL-6 and sIL-6R are upregulated in RA synovial fluid in comparison to OA (156,157). The level of IL-6 in the synovial fluid correlates with CRP, a measure of inflammation and therefore disease suggesting an important role for IL-6 in RA pathogenesis (157). The IL-6 signalling pathway has therefore been targeted, with antibodies generated against the IL-6R for RA therapy (Section 1.8.2).

There are other cytokines that are important in RA pathogenesis. This includes GM-CSF, which will be discussed in Section 1.10.

1.6 Chemokines in RA

1.6.1 Chemokine structure and function

Chemokines, or chemotactic cytokines, are small proteins that direct the migration of leukocytes (158). There are four conserved cysteines with intramolecular disulphide bonds, which dictate the tertiary structure of the chemokine. The nomenclature of chemokines is determined by the position of the first two cysteines. The cysteines of CC chemokines are adjacent, whereas in CXC chemokines, the cysteines are separated by one amino acid. (159).

Chemokines have multiple functions but their main role is to direct leukocyte migration in homeostasis and inflammation as well as to stimulate cells to

release further pro-inflammatory mediators such as cytokines (160).

To fulfil their function, chemokines bind specific chemokine receptors, which are G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs), and cause rapid structural change within the cell through the conformational change of actin and activation of integrins (159). The length of the N-terminal domain determines ligand specificity as truncation of this domain can change receptor specificity, which is the case for CXCL7 and CCL2 (161). Chemokine receptors are classified according to the chemokine ligands in which they bind (162,163). However, not all receptors bind chemokines within their own class, as there are chemokine receptors that bind multiple chemokines (Table 1.2). There are 10 CC chemokine receptors and 6 CXC chemokine receptors to bind multiple chemokines allows the system to have a redundancy mechanism (165).

Multiple chemokines are involved in the immune response, however there are some that are considered to have important roles in RA pathogenesis. CXCL8, CXCL10 and CCL2 are chemokines that are secreted by innate immune cells such as monocytes and macrophages (158). CCL17 currently is not associated specifically with RA pathogenesis, however this thesis aims to investigate a potential role for this chemokine in disease.

| Chemokine Receptor | Ligands |
|-------------------------|------------------------------------------------------------|
| CC Receptors | |
| CCR1 | CCL3, CCL3L1, CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL14, CCL15, CCL16, CCL23 |
| CCR2 | CCL2, CCL7, CCL8, CCL13, CCL16 |
| CCR3 | CCL5, CCL7, CCL8, CCL11, CCL13, CCL15, CCL24, CCL26, CCL28 |
| CCR4 | CCL17, CCL22 |
| CCR5 | CCL3, CCL3L1, CCL4, CCL4L1, CCL5, CCL8 |
| CCR6 | CCL20 |
| CCR7 | CCL19, CCL21 |
| CCR8 | CCL1 |
| CCR9 | CCL25 |
| CCR10 | CCL27, CCL28 |
| CXC Receptors | |
| CXCR1 | CXCL6, CXCL8 |
| CXCR2 | CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL3, CXCL5, CXCL6, CXCL7, CXCL8 |
| CXCR3 | CXCL9, CXCL10, CXCL11 |
| | |
| | |
| CACRO | CACE 16 |
| CX3C Receptor CX3CR1 | CX3CL1 |
| | |
| XC Receptor | |
| XCR1 | XCL1 |
| | |

1.6.2 CXCL8 (IL-8)

High levels of CXCL8 have been found in multiple areas of RA synovial tissue, including the synovial fluid and synovial membrane (166). Interestingly, the presence of CXCL8 in RA is not just confined to the inflamed joint, but systemically, as serum levels have been found at elevated levels. The level of CXCL8 in the sera correlated with the levels of CXCL8 in the synovial fluid suggesting a strong inflammatory response (166,167). The role of CXCL8 in RA is not well defined; however, there is evidence to suggest CXCL8 is involved in the recruitment of neutrophils to the inflamed joint and angiogenesis (160,167-169). The use of an anti-IL-8 antibody in the LPS induced arthritis model in rabbits, showed a reduction in neutrophil infiltration thereby leading to reduced inflammation in the synovial membrane. However, this was only at the early

stage of inflammation, as in a later phase, there was mononuclear cell infiltration and inflammation of the tissue, due to other chemokines such as CCL2 (170). Therapies targeting CXCL8 with an anti-CXCL8 antibody have not been published but there was no clinical improvement in RA patients and there was a rise in total CXCL8 levels in circulation (160).

1.6.3 CXCL10

CXCL10, also known as IP-10, is induced by stimulation of monocytes with IFN γ and binds CXCR3 (Table 1.2) leading to the migration of activated T cells. Neutralisation of CXCL10 leads to an inability of effector T cells to be recruited, which was shown in a model of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (EAE) (171,172). CXCL10 is upregulated in the synovial fluid of RA patients compared to OA patient synovial fluid. In rheumatoid factor positive patients, serum levels of CXCL10 are also elevated (166). Macrophages and fibroblasts of the RA synovial tissue express high levels of CXCL10 (173). There is also evidence to suggest that CXCL10 induces osteoclastogenesis through the positive feedback loop with RANKL. RANKL induces CXCL10 in osteoclast precursors, which thereby upregulates RANKL expression in T cells in the synovium (174). A neutralising CXCL10 antibody has been used in the mouse model of CIA, which led to significantly inhibited infiltration of CD4+ T cells and macrophages into the synovium of the joint. Furthermore this led to decreased levels of RANKL and therefore attenuated bone erosion (174,175). Current studies, therefore, suggest that CXCL10 is important in rheumatoid arthritis pathogenesis, and the crosstalk between CXCL10 and RANKL drives the infiltration of inflammatory cells into the synovium and subsequent bone erosion (174).

1.6.4 CCL2

CCL2, also known as MCP1, is a chemokine that binds CCR2 and directs migration of monocytes. CCL2 is expressed by multiple immune cells and therefore plays an important role in the inflammatory response. In rheumatoid arthritis, CCL2 and CCR2 are highly expressed in the synovial tissue (176). In a mouse model of CIA, using an anti-CCL2 monoclonal antibody during the initiation of CIA showed significantly lower disease scores, and significantly lower histological scores at multiple sites within the joint. Interestingly, when the anti-CCL2 antibody was used as a therapeutic, during the progression of the disease, there was exacerbation of disease, with mice showing an increase in clinical and histological scores (177). This suggests that the infiltration of leukocytes into the joint is not specifically reliant on CCL2. Furthermore, a human clinical trial evaluating the blockade of CCR2, revealed that blockade had no positive effects and also led an increase in the circulation of bioactive CCL2: somewhat similar to the effect of blocking CXCL8 (160,178).

1.6.5 CCL17 and CCR4

CCL17 also known as Thymus and Activation-Regulated Chemokine (TARC) is found in abundance in the thymus and is released by CD1c⁺ dendritic cells upon stimulation with primarily thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP). TSLP is induced by multiple cytokines such as TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-4 in multiple cell types and is thought to play a role in RA. Mouse models of RA in TSLPR null mice have shown a decrease of severity and less incidence of disease in comparison to wild type mice suggesting a role for TSLP signalling in RA (179,180). After TSLP induces CCL17, it binds CCR4, and causes migration of CCR4 positive T cells.

CCR4 is the receptor not only for CCL17 but also for CCL22. CCL22 is more potent at inducing CCR4 internalisation than CCL17 and has also been implicated in disease (181). Internalisation of the chemokine receptor is important for receptor desensitisation and the ability of cells to continuous changes in chemotactic gradients (181). CCR4 is primarily, but not exclusively, found on Th2 cells, and therefore there are several studies implicating CCL17 and CCL22 in Th2 driven disease (180). Atopic dermatitis is an example of a Th2 specific disease and high levels of CCL17 have been found in the inflamed skin. In a mouse model, treatment with a steroid ointment led to a very large decrease in CCL17 expression and reduction in disease severity. This involvement of CCL17 in atopic dermatitis has led to its use as a biomarker (182).

CCR4 is also expressed on Th17 cells (Section 1.4.4), which have been implicated in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis as well as RA. Th17 cells have been found in abundance in the joints of RA patients, and positively correlated with disease progression. Synovial Th17 cells express CCR4, suggesting a role for CCR4 and its ligands in RA (183). Interestingly, Treg cells also express CCR4, suggesting a more regulatory role for CCR4, CCL17 and CCL22. CCR4⁺ Treg cells have been shown to migrate towards the chemokine ligand CCL22 in lymphoid infiltrates surrounding breast cancer tumours (184). Tregs also migrate to inflamed lungs in allergic inflammation, attenuating inflammation (185).

The role of CCL17 in RA is not as well understood. However, CCR4, the chemokine receptor for CCL17 has been studied. In the mouse model of CIA, CCR4 null mice had significantly reduced incidence of arthritis and significantly lower disease scores than the wildtype control(186). This suggests that there is a role for CCR4 positive cells in RA. There is limited data linking CCR4 to human disease, and there is no correlation linking CCR4 positive CD4 T cells with disease activity. However, CCR4 is expressed on PBMCs at significantly higher levels in RA patients than in healthy controls. As CCL17 is one of the 2 ligands for CCR4, potentially CCL17 is also involved in RA pathogenesis. CCL17 has been investigated in the RA patient sera, however there was no significant difference compared with controls (187). However, in RA synovial fluid, CCL17 is much more highly expressed than in OA synovial fluid (137).

1.7 Treatment of RA

The aim of therapy in RA is to maximise quality of life through the control of RA symptoms and prevention or joint erosion. The most effective way of enabling this control of symptoms is to dampen the inflammation in order to reach clinical remission whereby there is an absence of disease activity signs and symptoms (188). To measure the effectiveness of therapies, disease activity scores such as DAS28 and DAS40 as well as CDAI and SDAI are used as measures of clinical remission (189).

1.7.1 DMARDs

Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARDS) such as sulfasalazine, hydroxychloroquine and azathioprine are the first method of treatment for RA, with Methotrexate (MTX) the most commonly used in the first instance (190). The mode of action of methotrexate in RA is still not completely understood, however there are multiple areas in which it could be having its effects. MTX was initially used as a specific antagonist to folic acid to have anti-proliferative effects on malignant cells by inhibiting synthesis of purines and pyrimidines. Low dose MTX was initially used as a treatment for RA as it was assumed the antiproliferative properties it possessed, would be beneficial to inhibit the proliferation of lymphocytes (191). This led to an improvement in disease and with the addition of folic acid to treatment, this prevented some of the toxicity associated with MTX (191). However, after multiple trials, it was determined that to dampen inflammation, MTX, had to have more wide-ranging effects than just an anti-proliferative effect on leukocytes (192). MTX has inhibitory effects on neutrophils as well as monocytes and macrophages, all of which impact upon synovial inflammation. At a biochemical level, MTX causes an overproduction of adenosine which prevents production of multiple inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , IL-8, IL-12 and IFN γ from lymphocytes (192). These are just a few of multiple effects that have been discovered, and explain some of the mechanisms of MTX action in RA treatment. However, approximately only a third of patients respond well enough to MTX, and if there is not a great enough effect, biologic therapies are the next method of treatment (193,194). Interestingly, MTX has been described as the 'anchor drug' as the majority of clinical trials for new therapies, compare responses to MTX (193,195).

1.7.2 Therapeutics

Development of targeted biologic therapies were the next major advance in RA therapy as these drugs specifically target molecules responsible for disease pathogenesis (196). There are now multiple cytokine therapies that have been developed both with and without success, for example $TNF\alpha$ inhibitors such as etanercept, the IL-1 inhibitor anakinra, anti-IL-17 inhibitors such as Secukinumab and the anti-IL-6R Tocilizumab. There are other therapies such as abatacept which is an immunomodulatory drug that inhibits T cell activation through the CD80/86-CD28 costimulatory signal (196,197). There has also been specific cell targeted therapy such as rituximab, which is a monoclonal antibody that binds to CD20, on B cells, and leads to B cell depletion (196). Small molecule inhibitors have also been developed, targeting signalling pathways that are important in the pathogenesis of RA such as Tofacitinib which inhibits JAK1 and JAK3, thereby preventing STAT1 activation, and preventing secretion of cytokines such as IL-6 and IFN_Y in naïve CD4⁺ T cells (198).

1.8 Successful cytokine therapies

There has been varying success with the cytokine therapies that have been developed. TNF α inhibition was the first cytokine therapy to be developed and has been very successful; showing that targeting the cytokine network and disrupting the inflammatory communication mechanism can have a positive impact on disease outcomes (199).

1.8.1 TNF α Inhibition

TNF α was initially determined as a good cytokine to target in RA as: several other pro-inflammatory cytokines depend on TNF α ; both TNF α and the TNF-R are upregulated in diseased synovium; and an anti-TNF α antibody prevented joint destruction and decreased disease severity in the mouse model CIA (200). In the CIA model of RA, addition of an anti-TNF α antibody for a week preceding the induction of disease, and during the course of disease showed that the clinical score was significantly lower in the anti-TNF α treated animals in comparison to PBS treated controls. The histopathological analysis also showed less severe arthritis (201). In a CIA model using an anti-TNF α antibody as a therapeutic, 2-3 weeks after induction of disease, there was less TNF in the joint of immunised mice and significantly reduced footpad swelling at 1 and 3 months post induction of disease (202). A neutralising, chimeric anti-TNF α monoclonal antibody was first tested in man in 1993 and showed that the antibody was safe and positive for efficacy, with a 97% improvement of morning stiffness (203). In further clinical trials, it was established that inhibition of TNF α was effective in treating patients who were not responders to MTX (204). The mechanism of action of anti-TNF α therapy is due to the downregulation of cytokine cascade as cytokines such as IL-6, IL-1 and GM-CSF are downstream of TNF α stimulation. Also, the migration of leukocytes into the joint is decreased due to the downregulation of endothelial adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1, E-selectin and VCAM-1. Anti-TNF α also reduces angiogenesis via downregulation of VEGF (200,205). The success of TNF α inhibition has led to the development of multiple therapeutics targeting TNF α including etanercept, infliximab and adalimumab (206). These biologics all target TNF α , however, infliximab and adalimumab are

both antibodies against TNF α , whereas etanercept is a construct involving two p75 TNF α receptors coupled to the Fc portion of human IgG (207).

1.8.2 IL-6R blockade

After the success of inhibiting TNF α , blockade of IL-6 was investigated due to its role in RA pathogenesis (see 1.8.2). Initially, in the CIA mouse model, a monoclonal antibody to the IL-6R was administered at the initiation of disease and led to significantly decreased disease scores over the course of the disease period. Interestingly, in this model when the anti-IL6R antibody was tested at multiple different days after induction of disease, only when administered at day 0 or day 3 showed a reduction in disease (208,209). After the success of inhibition of IL-6R in mouse, this was translated into the clinic. Tocilizumab is a humanised monoclonal antibody that binds to both IL-6R and sIL-6R, and was developed for treatment of RA. In clinical trials, inhibition of the proinflammatory effects by IL-6 through blockade of both soluble and membrane bound IL-6R by Tocilizumab showed significant improvements in disease with significantly more patients attaining ACR20, ACR50 and ACR70 than the placebo control (210). This has led to more treatment options, due to the numbers of patients that are non-responders or intolerant to DMARDS and anti-TNF α therapy (211).

1.9 Unsuccessful cytokine therapies

1.9.1 IL-1 inhibition

IL-1RA is produced by synovial tissue and it localised primarily to the perivascular macrophages at both an mRNA and protein level. It binds to IL-1 and acts as a competitive inhibitor of IL-1 to its membrane bound receptor (212,213). As the addition of IL-1 β directly induces arthritis when injected into joints, and blockade of IL-1 in CIA led to decreased bone resorption and degradation, IL-1 became a cytokine to target for the treatment of RA (213,214). Due to IL-1RA already endogenously inhibiting IL-1, recombinant IL-1RA (Anakinra) was investigated as a therapy in RA patients (215). In safety and efficacy trials, Anakinra caused 41% less radiologic joint damage compared with placebo receiving patients (213). However, a subsequent trail in patients who

were unresponsive to TNF α inhibition was unsuccessful, as after 3 months of therapy, only 8% of patients received an ACR20 response with none receiving an ACR50 or ACR70 response. There was also an increase in the mean level of Creactive protein and tender swollen joints showing that patients unable to respond to TNF α treatment, will also not respond to IL-1 blockade (216). Despite Anakinra not showing success in RA, it is a successful treatment for autoinflammatory conditions such as Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis, gout, Cryopyrin Associated Periodic Syndromes and Adult Onset Still's Disease (2,215,217,218).

1.9.2 Unmet Need

Despite the new cytokine therapies that have revolutionised RA treatment strategies, there are still a number of patients who do not respond to TNF α inhibition or IL-6R blockade. Only 60-70% of patients respond to TNF blockade regardless of DMARD status (219). Therefore, there are still a large percentage of patients who have no further treatment options and are living with a debilitating disease. It is for this reason, that there is still ongoing research into other biologics including other cytokine therapies. This project aims to look at the role of GM-CSF in RA with regards to Mavrilimumab, an anti-GM-CSFR α antibody that has been developed as a therapeutic for the treatment of RA.

1.10 GM-CSF

GM-CSF has traditionally been considered a growth factor important in the maintenance and differentiation of bone marrow derived monocytes. However, GM-CSF has since been shown to have multiple functions in the regulation and activation of granulocytes and macrophages during inflammatory insults, differentiation and proliferation (220,221). GM-CSF is therefore considered a pro-inflammatory cytokine due to the effects it has on cell activation.

1.10.1 Biology

GM-CSF is a cytokine that is secreted from multiple cell types including fibroblasts, T cells, B cells, endothelial cells, epithelial cells and macrophages (222). Stimulation from sources such as LPS or TNF α can lead to the secretion of GM-CSF from these cells (223). The GM-CSF receptor is heteromeric and formed of an alpha and beta chain. Myeloid cells and non-haematopoietic cells such as alveolar epithelial cells and endothelial cells express the GM-CSFR, but it is not expressed on T cells (222-224). The β chain of the GM-CSFR constitutively associates with JAK2, however, both cytoplasmic domains are crucial for receptor activation (222,225). The binding of GM-CSF initiates JAK2 autophosphorylation and activation of STAT5, MAPK or PI3K signalling pathways (Figure 1.4). JAK2 has potent signalling effects and therefore suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS) inhibits JAK2 by targeting it for degradation (221).

GM-CSF has a range of functions on mature cells including polarisation of macrophages to what is considered an M1, pro-inflammatory phenotype, stimulating them to produce cytokines such as TNF α and IL-6 (226). GM-CSF primes neutrophils to become more phagocytic and upregulates the integrin CD11b causing more adhesion to the vascular endothelium and entry into the tissue (227). Mature dendritic cell cross-presentation is increased by GM-CSF stimulation and it can influence differentiation of monocytes (228). Elevated levels of GM-CSF have been associated with inflammatory conditions including RA (229).



Figure 1.4 GM-CSFR signalling

The α and β chains of the GM-CSFR form a dodecamer with multiple GM-CSF binding sites. JAK2, which is constitutively associated with the β chain becomes activated upon GM-CSF signalling. The signalling cascades are via STAT5, MAPK or PI3K. SOCS is an inhibitor of JAK2.

1.10.2 Clinical Relevance

GM-CSF is considered to play a role in multiple inflammatory conditions. In RA there have been many studies to elucidate how GM-CSF exacerbates inflammation. It was initially thought that as GM-CSF causes the secretion of many pro-inflammatory cytokines, GM-CSF depletion could ameliorate disease by reducing TNF α and IL-1 (220,230). Interestingly, in GM-CSF null mice, there was no defect in myeloid cell development, however, in the lungs of these mice there was defective alveolar macrophage maturation and an accumulation of surfactant (231). The effect of the loss of GM-CSF in mice was studied in mouse models of RA, including the CIA model and mBSA/IL-1 experimental arthritis model. In both of these models of arthritis, the GM-CSF null mice had reduced disease scores, reduced incidence and improved histological scores (232,233). This was confirmed with both prophylactic and therapeutic treatment with an anti-GM-CSF antibody in the acute streptococcal wall arthritis model, where disease was significantly improved after antibody treatment (234,235). The opposite effect occurred when GM-CSF was overexpressed in the CIA model of arthritis. Recombinant GM-CSF treatment of mice led to significantly worse disease and histological scores in comparison to the vehicle controls (236). This mouse data both using a GM-CSF knockout and therapeutic treating with an anti-GM-CSF antibody confirmed that GM-CSF has a pathogenic role in murine models of RA. These studies led to further investigation and the initiation of targeting GM-CSF with monoclonal antibodies in human disease.

1.10.3 Targeting GM-CSF

GM-CSF and its receptors are found in abundance in the synovial membrane and synovial tissue of patients with RA in comparison to healthy controls and OA patients (237). Co-localisation of the GM-CSFR α with CD68 and CD163 was also observed suggesting expression of the GM-CSFR α on monocytes and macrophages (238). Translating the data observed in mice, into human began with *in vitro* studies, demonstrating that PBMCs stimulated with GM-CSF could produce TNF α in a dose dependent manner (239). Inhibition of GM-CSF signalling was possible via blockade of GM-CSF itself through neutralising antibodies or specific binding of antibodies to the receptor. This has led to two therapeutics, Mavrilimumab and MOR103 that are currently being tested in clinical trials (229). Mavrilimumab (CAM3001) is a fully human monoclonal antibody, which targets the α chain of the GM-CSFR. In an initial mouse model, Mavrilimumab showed a dose dependent reduction in clinical score in already established CIA (238). Acceptable safety profiles were observed in cynomolgus monkeys, and the phase I clinical trial using a single, escalating intravenous dose of Mavrilimumab in patients with RA demonstrated an appropriate safety profile (240,241). Phase IIa clinical trials showed improved signs and symptoms of RA patients on methotrexate treatment but with active disease. This was demonstrated as the DAS28-CRP was improved at the highest doses of 50 and 100mg at week 2, which continued throughout the 12 week treatment. The phase IIb clinical trial was also successful with all the primary endpoints achieved. The AR50, ACR70 and DAS28 remission score was also significant at the highest dose of 150mg in comparison to the placebo (242).

MOR103 is a fully human, high affinity monoclonal antibody targeted to GM-CSF, which was initially developed for the treatment of multiple sclerosis (MS). This has now reached phase IIb trials for the treatment of MS, however for the treatment of RA, the phase Ib and phase IIa trials examined safety in a dose escalation study. Preliminary evidence suggested that MOR103 was efficacious with improvements in DAS28 scores at both 1.0 and 1.5mg/kg groups (229,243).

The results of targeting both GM-CSF and its receptor in clinical trials are positive. Inhibiting GM-CSF signalling prevents pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion, which attenuates pathogenesis (229). However, the downstream effects of GM-CSF blockade are still unknown.

1.11 Hypothesis and Aims

The effect of GM-CSF on cells of the myeloid compartment in rheumatoid arthritis is not well understood, therefore the aim of this project has been to unravel the impact of GM-CSF on myeloid cells in the synovial environment. We hypothesised that GM-CSF up-regulates chemokines in monocytes and that the synovial environment impacts myeloid cell phenotypes leading to an increase in inflammatory mediators. GM-CSF exacerbates the mouse model of RA, CIA, through the induction of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF α and IL-1 β (234). Mavrilimumab has also shown success in clinical trials through the inhibition of GM-CSF (244). However, the mechanisms of GM-CSF on RA pathogenesis have not been investigated in a human system. The purpose of this project is to create an *in vitro* system to mimic disease, to further analyse myeloid cells, specifically monocytes and macrophages. The secretion of chemokines from monocytes will then be examined after GM-CSF stimulation, in synovial stimuli. Also the effect of the synovial environment on macrophage phenotypes will be assessed to determine whether the macrophage changes its phenotype when polarised with disease stimuli and whether Mavrilimumab treatment alters this.

We hypothesise that GM-CSF will be involved mechanistically in leading to an inflammatory monocyte in the synovial environment. Also, that the synovial environment will exacerbate the secretion of inflammatory mediators from monocytes. The monocyte-derived cells or macrophages derived with synovial fluid, we hypothesise to have a distinct inflammatory phenotype that respond to Mavrilimumab treatment. The following aims will specifically be addressed:

- How do monocytes respond to GM-CSF stimulation and does the synovial environment impact this?
- How is the secretion of CCL17 regulated in monocytes in an inflammatory environment?
- Can synovial fluid be used to create a disease-like macrophage that can be used as a robust tool for analysing phenotypic changes in response to therapeutics?

Chapter 2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Patients and Controls

All samples were obtained from buffy coats, healthy volunteers or RA patients. The RA patients were identified from Rheumatology clinics in Glasgow Royal Infirmary and fulfilled the 2010 ACR/EULAR criteria for RA. For the peripheral blood samples, patients were not taking biologic therapies and they had active disease. Samples were obtained after written consent, with ethical approval granted by the West of Scotland Research Ethics Committee.

2.2 Primary Human Cell Culture

2.2.1 Isolation of PBMCs from buffy coats and peripheral blood

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were separated from human buffy coats (Scottish National Blood Transfusion Service) by density gradient centrifugation. Buffy coats were diluted in dPBS (Gibco) at a 1:1 ratio whereas peripheral blood was not diluted. 5-8ml was layered onto 3ml Histopaque-1077 (Sigma-Aldrich) in 15ml centrifuge tubes. This was centrifuged at 400g for 30 minutes, at room temperature with no brake. The PBMC layer was removed, transferred into a 50ml falcon tube and washed twice in sterile dPBS (Gibco), centrifuging between washes (300g, 1x 10 minutes, 1 x 5 minutes). Cells were then resuspended in 10ml cell separation media (Appendix). In order to count viable cells, 50µl cell suspension was added to 200µl dPBS. This was further combined at a 1:1 ratio with trypan blue (Sigma) for dead cell exclusion, counted using a haemocytometer and visualised using a light microscope. The value obtained from one main square was equal to the number of cells x 10⁶ in 10ml. After a further centrifuge at 300g for 5 minutes, cells were resuspended at 5×10^7 per ml in cell separation media (Appendix) and added to a capped 6ml polystyrene tube (BD falcon).

2.2.2 Purification of T cells from PBMCs

 $CD4^{+}$ T cells were separated using the EasySep $CD4^{+}$ enrichment kit (Stem Cell Technologies), to negatively select for CD4 cells. Initially, the antibody cocktail was added to the PBMCs at a concentration of 50μ l/ml for 10 minutes at room

temperature. The magnetic beads were added at a concentration of 100µl/ml for 5 minutes at room temperature. The volume was made up to 2.5ml before placing in a purple magnet (Stem Cell Technologies) for 5 minutes. The required CD4⁺ cells were negatively selected by inverting the magnet, with the tube inside. These cells were counted (2.2.1), divided into 3 equal samples and centrifuged. Of these CD4⁺ samples, 2 were further processed to generate CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁺populations. These separations were also using negative selection kit, therefore to separate CD45RA⁺ cells, a CD45RO Tetrameric Antibody Complex (TAC) depletion kit (Stem Cell Technologies) was used. Cells, at 5 x 10^7 /ml, were incubated with the antibody, at a concentration of 20μ l/ml for 15 minutes. 100μ l/ml of Anti-biotin TAC was added for 10 minutes, prior to 5 minutes with 50µl/ml magnetic beads, and 5 minutes in the magnet before inverting the magnet and isolating the $CD45RA^+$ cells. For the CD45RO selection, a CD45RA TAC depletion kit (Stem Cell Technologies) was used. The CD45RA TAC was added to the cells for 15 minutes, prior to the addition of 50µl/ml magnetic beads for 5 minutes. The tube was placed in the magnet for 5 minutes, inverted and the CD45RO cells collected.

2.2.3 T cell stimulation

The CD4⁺, CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁺ T cells were cultured at 1 x 10⁵ cells per well in T cell media (see appendix) in 96 well plates with or without 5 x 10⁴ α CD2/CD3/CD28 beads (Miltenyi Biotech) per well and human recombinant CCL17 (Peprotech) at 100ng/ml or 500ng/ml. Cells were cultured for 24 or 48 hours, where supernatants were collected and analysed for GM-CSF secretion by ELISA (2.7.2)

2.2.4 Purification of Monocytes from PBMCs

Monocytes were separated using the EasySep Human monocyte enrichment kit (Stem Cell Technologies), to negatively select for CD14⁺ cells without depleting CD16⁺ cells, as per manufacturer's instructions. Firstly, the antibody cocktail was added to PBMCs (Section 2.2.1) at a concentration of 50μ l/ml, incubating on ice for 10 minutes. The addition of the magnetic beads at a concentration of 50μ l/ml followed this for 5 minutes on ice. The tube was then made up to 2.5ml with cell separation media and the cap removed before adding to a purple

EasySep magnet (Stem Cell Technologies). After 2.5 minutes incubation, the magnet, with the tube inside, was inverted, and these negatively selected cells collected. The cells remaining in the tube were resuspended in a further 2.5ml cell separation media, and placed back in the magnet a further 2 times for maximum return. Enriched cells were counted as specified in 2.2.1, washed, centrifuged (300g, 5 minutes) and resuspended in complete RPMI media (see appendix) at the desired concentration for each experiment.

2.2.5 Macrophage differentiation

Recombinant human M-CSF (Peprotech) was added at 100ng/ml and 1ml of cells at 1×10^6 /ml were seeded in 24 well plates (Corning, Sigma Aldrich) and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 7 days. Cells were washed twice with warm sterile dPBS, and the complete media replaced with 300µl media with 100ng/ml M-CSF for M0 phenotype, 20ng/ml IFNγ (Sigma-Aldrich) for M1 phenotype, 100ng/ml IL-4 (R&D systems) for M2 phenotype, and 100ng/ml GM-CSF (R&D systems) for M-GM phenotype.

2.2.6 Monocyte stimulation

Monocytes and macrophages were stimulated with 2.5%, 5% or 10% synovial fluid in complete media (detailed in figures) from Rheumatoid Arthritis, Osteoarthritis or Psoriatic Arthritis patients for 24 hours at 37°C. LPS (Invivogen) was used at 15.63ng/ml or 10ng/ml (detailed in figures). CAM3001 (Mavrilimumab) and CAT004 (Isotype) were used from a top concentration of 10µg/ml in monocyte stimulations. Tofactitinib (LC Labs), using DMSO as the vehicle, was used at a top concentration of 1000nM in 0.001% DMSO. All pre-treatments were for 30 minutes prior to initiation of the assay.

2.2.7 Monocyte genetic manipulation

NTER transfection reagent (Sigma Aldrich) was used according to manufacturer's instructions. In brief, control siRNA (Dharmafect) and SOCS3 siRNA (Dharmafect) were pre-incubated with the NTER peptide at a concentration of 50nM for 15 minutes at 37° C. 1×10^{5} monocytes were cultured in RPMI with 10% human serum in 300μ l in a 24 well plate. The siRNA-NTER peptide complex was added dropwise into each well and cultured for 6 or 24 hours (detailed in figures) prior to a

media change and further stimulation for 24 hours. Transfection efficiency was confirmed by FACS (Section 2.9) using labelled, control siRNA. Knockdown was confirmed by qPCR (Section 2.6.3) using Taqman primers for SOCS3 (Life Technologies, Hs02330328_s1), and beta-actin as the housekeeping control (Life Technologies, Hs01060665_g1).

2.3 Immune Complexes

2.3.1 Small Immune Complex Formation

Using the previously established method (245), Staphylococcal Protein A (SpA) immunoglobulin complexes were formed using human IgG and SpA. 25µg/ml human IgG (Jackson Immunochemicals) was centrifuged at 8000g to remove large IgG complexes, and incubated with 1.56µg/ml SpA (Repligen) (1:4 molecular weight ratio) for 1 hour at 37°C. This allowed the formation of complexes with 4 IgG molecules and 2 SpA molecules. After the formation of the complexes, dPBS was added to dilute the complexes, for a final 1 in 20 dilution for use in assays. Equivalent amounts of Human IgG, and SpA were used alone as controls for SIC.

2.3.2 Depletion of Immune Complexes from Synovial Fluid

Protein A (Life Technologies), Protein G (Life Technologies) or Protein A/G/L (Biovision, Cambridge Biosciences) magnetic beads were placed in an eppendorf, washed with the appropriate buffer, according to manufacturer's instructions, and placed on a magnet. The supernatant was removed, and 2 further washes with dPBS were performed, with vortexing in between. 500μ l synovial fluid was added directly to the beads at the recommended concentration (supplier dependent), and incubated at room temperature with end over end mixing for 1 hour. The eppendorfs were placed back on the magnet, and the depleted synovial fluid removed. This synovial fluid was placed back onto a magnet to ensure all magnetic beads had been removed. The depleted synovial fluid was then used to stimulate monocytes.

2.4 Fluorescent labelling

2.4.1 Pacific blue labelling of antibody

Using the pacific blue monoclonal antibody labelling kit (Life Technologies), CAT004 (MedImmune) was fluorescently labelled. The conjugation reaction was performed by adding 10 μ l 1M sodium bicarbonate buffer to 1mg/ml antibody (diluted in PBS). 100 μ l of the protein solution was added to the vial of reactive dye and inverted several times to fully dissolve the dye. This was incubated at RT for 1 hour with inversions every 15 minutes. To prepare the spin column, the resin was added to the top of the column allowed to settle and then centrifuged for 3 minutes at 1100g. 100 μ l of the reaction volume was added drop-wise to the centre of the spin column and allowed to absorb into the gel bed. This was centrifuged at 5 minutes at 1100g and the labelled protein collected in the spin column. The labelled CAT004 was then used for FACS (Section 2.9)

2.5 Mice

2.5.1 Extraction of bone marrow monocytes

Bone marrow was extracted from either WT C57BL/6 mice or MyD88/TRIF knockout mice (courtesy of Prof Rick Maizel, Edinburgh). Mice were euthanized and the hind legs including both the femur and tibia were removed. Bone marrow was flushed from the bones using complete MEM- α in a 5ml syringe. To break any cell clumps, the cell suspension was pipetted up and down before passing through a 70µm cell strainer (VWR). The cell suspension was washed in complete MEM- α , centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes before red blood cell lysis using ACK lysis buffer (Life Technologies). Cells were then counted as previously described (2.2.1) and resuspended at 1×10^8 per ml in cell separation buffer in 6ml capped polystyrene tube (BD falcon). Monocytes were separated from the bone marrow using a mouse monocyte enrichment kit (Stem cell). In brief, cells were incubated on ice with normal rat serum at 50µl/ml of cells and enrichment cocktail at 50µl/ml of cells for 15 minutes. Cells were then washed by topping up the sample tube with cell separation buffer and centrifuged at 300g for 10 minutes. The cells were resuspended at 1×10^8 per ml and incubated with biotin selection cocktail at 60µl/ml of cells for 15 minutes at 4°C. Following this

incubation, the magnetic particles were added at 150μ l/ml of cells for 10 minutes at 4°C. The total volume was then brought to 2.5ml before placing the tube in a purple magnet (Stemcell Technologies) for 5 minutes. The magnet, with the tube inside, was inverted into a falcon and as it was a negative selection, the cells in the falcon were counted and washed at 300g for 5 minutes.

2.5.2 Stimulation of monocytes

Monocytes were cultured in 200 μ l in 96 well plates at a concentration of 5 x 10⁵/ml for 24 hours. All conditions had 1ng/ml recombinant mouse GM-CSF added, with or without 10ng/ml LPS, or 5% RA synovial fluid from 3 patients. Supernatants were collected after 24 hours and analysed by ELISA (Section 2.7.2).

2.6 Transcript Analysis

2.6.1 RNA extraction

Supernatant was removed from monocyte or macrophage cell cultures and cells were lysed using 350µl RLT buffer from the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen). The lysates were transferred to eppendorf tubes, vortexed to break up clumps, transferred to QIAshredder tubes (Qiagen) and centrifuged at full speed for 2 minutes. 70% ethanol was then immediately added to the flow through and transferred to the top of a spin column from the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen). The manufacturer's instructions for the RNeasy kit were then followed. In brief, the flow through from the QIAshredder plus 70% ethanol was spun through the spin column at 8000g for 15 seconds. The flow through was discarded and the column washed with RW1 buffer at 8000g for 15 seconds. An on-column DNase digest was performed at this point by adding 80µl DNase incubation mix (10µl DNase in 70µl RDD buffer) for 15 minutes at room temperature. Following the DNase digest, columns were washed with RW1 buffer at 8000g for 15 seconds followed by a wash at 8000g for 15 seconds with RPE buffer. The flow through was discarded and RPE was added to the column again for a 2 minute centrifuge at full speed. The collection tube was then changed and the column spun at 8000g for 1 minute to dry out the membrane. The column was transferred to an eppendorf

tube and the RNA eluted in 30μ l RNase free water by centrifuging at 8000g for 1 minute. The RNA concentration, and quality or potential contamination was measured using a Nanodrop 1000 (Thermo Scientific).

2.6.2 cDNA synthesis

To make cDNA, 10µl of a specified concentration of RNA (dependent on experiment) was added to 3ul random primers from the Affinity Script cDNA synthesis kit (Agilent) and 2.7µl RNase free water. The samples were mixed and incubated at 65°C for 5 minutes, then at room temperature for 10 minutes. 2µl of 10x affinity script RT buffer, 0.8µl dNTP mix, 0.5µl RNase block ribonuclease inhibitor and 1µl Affinity script multiple temperature RT were added to each sample before mixing and put in a PCR machine (Applied Biosystems 2720 Thermal Cycler) (Table 2.1)

Table 2.1 cDNA synthesis

| Temp | Time |
|------|------------|
| 25°C | 10 minutes |
| 42°C | 5 minutes |
| 55°C | 60 minutes |
| 70°C | 15 minutes |

2.6.3 qPCR

2.6.3.1 Primer Design

Primers (forward and reverse)(Table 2.3) were either used from the literature, from primer bank, or were designed using primer 3 software by using the mRNA sequence from NCBI (National Centre for Biotechnology Information). Primers were designed with an amplicon size of 100-150 base pairs, the primer size of 18-23 base pairs in length, with 40-60% GC nucleotide content, a maximum 3' complementarity of 1, a maximum self-complementarity of 2 and a melting temperature between 59.5 and 61°C. NCBI blast was used to confirm the efficiency of primer designs and amplicon size was measured using Ape - A plasmid editor v1.17.

2.6.3.2 Primer Validation

2ul cDNA, 1µl of forward and reverse primer (Table 2.3), 25µl Red Taq (Bioline) and 21µl nuclease free water were added to PCR tubes, to run on an end point PCR (Table 2.2).

Table 2.2 End Point PCR

| Temp | Time | Cycles |
|------|------------|--------|
| 94°C | 5 minutes | 1 |
| 94°C | 15 seconds | 35 |
| 55°C | 30 seconds | |
| 72°C | 30 seconds | |
| 72°C | 10 minutes | 1 |

Samples were run on a 1.8% agarose gel with 0.01% ethidium bromide at 110v until the 1kb+ ladder (Invitrogen) had migrated the full length of the gel. The gel was visualised with ethidium bromide using a UV transluminator. The primers were confirmed by checking the observed band size with the known amplicon size.

2.6.3.3 Primer Sequences

Table 2.3 Primer Sequences

| Gene | Forward sequence 5'-3' | Reverse sequence 5'-3' |
|--------|--------------------------|--------------------------|
| APOL1 | TTCGAATTCCTCGGTATATCTTG | CACCTCCAGTTATGCGTCTG |
| APOL2 | ATGATGAAGCCTGGAATGGA | TCAGAGCTTTACGGAGCTCAT |
| APOL3 | GCCTGGAAGAGATTCGTGAC | CTTCAGAGCTTCGTAGAGAGCA |
| APOL6 | AAGTGAGGCTGGTGTTGGTT | CGTCTTGTAGCTCCACGTCTT |
| CCL17 | GCAAAGCCTTGAGAGGTCTTGA | CGGTGGAGGTCCCAGGTAGT |
| CCL22 | GTCCTGTTCCCATCAGCGAT | CAGGCTGGAGACAGAGATGGA |
| CD23 | GGGAGAATCCAAGCAGGAC | GGAAGCTCCTCGATCTCTGA |
| CD36 | CTGAAACACAATGCACAGAGAGA | AAAGATGCGAAATGTCACAACAC |
| CD64 | TGGGAAAGCATCGCTACAC | GCACTGGAGCTGGAAATAGC |
| CLEC4E | GGCTGTGACCGGAACTGTG | CCGAGTGAAGATCCCCTTTTTA |
| CSF1R | CTGCCCAGATCGTGTGCTC | AGGTTGAGGGTCAGGACTTTTT |
| CXCL8 | AGAAGTTTTTGAAGAGGGCTGAGA | CAGACCCACACAATACATGAAGTG |
| LILRA2 | CAGCCACAATCACTCATCAGA | AGGGTGGGTTTGCTGTAGG |
| LILRB3 | GGAGATACCGCTGCCACTAT | GGTGGGTTTGCTGTAGGC |
| IRF4 | ACCCGGAAATCCCGTACCA | GGCAACCATTTTCACAAGCTG |
| IRF5 | TGTCAGTGCAAGGTGTTCTGG | TTTGCGGTCAGGCCATTCT |
| IRF7 | CCCAGCAGGTAGCATTCCC | GCAGCAGTTCCTCCGTGTAG |
| MRC1 | GGGTTGCTATCACTCTCTATGC | TTTCTTGTCTGTTGCCGTAGTT |
| TNF | CCCTGTGAGGAGGACGAAC | TGAGCCAGAAGAGGTTGAGG |
| GUSB | CTCATTTGGAATTTTGCCGATT | AGGTCTCCAACTGGCATTAGAA |
| GAPDH | ΑΑΤϹϹϹΑΤϹΑϹϹΑΤϹΤΤϹϹΑ | TGGACTCCACGACGTACTCA |

2.6.3.4 qPCR

Transcripts were analysed by qPCR in triplicate in 384 well plates (Starlabs) by adding to each well 1µl cDNA, 0.15µl primer pair, 5µl SYBR green (Invitrogen, Life Technologies) and 3.85µl nuclease free water (Life Technologies, UK). A non-template control (NTC) was used in place of cDNA for each primer set to ensure no contamination. Plates were sealed using adhesive plate sealers (Starlabs) and centrifuged at 400g for 1 minute. Plates were analysed using the Applied Biosystems 7900HT Sequence Detection System with a 50°C start followed by 94°C for 10 minutes, then 40 cycles of 94°C for 15 seconds and 60°C for 30 seconds. Data was exported from RQ manager as amplification data. All genes were normalised to the housekeeping GUSB after initial experiments, which were normalised to GAPDH (detailed in figures). Δ Ct was generated for each sample through the subtraction of the gene of interest from the corresponding house keeping Ct value. The 2^{- Δ Ct} value was then calculated and the relative quantitation further calculated in comparison to a control, using the 2^{- Δ d^{Ct} formula.}

2.6.4 Taqman Low Density Array

TLDAs were custom designed (Life Technologies) initially with 32 genes (Table 2.4) and then 2 plates of 16 genes (Table 2.5). Plates were at room temperature for 30 minutes prior to starting the assay. cDNA samples (300ng) were diluted to 50µl and 50µl Taqman Universal Mastermix II No UNG (Life Technologies) was added. The sample was then added to the designated port on the plate, centrifuged twice (1200rpm, 1 minute) using the Sorvall/Hereaus centrifuge with the specified TLDA buckets. Plates were sealed using a low density array sealer.

| APOL1 | APOL2 | APOL3 | APOL6 | CCL13 | CCR7 | CD36 | CLEC4E |
|-------|-------|-------|--------|--------|--------|------|--------|
| CSF1 | CSF1R | CSF2 | CSF2RA | CXCL11 | CD23 | CD64 | FGL2 |
| FN1 | IRF4 | IRF5 | IRF7 | LILRA2 | LILRB3 | MRC1 | MSR1 |
| PPARG | TLR1 | TLR2 | TLR4 | TLR6 | UBC | GUSB | GAPDH |

| CCL2 | CCL22 | CD36 | GAPDH | MRC1 | CREB1 | IL8 | CXCL10 |
|--------|--------|--------|-------|-------|-------|------|---------|
| CCL17 | CD1C | IL6 | IL12B | CSF2 | CCL3 | CCL4 | UBC |
| CLEC4E | CSR2RA | TLR4 | GAPDH | IRF5 | TNF | CD1A | CD200R1 |
| CCL20 | CD209 | CHI3L1 | STAB1 | CXCL2 | CD163 | CCR2 | UBC |

2.6.4.1 TLDA Analysis

Plates were analysed using the Applied Biosystems 7900HT Sequence Detection System using SDS2.4 and RQ manager before exporting the results data and using Applied Biosystems Data Assist to generate the Δ Ct and RQ for each sample.

2.7 Cytokine and Chemokine Analysis

2.7.1 Sample Preparation

Cell culture supernatants were centrifuged (500g, 5 minutes) to pellet the cell debris. The supernatants were removed and diluted in assay buffer accordingly. Plasma samples were centrifuged at full speed for 10 minutes to eliminate histopaque contamination.

2.7.2 ELISA

ELISAs were performed as per the manufacturer's instructions, which had slight variations depending on supplier (Table 2.6). In brief, half volume, high-binding plates (Fischer Scientific) were coated with capture antibody in PBS or recommended coating buffer overnight at 4°C. Plates were washed 4-5 times in PBS + 0.5% Tween (PBST) and blocked in assay buffer for 1 hour to prevent non-specific antibody binding. The block was aspirated and the samples or standards added either with or without the detection antibody for 2 hours (RT with shaking). If the detection antibody was not added with the samples, this was added after the samples were aspirated and washed a further 4-5 times in PBST, for 1 or 2 hours (RT with shaking). After the detection antibody incubation, the plates were washed 4 times in PBST. The streptavidin-HRP was diluted in assay buffer and added to plates for 30 minutes (RT with shaking). A further 4 washes were performed after this step and Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) substrate

solution (eBioscience) added until the standard curve had developed, which ranged between 5 and 30 minutes depending on the analyte. Once developed, 4N sulphuric acid was used to stop the reaction, and plates read at 450nm using Tecan Sunrise Absorbance reader. Data was exported to Excel and analysed ensuring the points of the standard curve were on the logarithmic phase, straight line of the curve. The equation for the straight line was used to calculate the unknown values. Any points outside the parameters of the standard curve were not included and re-run with further dilutions or if the sample was run neat, these samples were labelled as not detected.

| I ADIE 2.0. ELISA KILS | | | |
|------------------------|---------|-------------------|-----------------|
| Cytokine/Chemokine | Species | Supplier | Detection Range |
| IL-6 | Human | Life Technologies | 15.62-1000pg/ml |
| IL-8 | Human | Life Technologies | 15.62-1000pg/ml |
| ΤΝFα | Human | Life Technologies | 15.62-1000pg/ml |
| CCL17 | Human | Biolegend | 3.9-250pg/ml |
| CCL17 | Human | R&D Systems | 7.81-500pg/ml |
| CCL22 | Human | R&D Systems | 7.81-500pg/ml |
| GM-CSF | Human | R&D Systems | 15.62-1000pg/ml |
| CCL17 | Mouse | R&D Systems | 31.2-2000pg/ml |
| | | | |

Table 2.6: ELISA kits

2.7.3 Luminex

A 10-plex Human chemokine panel (Life Technologies) and a base kit (Life technologies) were used to quantify chemokine levels as per the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, standards were prepared using assay diluent. Beads were prepared by vortexing and sonicating. 95μ l of the bead solution was added to each well and washed. 50μ l incubation buffer, followed by 100μ l standards or blanks were added to the plate. 50μ l assay diluent was added to the remaining wells, followed by the addition of 50μ l of samples leading to a 1 in 2 dilution of samples. Plates were incubated at room temperature for 2 hours in the dark with shaking. Plates were then washed twice, followed by the addition of 95μ l biotinylated antibody solution. They were incubated in the dark at room temperature for 60 minutes. The plates were washed twice after the incubation and 95μ l Streptavidin-RPE solution was added to the plates, they were covered and incubated at room temperature with shaking for 30 minutes. The plates were then washed 3 times and wrapped in foil and stored at 4°C overnight in buffer. The following day, the wash buffer was replaced in the wells, and the

plates were incubated at room temperature with shaking for 10 minutes prior to running on the Bio-Rad Bio-Plex machine. The Bio-Plex Manager 4.1 programme was used, and machine instructions were followed. The data was exported as a Microsoft Excel file and analysed using Microsoft Excel and Graphpad Prism 6.0c.

2.7.4 Meso-Scale Discovery (MSD) Multi-Array

The chemokine 10 plex and cytokine 9 plex both using the 10 spot plate format were used and manufacturer's instructions were followed. In brief, supernatants were diluted 1 in 2 for the cytokine plates and 1 in 4 for the chemokine plates. The cytokine plates were then blocked in blocking solution for 1 hour at room temperature with shaking, followed by 3 washes in PBS + 0.05% Tween. Standards and samples were diluted and added for 2 hours at room temperature with shaking. The detection antibody solution was added on top of the samples and standards for 1 to 2 hours at room temperature with shaking. After 3 more washes in PBS + 0.05% Tween, read buffer was added to each well and the plates read using an MSDSECTOR Imager. Data was analysed using Microsoft Excel and Graphpad Prism 6.0c.

2.8 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

2.8.1 Antigen Retrieval

Paraffin Embedded synovial membranes which had been previously sectioned were heated at 60°C for 35 minutes to soften the wax. The slides were then deparaffinised and hydrated through a xylene and graded alcohol series. Briefly, slides were added to xylene for 2 x 5 minutes, 100% ethanol, 90% ethanol and 70% ethanol each twice for 3 minutes. The final hydration step was putting the slides in running water for 5 minutes. Following the hydration, slides were washed in Tris Buffered Saline with 0.05% Tween (TBST) for 5 minutes before antigen retrieval in citrate buffer. The citrate buffer (Appendix) was preheated for 5 minutes in a microwave before the addition of the slides for a further 8 minutes. After cooling, the slides were washed in TBST before the endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched by incubating the sections in 0.5% H₂O₂ in methanol for 30 minutes. The sections were then washed for 5 minutes in TBST and sections ringed with a wax pen (Vector Laboratories).

2.8.2 Primary Antibody and ImmPress[™] Secondary

After the initial preparation of the sections, the slides were blocked for nonspecific binding by incubating sections with 2.5% normal horse blocking serum for 30 minutes in a humidified chamber. The serum was tapped off and slides were incubated overnight at 4°C with primary antibody (Table 2.7) in 2.5% horse serum/2.5% human serum in TBST. The slides were brought to room temperature and washed in TBST for 5 minutes. They were then incubated in ImmPRESS reagent specific to the host species of the primary antibody for 30 minutes. After a 5 minute wash in TBST, sections were incubated in Impact DAB chromagen solution until the stain intensity develops for a maximum 2 minutes.

| | Raised in | Supplier | Clone | lsotype | Supplier | Concentration |
|----------------------|--------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|------------------------------|
| GM- CSFRα | Rabbit | Genetex | Polyclonal | DA1E | New England Biolabs | 10µg/ml |
| CCR4 | Rabbit | Novus Biotechne | Polyclonal | DA1E | | 2µg/ml |
| CCL17 CD3 CD68 | Rabbit Mouse Mouse | Abcam Vector Dako | Polyclonal PS1 PGM1 | DA1E IgG2a IgG1b | Dako Dako | 2.6μg/ml 1μg/ml 1μg/ml |

Table 2.7: IHC Primary Antibodies

67

2.8.3 IHC scoring

Rheumatoid arthritis and Osteoarthritis sections were scanned using an Aperio ScanScope XT, followed by analysis using Aperio ImageScope software.

2.8.3.1 Percentage of positive staining

The sections were analysed as initmal lining, sub-lining, interstitium and aggregates. For each compartment, 3 areas for each section were scored and averaged. The scoring was analysed as percentage of positive cells, with <25% = 1, 26-50% = 2, 51-75% = 3 and >76% = 4. The areas scored were matched for each tissue for CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α , CD3 and CD68.

2.8.3.2 Positive cell count

The lining layer was scored at a 40x magnification, counting all positively stained cells in the field of view. Five areas were scored for each tissue and each antibody (CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α , CD3 and CD68). This was repeated in RA and OA sections, and the number of positive cells from the 5 counted areas was averaged for analysis.

2.9 Flow Cytometry (FACS)

2.9.1 Assessment of cell purity - Human

CD14+ cells were analysed for purity after separation from buffy coats. 1×10^{6} cells were transferred to 6ml tubes, the volume brought to 1ml with FACS buffer (Appendix) and centrifuged at 300g for 5 minutes. The supernatant was removed and antibodies were added for CD16-PE, CD3-APC, CD14-APC-Cy7, CD19-FITC (Table 2.8) for 20 minutes at 4°C in the dark. After this incubation, the cells were washed once more with 500µl FACS buffer and then resuspended in 300µl FACS buffer. Samples were analysed on the MACS QUANT (Miltenyi). All FACS data were analysed using FlowJo 10 software (TreeStar).

2.9.2 Assessment of cell purity – Mouse

Enriched monocytes were analysed for purity by using 5 x 10^5 cells in 6ml tubes (BD, Falcon). These cells were washed in 1ml PBS at 300g for 5 minutes followed by a wash in FACS buffer (300g, 5 minutes). The supernatant was removed and antibodies were added for CD11b-V450, Ly6C-PerCP-Cy5.5 and GR1-APC (Table 2.8) for 20 minutes at 4°C in the dark. Following this, excess antibody was washed off in FACS buffer (300g, 5 minutes) and cells were resuspended in 250µl FACS buffer before analysis using the MACS QUANT (Miltenyi Biotech)

2.9.3 Apoptosis analysis

Monocytes were analysed for apoptosis by transferring the cultured cells into eppendorfs, centrifuging at 400g for 5 minutes and then washed with 1ml PBS. The cells were resuspended in 1ml Annexin V binding buffer (BD) and centrifuged once again. The cells were then resuspended in 100µl Annexin V binding buffer and 5µl Annexin V-FITC (BD) added per sample for 15 minutes at room temperature in the dark. There was a further wash in 1ml Annexin V Binding Buffer and resuspended in 200µl and 5µl PI (BD) added before analysis on the MACS QUANT (Miltenyi Biotech).

2.9.4 Phospho FACS

Separated monocytes (2.2.4) were incubated with 5% synovial fluid or 10ng/ml LPS in complete RPMI for 4 hours in capped 6ml tubes (BD, Falcon) 37°C, 5% CO₂. After incubation, cells were dissociated with cold dPBS (300g, 5 minutes) followed by a wash in warm (37°C) 0.1% BSA in dPBS (300g, 5 minutes). Washed cells were fluorescently labelled with surface markers CD14-PE-CF594, CD16-PE, CD19-AF700, CD3-V450 (Table 2.8) in 50 μ l 0.1% BSA in dPBS for 5 minutes. For antibody concentrations, see Table 2.8. For unstimulated tubes, 0.1% BSA in dPBS was added to the tubes and for stimulated cells, 1ng/ml GM-CSF in 50 μ l 0.1% BSA in dPBS was added for 10 minutes at 37°C, 5% CO₂. This incubation time was set after a trial at 10,15 and 20 minutes with 10 minutes the optimum time. Cytofix was added directly to the cells to stop any further signalling, for 15 minutes at room temperature. Cells were washed in cell wash (BD) followed by a wash in 0.1% BSA in dPBS (300g, 5 minutes). Cells were then permeabilised with

400 μ l Perm III buffer (BD) for 30 minutes at 4°C. This permeabilisation buffer was extensively washed (3 times) initially with cell wash (BD), followed by 0.5% BSA in dPBS. Cells were resuspended in 50 μ l 0.5% BSA in dPBS and stained with STAT1-PerCP-Cy5.5, STAT3-AF488 or STAT6-AF488 and STAT5-AF647 (Table 2.8) for 30 minutes at 4°C. The excess antibody was washed off in 0.5% BSA in dPBS (300g, 5 minutes) and cells were resuspended in 200 μ l 0.5% BSA in dPBS. Cells were analysed using the LSR II analyser (BD).

| Table 2.8 FACS antibodies | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|-------------------------|---------|--------------|----------|---------|--|--|
| Specificity | Reactive Species | Clone | Fluorochrome | Supplier | μl/Test | | |
| Annexin V | Human | | FITC | BD | 5 | | |
| CD3 | Human | | APC | BD | 10 | | |
| CD3 | Human | UCHT1 | V450 | | 0.5 | | |
| CD14 | Human | ΜφΡ9 | APC-Cy7 | BD | 5 | | |
| CD14 | Human | | PE-CF594 | BD | 2 | | |
| CD16 | Human | 3G8 | PE | BD | 1 | | |
| CD19 | Human | | FITC | BD | 10 | | |
| CD19 | Human | | AF700 | BD | 2 | | |
| PI | | | PI | BD | 5 | | |
| STAT5 | Human | 47 | AF647 | BD | 2 | | |
| (pY694) | | | | | | | |
| STAT 3 | Human | 4/P- | AF488 | BD | 2 | | |
| (pY705) | | Stat3 | | | | | |
| STAT1 | Human | 4a | PerCP-Cy5.5 | BD | 2 | | |
| (pY701) | | | | | | | |
| STAT6 | Human | 18/P- | AF488 | BD | 2 | | |
| (pY641) | | Stat6 | | | | | |
| CD11b | Mouse | M1/70 | V450 | BD | 5 | | |
| Gr1 | Mouse | RB6-8C5 | APC | BD | 5 | | |
| Ly6C | Mouse | AL21 | PerCP-Cy5.5 | BD | 5 | | |

2.10 Limulus Assay

Immune complex depleted synovial fluids and neat synovial fluids were analysed for endotoxin contamination and 10ng/ml LPS was used as a positive control. The endotoxin was analysed using the Limulus Amebocyte Lysate (LAL) Kinetic kit (Lonza). The manufacturer's instructions were followed, but briefly, the endotoxin standard was vortexed for 15 minutes before serial dilutions were made with the LAL reagent water, in endotoxin free glass tubes, for the standard curve. The top standard was a concentration of 5.0EU/ml and 4 following 10 fold dilutions. The standards, samples, and controls were added to the microplate for 10 minutes at 37°C. Immediately prior to addition to the plates, the Kinetic QCL reagent was reconstituted with LAL reagent water and added to the wells. The plate was then measured at a wavelength of 405nM as a kinetic using the WinKQCL software.

2.11 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 6 software (GraphPad). Different statistical tests were used depending on the data being
analysed. For the analysis of 3 or more groups of data with only one variable, a One-way ANOVA or non-parametric equivalent was used. The Bonferroni's post test was used if the overall analysis detected significance. For the comparison of 3 or more groups of data but with 2 variables (i.e dose response of various stimulations) the two-way ANOVA was used. Figure legends detail the statistical test used for each of set of data. A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Chapter 3 GM-CSF/CCL17 axis in RA

3.1 Introduction

GM-CSF was traditionally identified as a maturation factor for macrophages (1.3.1.2), however, this role was broadened once it was discovered at sites of inflammation. It is now appreciated that GM-CSF has pro-inflammatory properties, which are important in RA pathogenesis (133,236,246,247). The initial arthopathy associated observation came from studies that were using human recombinant GM-CSF as a post-chemotherapy treatment. Joint pain was observed after 1 day of GM-CSF treatment, which disappeared gradually after GM-CSF treatment was halted (159,233,248). Following this observation, manipulating GM-CSF in animal models of RA further supported the importance of this molecule in rheumatic disease pathogenesis. In brief, daily injections of GM-CSF into mice with Collagen Induced Arthritis (CIA) significantly increased disease severity (236). In accordance with this finding, GM-CSF knockout mice have significantly reduced disease severity when compared to WT mice, and interestingly heterozygous mice have an intermediate score (233). A therapeutic treatment regime, using a GM-CSF antibody (234), and more recently an anti GMCSFR alpha antibody (238), also significantly reduced CIA disease scores. This has now been translated into humans, with Mavrilimumab: a human monoclonal antibody to GM-CSFR α . Clinical trials have shown promising results, with an improvement in DAS28-CRP when compared to placebo (244,249). These data have shown that GM-CSF has a role in RA pathogenesis and inhibition attenuates signs and symptoms of disease.

In addition to a GM-CSF associated pathology in RA, there has also been significant work done to evaluate the role of TLRs in RA pathology. TLRs are expressed at high levels on both peripheral blood derived monocytes, and tissue resident macrophages from RA synovial membranes (241,250-252). PAMPs and DAMPs are ligands that can activate TLRs and these have therefore been implicated in synovial inflammation. Each TLR recognises specific ligands such as TLR4, which is a receptor that recognises, amongst others, the PAMP Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and the DAMP Tenascin C (80,86,252). In disease, multiple TLRs can be activated, and it has been suggested that targeting more than one could be a potential for therapeutic treatment (80,252,253). TLRs signal through the adaptor molecules MyD88 or Mal/TIRAP and TRAM/TRIF, but ultimately activate the transcription factor NF κ B, through the phosphorylation and degradation of I κ B from the NF κ B-I κ B complex (234,253-255). NF κ B then transcribes genes for pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as TNF α , IL1 and CXCL8 (IL-8) (235,253,256,257). Consequently TLRs are thought to be important regulators of inflammatory cytokine and chemokine expression (250).

In RA, many chemokines have been studied, such as CCL2, CXCL8 and CXCL10 (section 1.5), however there is limited research into CCL17, despite its receptor, CCR4, being expressed in RA tissue (258). In RA, synovial tissue has significantly higher levels of CCL17 mRNA than OA or healthy donor tissue (259). CCL17, previously known as Thymus and Activation-Regulated Chemokine (TARC), was discovered in 1996 to be constitutively expressed in the thymus and to induce T cell migration (260). Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin (TSLP) stimulated dendritic cells secrete CCL17 and co-stimulation of TSLP with TLR ligands leads to an increase in CCL17 expression (261,262). CCL17 binds to CCR4, with CCL22 the only other common ligand for this receptor (263). More recently, CCL17 via CCR4 has been shown to chemoattract Th17 and Treg cells (186,264). Studies into CCR4 and its role in RA show that in CIA, CCR4 null mice have significantly lower disease scores over time (186). This suggests that CCR4 ligands (CCL17 or CCL22) could play a role in RA pathogenesis.

Many *in vitro* studies have used GM-CSF to differentiate monocytes into macrophages or DCs. However, the early effect of GM-CSF on monocyte biology, in particular the production of chemokines and cytokines has not yet been fully investigated. When monocytes enter the inflamed joint, they enter a milieu of cytokines, including GM-CSF, DAMPs and PAMPs. The aim of this study was initially to understand what effect GM-CSF stimulation has on monocyte functional outcome: including cytokine / chemokine secretion, before they further differentiate. The additional co-stimulation of TLR ligands, mimicking the activation upon entry into the synovium was also investigated, with the hypothesis that further cytokines, the GM-CSFR α , monocytes/macrophages and T cells in the synovium were also examined to try and understand the immunopathology.

Chapter Aims:

- To investigate the effect of GM-CSF with and without TLR ligand costimulation on the cytokine and chemokine production by monocytes.
- To determine how CCL17 production by monocytes influences T cell activation.
- To evaluate the spatial relationship in the RA synovial membrane tissue of CCL17, its receptor CCR4, GM-CSFR α and monocytes/macrophages and T cells.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Chemokine secretion in GM-CSF stimulated monocytes.

In vitro, GM-CSF is classically used to differentiate monocytes into macrophages and/or dendritic cells (265,266). However, little is known about the initial impact of GM-CSF on monocyte biology. In order to determine the influence of GM-CSF on monocytes before differentiation, monocytes were isolated from human buffy coats using a monocyte enrichment kit (StemCell Technologies)(Section 2.2.3), negatively selecting for CD14⁺ monocytes without depleting CD16⁺ monocytes. Cell purity was analysed by flow cytometry. Typically, the composition of PBMCs after histopaque separation was 52% CD14⁺, CD16⁺ or CD14⁺CD16⁺ monocytes, 34.9% were CD3⁺ T cells and 4.58% were CD19⁺ B cells (Figure 3.1A & B). After separation monocyte purity was 82 ±10% (mean ± standard deviation)(Figure 3.1C). Importantly, contaminating populations were also assessed, revealing that there was only minor contamination of purified monocytes was T and B cells (Figure 3.1D). The monocyte purity was a limitation of the separation, however as predominantly monocytes and macrophages are GM-CSFR positive, stimulation with GM-CSF ensured more specific targeting for chemokine analysis.

To determine the effect of GM-CSF stimulation on monocytes, monocytes were stimulated with 0.1ng/ml or 1ng/ml GM-CSF for 24 hours and supernatants were analysed for CCL17 secretion by MSD (Section 2.7.4). For a broad view of chemokine secretion in GM-CSF stimulated monocytes, other chemokines were simultaneously evaluated. With increasing concentrations of GM-CSF stimulation, monocytes upregulated their secretion of CCL17 (Figure 3.2). This was the most consistently up-regulated chemokine of those analysed with little variation between the buffy coat donors. With no GM-CSF stimulation, very little (<20pg/ml) CCL17 was secreted; however, with 0.1ng/ml GM-CSF stimulation, this increased by approximately 100 fold (mean ± SD). At 1ng/ml, there was significant up-regulation in CCL17 production in comparison to no GM-CSF stimulation (Figure 3.2). There was also a dose dependent increase in CCL22 secretion with GM-CSF stimulation, however, this was not a significant increase due to the variation observed between monocyte donors. CXCL8 production was also significantly increased after GM-CSF at 1ng/ml in comparison to no

stimulation. There was no difference in CCL3, CCL4, CCL11 and CXCL10 production after GM-CSF stimulation, however, there was a large level of variability between monocyte donors. This suggests these chemokines were not reliably regulated by GM-CSF in monocytes. However, CCL17 and CCL22, the ligands for CCR4, were both up-regulated by GM-CSF, highlighting the importance of both monocytes and these chemokines in RA pathogenesis, prior to monocyte differentiation. This is potentially an important process in exacerbation of inflammation, as infiltrating monocytes that are exposed to GM-CSF, can secrete CCL17 leading to the recruitment of CCR4⁺ T cells (Section 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Human Monocyte Purity Check

An example of monocytes separated from human buffy coats analysed for purity by flow cytometry. A) Percentage of monocytes in total PBMCs. B) T cell and B cell percentage of PBMCs. C) Monocyte purity after enrichment from PBMCs. D) T cell and B cell contamination in monocyte separation.





Monocytes separated from human buffy coats (n=4) were stimulated in complete media or with the addition of human recombinant GM-CSF at 0.1ng/ml or 1ng/ml for 24 hours at 37°C. Supernatants were collected and analysed by MSD for chemokine secretion. Horizontal line indicating the median. Statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test, followed by Dunn's post test. * = p<0.05

3.2.2 CCL17 secretion in RA monocytes.

The data described above shows that CCL17 is produced by monocytes after GM-CSF stimulation. To elucidate whether monocytes from RA patients, have the same capacity, or even an enhanced capacity, to produce CCL17 when stimulated with GM-CSF, monocytes derived from the peripheral blood of RA patient (n=7) and healthy controls (n=7) were isolated, and compared. In brief, monocytes were stimulated with increasing concentrations of GM-CSF for 24 hours, after which, supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. In both RA and healthy monocytes, GM-CSF stimulation induced equivalent secretion of CCL17 (Figure 3.3A). A bell shaped response was observed, where there was an increase in secretion of CCL17 with increasing GM-CSF stimulation peaking between 1ng/ml and 10ng/ml GM-CSF, whilst at 100ng/ml GM-CSF stimulation, the induction of CCL17 decreased. This potentially suggests that at higher concentrations, monocytes are insensitive to GM-CSF or the monocyte phenotype changes with greater GM-CSF stimulation and monocytes respond differently. These results demonstrate that RA monocytes have the same capacity as healthy monocytes to secrete CCL17, which suggests that any dysregulation leading to RA pathogenesis is not via the monocyte response to GM-CSF.

The production of CCL17 is not only restricted to monocytes and previous work has demonstrated that T cells stimulated with IL-4 (267) or dendritic cells (DCs) stimulated with Thymic Stromal Lymphopoietin (TSLP) can also secrete CCL17 (268). As monocytes and DCs are both haematopoietic stem cell derived, and it is not known whether TSLP will have similar effects on monocytes. Monocytes were separated from human buffy coats and stimulated with increasing concentrations of TSLP or GM-CSF. Consistent with previous data, GM-CSF (in a dose-dependent manner) induced CCL17 (Figure 3.3B). TSLP was unable to induce CCL17 at any concentrations, however a positive control for TSLP stimulation would be required to confirm this finding. GM-CSF can be used in the differentiation of monocyte derived cells such as inflammatory DCs (73). Therefore, GM-CSF could up-regulate TSLPR in during the differentiation process.





Figure 3.3 CCL17 induction in RA monocytes and TSLP inability to induce CCL17. A) Monocytes were separated from human peripheral blood from RA patients (n=7) or healthy controls (n=7) and stimulated with recombinant human GM-CSF at increasing concentrations for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analysed by ELISA for CCL17. At 0ng/ml, 5 donors had undetectable levels of CCL17. Horizontal line indicates the mean. B) Monocytes were separated from human buffy coats (n=4) and stimulated with increasing concentrations of GM-CSF or TSLP for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. Statistics used: 2-way ANOVA performed on the dataset in B) followed by Bonferroni's post test ** = p<0.01, *** = p<0.001.

3.2.3 TLR ligands inhibited GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in monocytes.

The data described in sections 3.2.1 and 3.2.2 demonstrated that monocytes from RA patients and healthy controls produced CCL17 under GM-CSF stimulation. The synovial milieu contains PAMPs and DAMPs, many of which are TLR ligands. TLR ligands have previously been shown to up-regulate cytokine and chemokine responses such as CXCL8 and TNF α , in monocytes (269) Therefore, to determine the effect of TLR ligands on GM-CSF driven CCL17 induction in both healthy and RA patients, monocytes were co-stimulated with LPS. RA and healthy monocytes were co-stimulated with increasing concentrations of GM-CSF in the presence or absence of 10ng/ml LPS.

In both healthy and RA monocytes, LPS prevented the induction of GM-CSF driven CCL17. With GM-CSF stimulations of 1ng/ml and 10ng/ml, there was significant inhibition of CCL17 observed in both healthy and RA monocytes (Figure 3.4A). The TLR4-mediated inhibition of CCL17 was unexpected, as LPS is known to induce the secretion of other pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines in monocytes.

To determine whether the inhibition of CCL17 by LPS on GM-CSF stimulated monocytes was specific to TLR4 alone, multiple TLR ligands were used to assess specificity. The following TLR ligands were evaluated as they covered a range of receptors. In brief, we chose FSL1 (a TLR2/6 ligand), Clo97 (a TLR7/8 ligand) and Poly I:C (a TLR3 ligand). Consistent with the previous data (Section 3.2.1), GM-CSF was able to induce CCL17 and this was significantly inhibited by LPS. Importantly, this induction of CCL17 was significantly inhibited by all TLR ligands analysed (Figure 3.4B). This suggests that regardless of the TLR ligand used, the underlying TLR-mediated signalling cascade was activated, resulting in inhibition of GM-CSF-mediated CCL17 induction.

In order to confirm that the GM-CSF-mediated signalling led to an up-regulation of transcript that would subsequently be translated into protein, CCL17 transcriptional analysis was undertaken. Furthermore, the impact of TLR4mediated signalling on transcript and protein levels was also evaluated. Monocytes stimulated with GM-CSF alone or GM-CSF with LPS were cultured for 0, 6, 18 and 24 hours with cells lysed at each time point for transcriptional analysis. The transcripts of CCL17, CCL22 and CXCL8 were analysed. GM-CSF stimulation caused an induction of CCL17 transcript between 6 and 18 hours, which continued until 24 hours. The monocytes co-stimulated with LPS were unable to induce CCL17 transcript, with a significantly lower level of CCL17 transcript at 18 and 24 hours (Figure 3.5). Suggesting that TLR4-mediated signalling events prevent transcription of CCL17 rather than post-translational inhibition.

CCL22 is the only other common ligand with CCL17 for CCR4 (263). The CCL22 protein was not significantly up-regulated by GM-CSF stimulation (Figure 3.2), however, we aimed to determine whether TLR-mediated signalling had any effect on the CCL22 transcript. The transcript for CCL22 was not significantly induced by GM-CSF at 18 and 24 hours, unlike the other CCR4 ligand, CCL17 (Figure 3.5). The co-stimulation of GM-CSF with LPS also prevented CCL22 induction. This is a potentially interesting finding, alluding to a mechanism in which TLR-mediated signalling inhibits GM-CSF induction of CCR4 ligands.

CXCL8 was analysed as a positive control, as LPS would be expected to cause an increase in CXCL8 transcript expression (82,270). The data showed that GM-CSF alone induced low levels of CXCL8 transcript (Figure 3.5). However, at 6 hours after co-stimulation, LPS caused an increase in transcript expression. At 18 and 24 hours after LPS co-stimulation, the level of transcript had returned to the same level as GM-CSF alone.

The transcriptional analysis of CCL17 confirmed that up-regulation of the transcript directly led to the increase in protein (Figure 3.2). Inhibition of CCL17 protein was caused by TLR-mediated signalling that impacted CCL17 transcription rather than protein secretion (Figure 3.5). CCL22 transcript induction by GM-CSF, was also inhibited by LPS, suggesting a CCR4 ligand specific phenomenon, as CXCL8 transcript was up-regulated with LPS co-stimulation.







Figure 3.4 LPS or TLR ligand inhibition of CCL17 in GM-CSF stimulated monocytes A) Monocytes were isolated from RA peripheral blood (n=7) or healthy peripheral blood (n=7) and were stimulated with increasing concentrations of GM-CSF or co-stimulated with GM-CSF and 10ng/ml LPS for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. Statistically analysed using 2-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post test. ** = p<0.01, *** = p<0.001, **** = p<0.001. B) Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF with or without 10ng/ml LPS, 10ng/ml FSL1, 1 μ g/ml Clo97 or 50 μ g/ml Poly I:C for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17. Left panel: raw concentrations, right panel: % change relative to GM-CSF alone condition. Statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post test **** = p<0.0001.

84







Hours



Monocytes isolated from human buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF in the presence or absence of 10ng/ml LPS. Cells were lysed at 0, 6, 18 and 24 hours after incubation. RNA was extracted and CCL17, CCL22 and CXCL8 transcripts analysed by qPCR. Results analysed in relation to housekeeping (GUSB) and Relative Quantification (RQ) calculated by $2^{-\Delta\Delta cT}$ relative to time 0. Statistically analysed using 2-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post test. * = p<0.05.

3.2.4 Investigation into the mechanism of LPS inhibition of CCL17

The finding that LPS can significantly inhibit the induction of CCL17 in monocytes upon GM-CSF stimulation was an unexpected and novel finding, as LPS exacerbates secretion of other pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines such as TNF α and CXCL8 (270). In parallel to the work undertaken in this thesis on-going studies performed by collaborating scientists at MedImmune investigated the mechanism underlying LPS-mediated inhibition. From that data (personal communication), it was hypothesised that Suppressor of Cytokine Signalling 3 (SOCS3) was essential for inhibition by LPS. SOCS3 is downstream of GM-CSFR signalling, as a negative regulator of cytokine signalling (Figure 1.2)(221). Therefore, in order to establish whether SOCS3 was involved in the process of inhibition by LPS, SOCS3 was down-regulated using siRNA technology. Initial experiments were performed to maximise transfection efficiency and knock down of the gene. To maintain monocytes in a setting that was supportive of survival and which would not lead to overt maturation, cells were cultured in human serum (271). To determine whether monocytes would still respond to GM-CSF and secrete CCL17 after initial culture in human serum, monocytes were cultured for 24 and 48 hours before stimulation with GM-CSF in the presence or absence of LPS. This was in comparison to monocytes that were stimulated with GM-CSF and LPS at 0 hours (Figure 3.6). Monocytes that were stimulated with GM-CSF at 0 hours, produced approximately 1000pg/ml of CCL17, which was almost completely inhibited by LPS. After 24 hours of culture in 10% serum before stimulation with GM-CSF for 24 hours, monocytes secreted about 125pg/ml CCL17, which was inhibited by LPS. After 48 hours of culture in 10% serum, before stimulation with GM-CSF, the ability of monocytes to produce CCL17 was effectively inhibited, with levels in the region of 40pg/ml. Therefore, in order to allow sufficient time for siRNA knockdown, prior to initiation of the assay, but still with the ability for CCL17 to be induced by GM-CSF, the 24 hour culture in human serum was used for further experiments.

The 24 hour period of culture in human serum allowed time to transfect the cells with siRNA prior to initiation of the assay. In order to establish the optimum conditions for siRNA transfection and knockdown, the initial transfection was for 24 hours to maximise time for the knockdown. Transfection efficiency was determined by transfecting the cells with AF-488 labelled control siRNA (Figure 3.7A). FACS analysis showed that 77% of the cells were still viable after 24 hours, and that of the live cells, 51.8% took up the labelled siRNA. Multiple concentrations of SOCS3 siRNA were tested in comparison to the control siRNA for knockdown of SOCS3 after 24 hours of transfection. 6.25nM was variable between the 2 monocyte donors, whereas 12.5nM, 25nM and 50nM were all successfully able to decrease the SOCS3 transcript (Figure 3.7B). However, despite successful knockdown of SOCS3, monocytes stimulated with GM-CSF, in both the control and SOCS3 siRNA, were unable to produce CCL17 (Figure 3.7C). The level of CCL17 secreted in the negative siRNA control was variable between donors but was still induced. The initial data suggests that transfection alone affects the monocyte's ability to secrete CCL17 upon GM-CSF stimulation. In order to maximise monocyte viability, the transfection time was decreased to ensure a recovery period. The aim was to ensure delivery of siRNA into the cell, but also to remove the transfection reagent, which may have been having an inhibitory effect on the cell. In an exploratory experiment (n=1), a 6 hour transfection with 50nM siRNA, SOCS3 siRNA successfully knocked down the SOCS3 transcript (Figure 3.7D). Monocytes recovered for 18 hours, prior to stimulation with GM-CSF in the presence or absence of LPS. The negative control, which was not exposed to siRNA or transfection reagent, produced 130pg/ml CCL17 with stimulation (Figure 3.7E). However, exposure to the control siRNA and SOCS3 siRNA prevented induction of CCL17.

In summary, transfection of monocytes (regardless of target) results in an inability to respond to GM-CSF stimulation and therefore secretion of CCL17. The current data suggests that this is due to interference from the transfection reagent that prevented GM-CSF signalling.



Figure 3.6 Delayed assay start with monocytes cultured in human serum.

Monocytes were separated from human buffy coats (n=3) and cultured in 10% human serum opposed to FBS. Monocytes were either stimulated at 0h with GM-CSF with or without 10ng/ml LPS, or cultured in human serum for 24 or 48 hours before the initiation of the assay stimulation of GM-CSF with or without 10ng/ml LPS. For the monocytes cultured before the initiation of the assay, the media was changed at the same time as the stimulations. After the addition of GM-CSF with or without LPS, monocytes were cultured for 24 hours, supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA.





Monocytes were cultured in media containing 10% human serum and transfected with the siRNA-NTER peptide complex, which had been pre-incubated together for 15 minutes, for 24 hours (A, B and C) or 6 hours (D and E). A) Using labelled control AF488-siRNA, transfection efficiency was analysed by FACS. Cells were also stained with DAPI prior to analysis on a MACS QUANT to assess cell death. B) Control siRNA, and 4 concentrations of SOCS3 siRNA were used to determine the most effective concentration for use in further experiments (n=2 for 6.25nM and 12.5nM, n=1 for 25nM and 50nM). C) 50nM siRNA (control or SOCS3) was used to transfect monocytes, after 24 hours of transfection, media was changed and monocytes were stimulated with GM-CSF with or without LPS. D) and E) 50nM siRNA (control or SOCS3) was used to transfect monocytes for 6 hours (n=1). Media was changed, and at 24 hours, monocytes were stimulated with GM-CSF with or without LPS for 24 hours. After culture, cells were lysed for transcriptional analysis of SOCS3 knockdown by qPCR (D) and supernatants were collected for analysis by ELISA for CCL17 (E).

3.2.5 Activated T cells produced GM-CSF, but CCL17 does not exacerbate GM-CSF secretion.

The ability of monocytes to produce CCL17 suggests that they may have a role in recruiting CCR4⁺ T cells to the inflamed tissue. We hypothesised that monocytes producing CCL17 upon GM-CSF stimulation, would not only be able to potentially recruit CCR4⁺ T cells to the particular area/tissue, but also induce secretion of GM-CSF in a positive feedback loop. In order to assess this hypothesis, CD4⁺ T cells were divided into memory and naïve T cells via the presence of CD45RA and CD45RO. Naïve T cells would not be expected to express CCR4 as expression increases upon differentiation into memory T cells (272). The T cells were then cultured with or without anti-CD2/CD3/CD28 beads in the presence or absence of increasing concentrations of CCL17.

After 24 hours, total CD4 T cells produced approximately 500pg/ml GM-CSF when activated with anti-CD2/CD3/CD28 beads (Figure 3.8A). Anti-CD2/CD3/CD28 bead stimulation of total CD4 T cells was essential for the production of GM-CSF. Importantly, CCL17 had no impact (be it negative or positive) on GM-CSF secretion in total CD4 T cells. The CD45RA⁺ T cells produced about 300pg/ml GM-CSF and the CD45RO⁺ T cells produced in the region of 400pg/ml GM-CSF.

After 48 hours, all analysed subsets of T cells failed to induce GM-CSF without stimulation from anti-CD2/CD3/CD28 beads (Figure 3.8B). However, the activated CD4 T cells produced approximately 1000pg/ml GM-CSF, with the CD45RA⁺ T cells secreting about 600pg/ml GM-CSF and the CD45RO⁺ T cells secreting about 1000pg/ml. The increasing concentrations of CCL17 made no difference to the level of GM-CSF produced. This data suggested that CCL17 had no impact on any of the T cell subsets, however if there was the opportunity, future work could include analysis of CCR4 expression in relation to the ability of T cells to produce GM-CSF.

Although we do not show that CCL17 is involved in a positive feedback loop, these data demonstrate that activated CD4⁺ T cells secrete GM-CSF. This suggests that recruitment of CCR4⁺ T cells into the tissue would lead to exacerbation of of GM-CSF secretion when activated, through contact with

antigen-presenting cells or potentially inflammatory cytokines, thereby stimulating monocytes to further secrete CCL17.







Figure 3.8 GM-CSF production in T cells after CCL17 stimulation

CD4 T cells were isolated from buffy coats (n=3) and further separated into CD45RA⁺ T cells and CD45RO⁺ T cells. CD4⁺, CD45RA⁺ and CD45RO⁺ T cells were cultured in the presence or absence of anti-CD2/CD3/CD28 beads and with 0, 100 or 500ng/ml CCL17 for 24 hours (A) or 48 hours (B). Supernatants were collected after culture and analysed for GM-CSF by ELISA. n.d = not detectable.

3.2.6 Immunohistochemistry analysis of RA synovial membranes highlighted the spatial distribution of CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α with CD3 and CD68.

The relationship between GM-CSF stimulated monocytes, CCL17 and CCR4 T cells has been analysed in an *in vitro* system (Section 3.2.5). In order to understand the relationship between these cells in the RA tissue, synovial membranes were analysed by immunohistochemistry. CCL17 was examined to determine whether there was a relationship between the locality of CCL17 and CCR4 positive cells or GM-CSFR α positive cells. CD68 and CD3 were analysed to assess the spatial relationship between CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α with CD68 and CD3.

Synovial membranes from RA patients (n=8) were sectioned consecutively. They were then stained with primary antibodies towards GM-CSFR α , CCR4, CCL17, CD3 and CD68. The sections were scanned using an Aperio ScanScope XT microscope and the intimal lining layer, sub-lining layer, interstitium and aggregates or follicles were analysed and scored for each specific stain in the individual compartments (Figure 3.9). The staining was imaged (Figure 3.10) and scored (Figure 3.11) for each compartment of the RA synovial membrane. CCL17 staining was variable between the RA synovial membranes, however it was relatively highly expressed across all compartments of the section. CCR4 staining was similarly expressed across all compartments of the synovial membrane, but to a lesser degree. GM-CSFR α was highly expressed in the intimal lining layer, with a high percentage of cells expressing GM-CSFR α in the sub-lining and interstitium. The aggregates had significantly lower levels of expression than the intimal lining and the interstitium. Similarly, CD68 was highly expressed in the intimal lining and interstitium, with expression in the sub-lining and aggregates significantly lower. The lowest CD68 expression was in the aggregates with a significantly lower percentage of positive cells than in all other areas of the synovial membrane. Interestingly CD3 was not as highly expressed as CCR4, as there was minimal detection in the intimal lining, and high levels in the aggregates, implying in this context that CCR4 is expressed on cells other than CD3⁺ cells. The GM-CSFR α staining profile was similar to CD68 expression in the intimal lining suggesting that they could be co-expressed.

Based on the observed staining, it is justifiable to surmise that there are potentially interactions between GM-CSFR α positive cells, CCL17 and CCR4 positive cells as they are similarly located within the tissue. This proposes that the *in vitro* finding observed could be relevant within the RA synovial membrane.



Figure 3.9 RA synovial membrane pathology

Representative images of RA synovial membrane indicating the compartments scored in further figures. A) Rabbit polyclonal IgG stained section with haematoxylin counter stain. 1.5 times magnification with arrows indicating aggregates or follicles. B) GM-CSFR α stained section with haematoxylin counter stain. 20 times magnification with black brackets indicating intimal lining and the white brackets indicating the sub-lining.



Figure 3.10 Immunohistochemistry of RA synovial membranes of CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α , CD3, CD68.

Sections were stained for CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α , CD3 and CD68. They were scanned using an Aperio ScanScope XT microscope and analysed using Aperio Imagescope software. Representative images of lining layers (intimal and sub-lining), follicle and interstitium of the 8 RA synovial membranes analysed. Relevant isotype inset.



Figure 3.11 RA synovium scoring compared intimal lining, sub-lining, interstitium and aggregates.

Sections stained in Figure 3.10 were scored for the percentage of cells positive for CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α , CD3 and CD68. The staining score was: <25% of positive cells = 1, 26-50% = 2, 51-75% = 3, >75% = 4. 3 areas for each tissue of each area (intimal lining, sub-lining, interstitium and aggregates) were scored and averaged for each section (n=8). This was repeated for each antibody analysed. Horizontal bar indicates the mean. Statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post test. * = p<0.05, ** = p<0.01, *** = p<0.001, **** = p<0.0001.

3.2.7 Histological comparison between RA and OA synovial membranes.

The RA synovial membranes that were analysed showed the abundance of the GM-CSFR α in the intimal lining layer, coinciding with CD68 expression. CCL17 was observed in all compartments of the synovial membrane in a similar pattern with CCR4. CD3 had low expression in the lining layers but significantly more in the aggregates. To understand whether this was specific to the RA synovial membrane, OA synovial membranes were analysed as a comparison arthropathy (Figure 3.12). OA sections were scored in the same way as the RA sections. 3 areas of the intimal lining layer and the sub-lining layer were scored for each synovial membrane (Figure 3.13). The representative images in Figure 3.12 show a difference between the RA and OA synovial lining layer pathology. The OA synovial membrane had a much thinner lining layer with far fewer cells than in the RA sections. The architecture of the RA synovial membrane lining was much more inflamed with more aggregates and immune cells. CCL17, GM-CSFR α and CD68 were highly expressed in both RA and OA synovial lining layer, with CCR4 at a slightly lower level and CD3 barely present at all. The scoring showed no difference between RA and OA in CCL17, CCR4, GM-CSFR α , CD3 or CD68 in the intimal lining, and only a difference in the CD3 of the sub-lining showing significantly less staining in the OA sections than the RA (Figure 3.13). This scoring did not represent the staining observed, as clearly the RA synovial membranes were much more inflamed and had a greater cellular infiltrate, enlarging the synovial lining. To account for this, the sections were re-scored by counting the number of positively stained cells in a 40x magnification field of the synovial lining (Figure 3.14). This scoring with absolute numbers of positively stained cells, was much more representative and showed significantly fewer positively stained cells for CCL17, CD3 and CD68 in the OA sections. However, GM-CSFR α and CCR4 appear to be slightly lower in OA synovial membranes than RA synovial membranes, but there was no significant difference. The interstitium was also compared between RA and OA synovial membranes. Only CD68 was significantly lower in OA than RA in the interstitium, with CCL17, CCR4 and GM-CSFR α at comparable levels. CD3 was low in both RA and OA, which was why there was no difference.

These results show that the staining pattern and overall pathology should inform the method of scoring to give a true and accurate representation of the observed staining. As the RA synovial membranes were more inflamed, and therefore had a greater cell number, they were pathologically different to OA. Furthermore, the greater cell number observed in RA synovial membranes translated to a greater number of positively stained cells in comparison to OA, suggesting a more inflamed environment. Due to the increased level of CCL17 in RA synovial membranes in comparison to OA, this suggests that CCL17 could have a greater role in RA than OA.



Figure 3.12 IHC of synovial lining of RA and OA sections

OA synovial membranes were histologically stained for CCL17, CCR4 GM-CSFR α , CD3 and CD68 to directly compare with the RA synovial membranes (Figure 3.10). This figure represents the RA (n=8) and OA (n=3) synovial membranes analysed. The same scoring system as the RA synovial membranes was adopted. The relevant isotype inset.



Figure 3.13 RA histological scoring compared with OA in intimal lining, and sub-lining. Histological scoring of the RA and OA synovial membrane intimal lining and sub-lining layers. The scores are averaged from 3 areas of each section and for each antibody stain. <25% of positive cells = 1, 26-50% = 2, 51-75% = 3, >75% = 4. For RA, n=8 and for OA, n=3. Statistically analysed using an unpaired T-Test with * = p<0.05.





Score comparing RA (n=8) and OA (n=3) synovial membranes by counting the number of positively stained cells in the field of view for 5 areas of synovial lining at 40x magnification. To account for differences between RA and OA lining, thickness, the whole field of view was counted, including the intimal and sub-lining layers. Absolute cell numbers graphed with the horizontal bar indicating the median. Statistically analysed with a Mann-Whitney Test. * = p<0.05.





Histological comparison between the interstitium of RA patient synovial membranes and OA patient synovial membranes. (A) Representative images of staining in the interstitium of RA (n=8) and OA (n=3) patients. (B) Score of an average of 3 counted areas of each section in (A) <25% of positive cells = 1, 26-50% = 2, 51-75% = 3, >75% = 4. For RA, n=8 and for OA, n=3. Statistically analysed using an unpaired T-Test with * = p<0.05

3.3 Discussion

There has been an increasing body of evidence supporting the role of GM-CSF in RA. GM-CSF has been reported at high levels in the RA joint (228,273), and monocytes are one of the major infiltrating cells to the inflamed tissues. This chapter has evaluated the effect of GM-CSF on monocytes, as these cells traffic into the inflamed tissue and are subject to many inflammatory stimuli including GM-CSF. GM-CSF caused monocytes to secrete multiple chemokines, rising with increasing GM-CSF concentrations (Figure 3.2). CXCL8, also known as IL-8, was secreted at high levels upon GM-CSF stimulation, which is in accordance with previous literature (274). The variation observed between the different monocyte donors was large, particularly with the production of CCL3, CCL4 and CCL11, as some monocyte donors responded to GM-CSF, and secreted large levels of chemokine whereas others had no response at all. This variation made it hard to interpret the data, however the consistency of CCL17 secretion in all monocyte donors upon GM-CSF stimulation, led us to further evaluate this chemokine.

In RA, there is dysregulation of the immune system causing chronic inflammation (94). We hypothesised the response to GM-CSF in RA patients could be exacerbated, as it is thought that circulating cells are pre-primed, and could therefore be hyper-responsive (275). Therefore we sought to elucidate whether monocytes from RA patients had a greater capacity to secrete CCL17 upon GM-CSF stimulation. RA monocytes secreted comparable levels of CCL17 as the healthy monocytes suggesting that these monocytes were not hyper-responsive to GM-CSF (Figure 3.3A). Interestingly, with higher concentrations of GM-CSF (100ng/ml) the level of CCL17 produced did not saturate as might be expected but decreases. The reason for this is unknown, however, it has been found that macrophages upon GM-CSF stimulation do not produce CCL17 (MedImmune, unpublished), therefore it is possible that the monocytes after 24 hours with high concentrations of GM-CSF are already committed to a differentiated macrophage, and therefore are no longer required to producing as much CCL17. Upon entering the rheumatoid joint, the migrating monocytes would be subject to GM-CSF and as we have found, they would produce CCL17. CCL17 has previously been described to be a chemokine secreted by dendritic cells in the inflamed lung and skin in response to TSLP (262,268). TSLP has recently been

implicated in RA pathogenesis, with significantly higher levels of the protein in synovial fluid of RA patients compared with OA patients. There was also a significant decrease in the level of TSLP as disease improved upon treatment with anti-TNF α therapy, and in a TNF α dependent mouse model, neutralising TSLP led to improved disease scores. (268,276). Furthermore, monocytes are known to expresses the TSLP Receptor (TSLPR) (276), so we aimed to define whether monocytes, like dendritic cells, could produce CCL17 upon TSLP stimulation. Monocytes were unable to secrete CCL17 when treated with TSLP despite expressing the TSLP receptor (277) (Figure 3.3B), suggesting discrete, separate mechanisms of CCL17 production by monocytes and dendritic cells. However, a positive control, using dendritic cells to confirm activity of TSLP, would be required for any conclusions.

The synovial milieu, that monocytes enter, contains DAMPs and PAMPs, and therefore we investigated whether co-stimulation of monocytes with PAMPs would effect the CCL17 secretion. RA monocytes were compared with healthy monocytes to determine whether they both have the same response to LPS. Surprisingly, the co-stimulation of monocytes with GM-CSF and LPS caused inhibition of CCL17 (Figure 3.4A). This was consistent across RA and healthy monocytes. To elucidate whether this was just a TLR4 specific phenomenon, we used several TLR agonists, which all caused inhibition of the CCL17 pathway (Figure 3.4). This was an unexpected finding, as LPS is known to exacerbate the production of cytokines and chemokines in monocytes such as IL-6, TNF α and CXCL8 (IL-8) (255). We therefore aimed to confirm these findings by examining the transcript expression over time with GM-CSF and LPS stimulation. Upon GM-CSF stimulation, the CCL17 transcript became more highly expressed between 6 and 18 hours until 24 hours, whereas LPS prevented any CCL17 transcript upregulation (Figure 3.5). This suggests LPS prevents GM-CSF induced CCL17 transcription, either directly or indirectly. Intriguingly, the CCL22 transcript was also up-regulated by GM-CSF, however this was much more variable between the monocyte donors. The transcript also appeared to be inhibited by LPS. CCL22 was not as consistent as CCL17, and would need to be analysed for a greater time to see a difference. Despite not seeing an upregulation in CCL22 protein after 24 hours of GM-CSF stimulation (Figure 3.2), collaborators have found CCL22 to be highly up-regulated after 48 hours (data not shown). Therefore, the

kinetics of this transcript would need to be analysed for a longer period of time. The inhibition of CCL17 and CCL22 by LPS is interesting as they are both ligands for CCR4, suggesting a CCR4 ligand specific phenomenon. Furthermore, as CCR4 is a chemokine receptor on Th17 cells (186), TLR-mediated inhibition of CCR4 ligands is potentially a regulatory mechanism to prevent excessive migration of Th17 cells into the inflamed tissue. Due to multiple TLR ligands in the synovial fluid, it would also be interesting to confirm the effect of the synovial fluid on GM-CSF driven CCL17. Therefore we are going to further investigate this in Chapter 4. To confirm that the LPS was effective and the observations with CCL17 and CCL22 were correct, we analysed the CXCL8 transcript, and as expected saw an up-regulation in the transcript after 6 hours with GM-CSF and LPS co-stimulation. Therefore, the CCL17 inhibition by LPS was a true and novel observation, leading us to question the mechanism causing this inhibition.

A parallel investigation into the cause of TLR-mediated inhibition of GM-CSF driven CCL17 transcription suggested inhibition could be regulated by SOCS3. We attempted to investigate whether SOCS3 was involved but whilst we could successfully reduce SOCS3 expression in cells using siRNA, the transfection reagents significantly modified the behaviour of primary monocytes and therefore we were unable to draw any conclusions from these experiments. Further experiments of negative regulators of inflammation should be considered.

To assess the impact of GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in monocytes, we analysed the effect of CCL17 on non-activated and activated T cells to determine whether they up-regulated GM-CSF secretion. We hypothesised that CCL17, produced by monocytes under GM-CSF stimulation, caused CCR4 positive T cells to upregulate GM-CSF in a positive feedback loop. Total CD4 cells were analysed and they were also divided into naïve (CD45RA⁺) and memory (CD45RO⁺). The CCR4⁺ T cells would be in the memory compartment, as previous studies have identified high levels of CCR4 expression in memory T cells (278,279), and naïve T cells were used as a comparator. All categories of T cell, when activated, secreted GM-CSF, with memory T cells producing more than the matched naïve T cells (Figure 3.8). T cells have previously shown to secrete GM-CSF (222,280), however the effect of CCL17 on this secretion was unknown. Increasing concentrations of CCL17 over 24 or 48 hours had no effect on the level of GM- CSF produced. This suggests that CCL17 in this system, acts purely as a chemokine, instigating the migration of CCR4⁺ T cells to the tissue, where upon activation by antigen, produce GM-CSF (Figure 3.16). Previous studies also support this hypothesis, as CCL17 causes CCR4⁺ T cells to migrate towards the chemokine (281). Interestingly, GM-CSF has been shown to be produced by Th17 cells, and an RORyT binding site is present in the GM-CSF promoter, suggesting Th17 cells are the main producers of GM-CSF (228,282,283). This supports our hypothesis that CCR4⁺ T cells such as Th17 cells produce GM-CSF. However, there is also evidence to suggest that other T cells can produce GM-CSF. These include cells that are Th1, Th2 and Th17 independent as they do not express their master transcription factors or their signature cytokines, however they secrete GM-CSF (228,280,284). Some propose that these GM-CSF producing T cells are in fact a distinct, pathogenic subset (280,284,285). Our data also supports this theory as naïve T cells, which were not expected to produce GM-CSF, also secreted GM-CSF, however, this was at lower levels than memory T cells. Despite the subset or classification of T cells, (whether they are Th17, or a specific GM-CSF producing T cell) they migrate to the inflamed tissue in response to CCL17, and secrete GM-CSF when they receive activation cues.

This data was analysed in vitro, therefore, to determine the relevance to the RA synovial tissue, synovial membranes were analysed by immunohistochemistry. This allowed us to evaluate the relationship between GM-CSFR α and CCL17 with CCR4 and in relation to CD68 and CD3. To gauge where these proteins were located within the tissue, they were scored in the intimal lining, sub-lining, interstitium and the aggregates or follicles (Figure 3.10, Figure 3.11). These areas have been well defined in the RA synovial membranes for scoring (286-288). This analysis therefore initially defined that CCL17 was in all areas of the tissue, CCR4 was not specific to one area whereas CD3 was not highly expressed in the lining layers but was more apparent in the follicles. CD3 and CCR4 would be expected to be co-expressed as most of the literature indicates CCR4 is a chemokine receptor on T cells, specifically Th2, Th17 and Treg cells(186,264,281). However, there have been some studies indicating that CCR4 is also present on other cells. CCR4 has been identified on monocytes at higher levels on RA peripheral blood monocytes than on normal peripheral blood monocytes (289). CCR4 has also been found on platelets (290), but is in the main
expressed on T cells. Therefore, the unexpected, differing expression of CCR4 with CD3, could potentially be explained by Katschke et al., with CCR4 expression at higher levels on RA monocytes. This therefore could also be the case in the synovial membrane. The CCR4 expression in the synovial lining was high and this theory could therefore be explained by the high level of CD68 also present in the intimal and sub-lining. CD68 was high in the lining layers, and significantly lower in the aggregates. This was consistent with previous analysis (291). GM-CSFR α had a similar distribution as the CD68, which was also consistent with the literature, as they have been shown to be co-expressed (238). Finding CCL17 in all areas of the synovial membrane suggests that it is playing a part in RA pathogenesis. It was variable between RA donors, but we also found the responsiveness of monocytes to produce CCL17 after GM-CSF stimulation quite variable, some with as much as 10 fold differences (Figure 3.3A). To improve the understanding of how CCL17, CCR4 and GM-CSFR α interact, double fluorescent microscopy would have allowed us to examine the specific cell types expressing CCR4 and GM-CSFR α . It would also shown the interaction of CCL17 with the cells of the synovial membrane. Double fluorescent microscopy was attempted (data not shown), however there were issues with spectral overlap that were proving too difficult to overcome in the time period. For this reason, consecutive sections were analysed to give the greatest understanding possible without co-staining. As these proteins were all found in the RA synovial membrane, and potentially support our hypothesis outlined in Figure 3.16, we wanted to assess whether these observations were specific to RA synovial membranes.

OA synovial membranes were used as a comparator arthropathy, as the mechanism of disease is recognised to be less inflammatory with different factors driving disease in comparison to RA. The ideal comparator would be healthy synovial membrane, however, this tissue was unavailable. The OA tissue was able to provide insight into whether or not the expression of the proteins we analysed in RA, was disease specific or an aspect of synovial pathology. The initial observation of the OA synovial membranes was how the synovial lining layer was much thinner in comparison to RA. Also, the cells were much more widely distributed in the interstitium and there were no aggregates. There is heterogeneity between OA synovial membranes, as aggregates have been observed in other OA tissues, however there were none in the sections analysed in this study. Furthermore, in the 3 OA synovial membranes I examined, the intimal lining layers were similar in their thickness, however in more inflamed OA tissues, this can be much thicker and it is in the inflamed tissues where aggregates are more likely to occur (292,293). The initial scoring system we used was the same that was used with the RA synovial membranes, by dividing the tissue into compartments (Figure 3.12, Figure 3.13). This showed no difference between the RA and OA synovial membranes in the intimal lining layer, which we decided was not representative of the sections. Therefore we used a different scoring system that involved counting the positive cells in a 40x magnification field. This method was much more representative of the inflammatory status of the tissue, and took into account the thickness of the lining layer. This led to significant differences in CCL17, CD68 and CD3 expression between RA and OA synovial lining. There was still no statistical difference in GM-CSFR α and CCR4 expression between RA and OA, however there was a slight decrease in the numbers of positive cells in the OA sections. The low number of analysed OA synovial membranes potentially explains this, and to improve the reliability of the results, increasing the number of sections analysed would allow a more accurate representation. GM-CSF has also been implicated in OA pain and it could have a role in the inflammatory aspects of OA, suggesting a role for GM-CSFR α expression in OA tissue (294). Despite not having statistical significance in all of the analysed proteins, this data begins to reveal that there is a difference between RA and OA synovial membranes. This was particularly apparent with the increased immune cell population in RA and the number of cells positive for CCL17. The immunohistochemistry supported our rationale, that CCL17 is involved in RA pathogenesis, the RA synovium is highly inflamed with CD68 and CD3 cells and that GM-CSFR α is highly expressed.

In summation, these findings have found a novel aspect of biology, in which monocytes under GM-CSF stimulation, produce CCL17. CCL17 is unable to activate CCR4⁺ T cells to produce GM-CSF, however activated CD4 T cells will produce GM-CSF and CCL17 as a chemokine, attracts more CCR4⁺ T cells to the tissue. The GM-CSF signalling pathway can be inhibited by TLR ligands, via an as yet unknown mechanism, proposing a unique TLR/GM-CSFR signalling interaction. To give this work context to RA disease pathology, RA synovial

membranes were analysed and show CCL17, GM-CSFR α and CCR4 expressed in the same compartments of the tissue, suggesting interactions. Interestingly, the circulating levels of CCL17 and CCL22 were reduced in patients following treatment with anti-GM-CSFR α (Mavilimumab) suggesting a role for these chemokines in RA (295). Therefore, further investigation is required to evaluate monocytes under synovial environment conditions.



Figure 3.16 Schematic detailing our hypothesis.

Monocytes secrete CCL17 upon stimulation with GM-CSF. This chemoattracts CCR4 T cells to the tissue, where they are activated by antigen presenting cells (APCs), or receive cues from cytokines such as IL-23, IL-12 and IL-2 to secrete GM-CSF. This GM-CSF then stimulates the monocytes to secrete CCL17 in a positive feedback loop. The initial factor driving this loop is unknown, as without the monocyte, there would be no CCL17, therefore no T Cell recruitment. Without T cells, there would be no GM-CSF and therefore no stimulation of the monocytes. However, TLR ligands that are autologous to the synovial fluid can inhibit this pathway by preventing GM-CSFR signalling in the monocyte thereby preventing CCL17 secretion.

Chapter 4 The impact of the synovial environment on the GM-CSF/CCL17 axis

4.1 Introduction

The previous chapter analysed the effect of GM-CSF on monocytes. After identifying GM-CSF as a potent cytokine that induced monocytes to secrete CCL17, the capacity for this pathway to be inhibited by TLR ligands was also identified.

The synovial environment is a complex milieu that contains endogenous TLR ligands such as HMGB1 and S100 proteins. These endogenous proteins can be cytosolic proteins released as result of cell damage or necrosis. They are also known as Danger Associated Molecular Patterns (DAMPs) and are involved in perpetuating inflammation due to the downstream TLR pathways (91). TLR activation leads to the secretion of pro-inflammatory factors such as IL-1 β , TNF α and MMPs, which are known to further activate immune cells or lead to tissue degradation (80,255). The synovial milieu, that contains DAMPs, is heterogeneous between RA donors, however, it has been profiled proteomically and metabolically to try and identify biomarkers (132,133).

Proteomic analysis of RA synovial fluid and OA synovial fluid identified several up-regulated proteins in RA synovial fluid in comparison to OA. In particular, several DAMPs including S100A8, S100A9 and S100A12 were up-regulated 9-fold, 29-fold and 33-fold respectively in comparison to OA (133). They were also found to be highly expressed in RA synovial fluid in comparison to OA synovial fluid in a previous study (84). The increase in S100 protein expression in RA synovial fluid has led to research on their role. They can bind TLRs and lead to monocyte activation (269). There were other proteins that were up-regulated in RA synovial fluid such as Coronin A, actin binding protein 1, and fibrinogen-like 2 amongst several others, highlighting its complexity and the number of mediators that could exacerbate inflammation (133).

DAMPS in the synovial milieu are not the only factors that are associated with RA pathogenesis. There are also immune complexes that form in the synovial tissue such as rheumatoid factor and ACPA immune complexes that are present in the

majority of RA patients and are associated with a more destructive disease phenotype (296). ACPAs are auto-antibodies to citrullinated proteins such as fibrinogen, fibrin and vimentin (94,297,298). Immune complexes activate monocytes and macrophages through $Fc\gamma Rs$, leading to up-regulation in the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as $TNF\alpha$ (299,300). There is also evidence to suggest that immune complexes engage both $Fc\gamma R$ and TLRs. In macrophages stimulated with citrullinated fibrinogen (cFib) alone or citrullinated fibrinogen immune complexes (cFib-IC), the cFib activated TLR4 and the MyD88 pathway, and cFib-IC engaged both $Fc\gamma R$ and TLR4. Inhibiting TLR4 significantly reduced the amount of $TNF\alpha$ secreted from macrophages, highlighting the exacerbated inflammatory response (298).

To add to the DAMPs and immune complexes in the synovial milieu that can activate cells, there are also cytokines that enhance inflammation. Cytokine profiles of RA synovial fluid has indicated an increase in TNF α , IL-1 α , IL-2 and IFN α in comparison to OA synovial fluid (301-303). IFN α is a member of the type I interferon family and was highly up-regulated in sero-positive RA (302). Type I interferons have increasingly been implicated in RA pathology as an upregulation of interferon stimulated genes have been identified in RA patients. IFN α increases MHC expression and activation of macrophages and lymphocytes (3). Interestingly, type I interferon responses may identify a clinically distinct subset of RA, by a distinct molecular phenotype, with increased activity from the innate immune system (304).

The heterogeneity of RA synovial fluid has made the understanding of its impact on cells difficult to interpret. The previous chapter analysed the effect of GM-CSF on monocytes and the impact on monocytes of TLR agonist co-stimulation. To understand the effect of the GM-CSF stimulation on monocytes in a synovial environment, this chapter aims to dissect the effect of synovial fluid on GM-CSF stimulated monocytes.

Chapter Aims:

• To assess the cytokine and chemokine content of RA synovial fluid.

- To analyse the impact of synovial fluid co-stimulation on GM-CSF stimulated monocytes.
- To elucidate the underlying mechanism causing the observed effect by synovial fluid.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 RA synovial fluid contains a higher concentration of cytokines and chemokines in comparison to OA.

The synovial milieu, despite several studies analysing its content, is a heterogeneous environment that is incompletely defined. To assess the cytokine and chemokine content of synovial fluids, RA and OA synovial fluids were analysed by MSD (Section 2.7.4). RA synovial fluids can interact with antibody based assays due to rheumatoid factor leading to up-regulated readings, whereas MSD technology contains a buffer that prevents this. The RA synovial fluids had variable levels of cytokine (Figure 4.1). 2 of the 4 RA synovial fluids had elevated levels of GM-CSF, IFN γ , IL-12p70 and IL-10. All 4 RA synovial fluids had higher levels of IL-6 and TNF α compared to OA synovial fluids, however, there was no significant difference between the cytokine levels of RA and OA synovial fluids. The OA synovial fluids had very little of all analysed cytokines apart from IL-6 where there were slightly increased levels, however this was variable between the fluids.

The OA synovial fluids had a greater chemokine content than cytokine, and in some instances comparable with the RA synovial fluids. This was the case for CCL3, CCL4, CCL13, CCL17 and CCL22, suggesting that these synovial fluids could be from OA patients with a more substantial inflammatory component in their disease (305)(Figure 4.2). The RA synovial fluids had slightly increased levels of CCL2, CXCL8 and CXCL10, however this was not to a significant level potentially due to the small numbers analysed.

The comparison of synovial fluids from RA and OA patients showed that there was a large level of variability between donors, but on the whole the RA synovial fluids had more inflammatory mediators than the OA synovial fluids. Several studies have shown up-regulated levels of cytokines and chemokines in RA synovial fluid in comparison to OA synovial fluid (137,301,302). Therefore in order to compare with the literature, it would be important to increase the number of analysed synovial fluids, as heterogeneity between synovial fluids makes them difficult to conclusively analyse.



115

Figure 4.1 Cytokines in Synovial Fluid RA synovial fluids (n=4) and OA synovial fluids (n=3) were analysed using cytokine multiplex MSD technology. Horizontal bars represent median. Statistical analysis using Mann-Whitney Test. No statistical differences observed.



Figure 4.2 Chemokines in Synovial Fluid

RA synovial fluids (n=4) and OA synovial fluids (n=3) were analysed using chemokine multiplex MSD technology. Horizontal bars represent median. Statistical analysis using Mann-Whitney Test. No statistical differences observed.

4.2.2 Synovial fluid impacts GM-CSF stimulated monocyte CCL17 secretion.

RA synovial fluid contains cytokines and chemokines (Figure 4.1, Figure 4.2), however there variability was observed between different patients. Chapter 3 assessed the ability for TLR ligands to inhibit GM-CSF induced CCL17. Therefore, as RA synovial fluid is known to contain many endogenous TLR ligands or DAMPS, the effect of RA synovial fluid on GM-CSF stimulated monocytes was investigated. Furthermore, the evaluation of synovial fluid on GM-CSF stimulated monocytes mimicked the impact of the synovial environment on monocytes upon entry into the synovium in RA. Monocytes were co-stimulated with GM-CSF (1ng/ml) and synovial fluid (2.5% and 5%) for 24 hours, after which supernatants were analysed for chemokine expression. Co-stimulation of GM-CSF with RA or OA synovial fluid had no effect on CCL2 and CCL11 secretion in comparison to GM-CSF alone (Figure 4.3A). RA synovial fluid had varying effects on CXCL8 induction when co-stimulated with GM-CSF, however, there was no significant induction above the level of GM-CSF alone. Co-stimulation of GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid caused no showed no significant inhibition CCL22, but it did appear to have a slight decrease in induction. OA synovial fluid had no impact on CCL22 induction. Interestingly, co-stimulation of GM-CSF with OA synovial fluid, at both 2.5% and 5% caused a significant inhibition of CCL3 and CCL4, whereas RA synovial fluid co-stimulation had no effect on these chemokines.

CCL17, which was induced by GM-CSF, and inhibited by TLR ligands (Figure 3.4), was significantly inhibited by RA synovial fluids at both 2.5% and 5% (Figure 4.3B). OA synovial fluid had a much more variable effect on GM-CSF driven CCL17. Each synovial fluid caused a different response, as co-stimulation with GM-CSF in some instances caused exacerbation of CCL17 in comparison to the GM-CSF alone control, whereas in others caused inhibition or no change. This suggests that there is a factor consistently present in RA synovial fluid, but not in OA synovial fluid, that causes inhibition of GM-CSF induced CCL17.



GM-CSF

Figure 4.3 Synovial Fluid impact on GM-CSF induced chemokines.

Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=4) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF with or without 2.5% / 5% synovial fluid from RA patients (n=4) or OA patients (n=4) for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analysed by MSD for multiple chemokines (A) and CCL17 (B). Data analysed as percentage change due to the large variation between monocyte donors, with GM-CSF alone made to 100% and all other conditions compared to this. GM-CSF alone absolute values ranged between 300 and 6000pg/ml. Synovial fluid stimulated monocytes analysed as induction, to discount any chemokine already in the synovial fluid. Statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA and bonferroni's post test. * = p < 0.05 and ** = p < 0.01.

4.2.3 Transcript analysis of the kinetics of synovial fluid inhibition.

RA synovial fluid caused significant inhibition of CCL17 protein induction by GM-CSF. There was heterogeneity between the OA synovial fluids, leading to varied capacities to inhibit CCL17. Therefore to investigate the mechanism of synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17, RA synovial fluids were used due to their robust inhibition. LPS prevented CCL17 transcript induction (Figure 3.5), so it was investigated whether RA synovial fluid also affected CCL17 transcription. A time course analysing the CCL17 transcript was undertaken, where monocytes were co-stimulated with GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid, and transcripts were analysed at 6, 18 and 24 hours relative to 0hr. The CCL17 transcript was induced by GM-CSF stimulation between 6 and 18 hours (Figure 4.4). The RA synovial fluids analysed both prevented induction of the transcript. The monocyte donors were variable in their induction of CCL17 transcript, however there was still a significant difference at 18 and 24 hours between the GM-CSF stimulated monocytes and co-stimulated monocytes with GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid. The CCL22 transcript was also up-regulated at 18 and 24 hours after GM-CSF stimulation. Similarly, the RA synovial fluids prevented induction of this transcript, as there was significantly lower CCL22 transcript at 18 and 24 hours. The CXCL8 transcript was induced by GM-CSF at 6 hours, but RA synovial fluids were not able to inhibit the induction of this transcript. However, the mRNA peak for CXCL8 was potentially before the 6 hour time point and therefore missed. The transcript and protein data were similar, suggesting that the inhibition of CCL17 protein by RA synovial fluid was due to inhibition of transcription (Figure 4.3B).

These data data shows that the observed induction of the CCL17 protein was directly due to the increase in transcript expression, as expected, however the inhibition by synovial fluids, observed in the protein, can be attributed to the failure of transcription of CCL17. The CCL22 transcript induction did not correlate with the protein observation although it was similar, as the transcript was significantly inhibited by RA synovial fluid, but only a slight decrease in CCL22 protein. This was not significant or as robust as the effect of RA synovial fluid on the transcript. However, this analysis suggests a CCR4 ligand specific phenomenon, whereby RA synovial fluid inhibits GM-CSF stimulated monocyte

induction of these chemokines in a similar manner to LPS as observed in Chapter 3.





Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with GM-CSF or co-stimulated with 5% RA synovial fluid (n=2). Transcripts (CCL17, CCL22 and CXCL8) were analysed at time 0, 6, 18 and 24 hours after stimulation. Analysis in comparison to GUSB housekeeping and RQ calculated in relation to time 0. Statistically analysed using 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post test. ** = p<0.01, *** = p<0.001.

4.2.4 Synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 is not via extracellular inhibition of a secreted factor.

The CCL17 transcript was up-regulated after GM-CSF stimulation between 6 and 18 hours (Figure 4.4). This was an extended period of time between GM-CSF stimulation and CCL17 transcript up-regulation. Therefore it was hypothesised that GM-CSF could be inducing the secretion of an extracellular factor, that further stimulated the monocytes and led to CCL17 transcription. The synovial fluid could then potentially inhibit this extracellular secreted factor.

To evaluate whether a secreted factor, via GM-CSF signalling, led to CCL17 secretion, conditioned media was used. Conditioned media was made by incubating monocytes, from 3 individual buffy coat donors, for 4, 6 and 8 hours with 1ng/ml GM-CSF. The media was then pooled before addition to further monocytes. Conditioned media alone caused CCL17 induction in monocytes, which was potentially due to presence of GM-CSF in the media (Figure 4.5). Therefore, to overcome this issue, monocytes were pre-treated with Mavrilimumab (CAM3001) to prevent residual GM-CSF in the media causing an up-regulation in CCL17. Monocytes pre-treated with mavrilimumab were unable to induce CCL17 secretion after conditioned media treatment.

This data suggested that the up-regulation of CCL17 transcription after GM-CSF signalling was not indirect via a secreted factor. Therefore, this data supports the theory that RA synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 is via intracellular signalling inhibition rather than extracellular inhibition. GM-CSF leads to the transcription of the CCL17 gene via JAK2 and STAT5 (Figure 1.4). It has been shown that STAT5 leads to the transcription of the transcription factor IRF4 and it is IRF4 that induces transcription of the CCL17 gene (345). Therefore, synovial fluid could be inhibiting either transcription of IRF4 or the transcription of CCL17 by IRF4.



Figure 4.5 Conditioned media from GM-CSF stimulated monocytes was unable to induce CCL17.

Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF for 4, 6 and 8 hours whereby supernatants were collected and pooled from the donors and frozen. Monocytes from 3 further buffy coats were pre-treated with CAM3001 or CAT004 for 30 minutes before the addition of the conditioned media for 24 hours. 1ng/ml GM-CSF used to stimulate control monocytes. Supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA.

4.2.5 Delaying the co-stimulation with RA synovial fluid still inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL17.

The transcriptional time course showed how the CCL17 transcript was not upregulated by GM-CSF until between 6 and 18 hours, however the delay from GM-CSF signalling to CCL17 transcription was not due to an intermediate extracellular secreted molecule. Therefore, inhibition of CCL17 by RA synovial fluid was intracellular, but the time at which the inhibition was occurring was unknown. To assess when the inhibition by synovial fluid occurred, a further time course was performed. This time course involved adding synovial fluid at multiple time points after the monocytes were stimulated with GM-CSF, with the level of CCL17 protein analysed after 24 hours. With the addition of RA synovial fluid at 0 hours, CCL17 was significantly inhibited (Figure 4.6). However, when the RA synovial fluid was added at up to 4 hours after the initial stimulation with GM-CSF, the CCL17 transcript was still inhibited. At 6 hours after GM-CSF stimulation, the RA synovial fluid was less able to inhibit CCL17 and there was an increase in the variability between the monocyte donors. When the synovial fluid was added to the GM-CSF stimulated monocytes after 8 hours, there was no longer any inhibition and much more variable responses from each monocyte donor.

This data implies that the signalling cascade downstream of GM-CSF receptor resulting in CCL17 induction is complex, allowing the synovial fluid to have ability to inhibit CCL17 transcription despite addition 4 hours after GM-CSF stimulation. The synovial fluid potentially inhibits factors that are much further downstream of GM-CSF receptor signalling, or leads to promoter silencing or transcript degradation.



Delayed addition of SF on CCL17 inhibition



Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF. RA synovial fluid (n=1) was added at 0, 1, 2, 4, 6 or 8 hours after the initial GM-CSF stimulation. Supernatants were taken at 24 hours after GM-CSF stimulation and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. Statistically analysed using a 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post test. ** = P<0.01.

4.2.6 Synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 is TLR independent.

RA synovial fluid inhibition of GM-CSF induced CCL17 was a robust finding that occurred in all analysed synovial fluids to all monocyte donors. To have such a consistent effect suggests a factor present within all RA synovial fluids. The mechanism of this inhibition was unknown, but as the synovial milieu contains many DAMPs that bind TLRs, it was hypothesised that TLRs could be mediating this inhibition. The previous chapter analysed the TLR induced inhibition of CCL17, therefore the synovial fluid could be influencing the GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in the same mechanism. Initially, it was investigated whether TLR2 or TLR4 were involved, so inhibiting antibodies were used. Initially a dose response was tested to determine the concentration of antibodies to use in the assay. The inhibiting anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 were pre-incubated with monocytes for 30 minutes prior to the addition of the relevant TLR ligand (LPS or FSL1). This preincubation was to allow the antibodies to bind to the receptor to prevent competition with the ligand. With no antibody, after GM-CSF stimulation, both LPS and FSL1 inhibited CCL17, as predicted (Figure 4.7A). The IgG1 isotype had no effect on the inhibition of CCL17 by LPS or FSL1, which was to be expected. The anti-TLR4 antibody successfully prevented LPS from inhibiting GM-CSF induced CCL17 secretion at all concentrations analysed. The anti-TLR2 antibody was not as successful at preventing the binding of FSL1 to TLR2. At $1\mu g/ml$, there was no difference between the FSL1 alone and the pre-treated with the antibody. At $3\mu g/ml$ and $10\mu g/ml$ there was a slight increase in the level of CCL17 secreted, suggesting that it had partially inhibited TLR2. For the following assay, both antibodies were used at $10\mu g/ml$.

To examine whether the anti-TLR2 or anti-TLR4 antibodies could reverse the inhibition of CCL17 observed with RA synovial co-stimulation with GM-CSF, they were used both individually or in combination. Monocytes were pre-treated with the anti-TLR2, anti-TLR4 or both for 30 minutes prior to the co-stimulation with RA synovial fluid. Stimulation with GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid significantly inhibited the ability of monocytes to secrete CCL17, as previously observed (Figure 4.3). The anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 antibodies individually or in combination were unable to reverse the inhibition by RA synovial fluid. However, as the anti-TLR2 antibody did not have good inhibition, this was potentially only anti-TLR4 antibody that was unable to reverse the inhibition by RA synovial fluid.

(Figure 4.7). This suggests that RA synovial fluid inhibition of GM-CSF driven CCL17 is either via a different TLR or another distinct mechanism.









Figure 4.7 TLR2 and TLR4 inhibiting antibodies could not reverse the CCL17 inhibition by RA synovial fluid.

A) Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=2) were pre-treated with increasing doses of anti-TLR4, anti-TLR2 antibodies, or with the relevant isotype, for 30 minutes. Monocytes were then stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF with either 10ng/ml LPS (TLR4) or 10ng/ml FSL1 (TLR2) for 24 hours. B) Monocytes from buffy coats (n=3) were pre-treated with 10 μ g/ml anti-TLR4, anti-TLR2 antibodies, in combination or with relevant isotype, IgG1 for 30 minutes. Monocytes were further stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF or co-stimulated with 5% RA synovial fluid (n=3). The supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. B) statistically analysed by 2-way ANOVA with Bonferonni's post test. **** = p<0.0001.

The RA synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 was not reversed using anti-TLR2 or anti-TLR4 antibodies, either individually or in combination. Therefore, to determine whether inhibition of CCL17 by RA synovial fluid was due to multiple TLR agonists within the synovial fluid, MyD88/TRIF double knockout mice were used, which are unable to signal through any TLR pathway. MyD88/TRIF knockout mouse monocytes were isolated from the bone marrow and stimulated with GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid. The purity of the monocytes isolated from the bone marrow, was analysed by flow cytometry to ensure the cultured cells were pure. The total bone marrow contained 14.6% cells that were CD11b, Ly6C positive and the isolated monocytes were 83.9% pure, which was within the expected range (Figure 4.8A-D).

Upon GM-CSF stimulation, the wildtype monocytes secreted CCL17, which was comparable with human monocytes. In the wildtype monocytes, GM-CSF induced CCL17 secretion was inhibited by RA synovial fluid (Figure 4.8E). LPS was used as a control as it also inhibited CCL17 in wildtype monocytes. GM-CSF stimulation of the MyD88/TRIF double knockout monocyte caused secretion of CCL17, however, this was at lower levels in comparison to the wildtype. LPS was unable to inhibit the induction of CCL17, confirming that these monocytes were unable to signal via TLRs. Interestingly, RA synovial fluid caused inhibition of CCL17 in the MyD88/TRIF knockout monocytes. Although, this was not a significant inhibition due to the variation in the GM-CSF alone condition, the level of CCL17 secreted in the RA synovial fluid co-stimulation was lower than the wildtype control.

RA synovial fluid still had the ability to inhibit GM-CSF induced CCL17 in MyD88/TRIF double knockout monocytes. This suggests the mechanism causing inhibition of CCL17 by RA synovial fluid is TLR independent.



Figure 4.8 MyD88/TRIF knockout mouse monocyte GM-CSF induced CCL17 induction inhibited by RA synovial fluid.

Monocytes isolated from bone marrow were assessed for purity. A) Bone marrow cells which were further gated for single cells (B). The CD11b and Ly6C positive cells were analysed in total bone marrow (C) and the isolated monocytes (D). Wildtype (C57BL/6) (n=4) and MyD88/TRIF double knockout (n=4) mouse monocytes were isolated from bone marrow and stimulated with 10ng/ml GM-CSF or co-stimulated with 10ng/ml LPS or 5% RA synovial fluid (n=1) (E). Statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA with Boferroni's post test. *** = p<0.001, **** = p<0.0001, ns = not significant.

4.2.7 IFN α and small immune complexes can inhibit the induction of CCL17 by GM-CSF stimulation.

Synovial fluid not only contains endogenous TLR ligands, but also high levels of immune complexes and type I interferons, and it was hypothesised that other factors could lead to the inhibition of GM-CSF induced CCL17. Therefore, we investigated small immune complexes and IFN α and the impact on CCL17, when co-stimulated with GM-CSF. Small immune complexes (SIC) were formed by making an IgG-SpA complex, at a ratio of 2 IgG to 4 SpA molecules, using a pre-defined method from the group (Section 2.3.1). Monocytes co-stimulated with SIC had a significant down-regulation in the level of GM-CSF induced CCL17 produced, comparable with the level of inhibition observed in the RA synovial fluid (Figure 4.9A). The IgG and SpA alone controls were unable to inhibit CCL17, suggesting the molecules had to form immune complexes in order to inhibit CCL17. This suggests that Fc Receptor-mediating signalling, via immune complexes, can also contribute to the inhibitory milieu that results in the inhibition of GM-CSF driven CCL17.

To establish whether immune complexes are a component of the inhibitory factor in synovial fluid causing the down-regulation of CCL17, immune complexes were depleted from RA synovial fluid. Using magnetic protein G, protein A or protein A/G/L beads, synovial fluids were depleted and compared to their matched, non-depleted synovial fluid to assess their ability to inhibit CCL17 in monocytes after GM-CSF stimulation. There was no difference between protein G or protein A depleted RA synovial fluid in comparison to complete synovial fluid, despite the non-significant difference between GM-CSF alone and protein G depleted synovial fluid (Figure 4.9B). This was in relation to their ability to inhibit CCL17. Protein A/G/L depleted synovial fluid caused a greater inhibition of CCL17 than the non-depleted synovial fluid. This was an unexpected finding as depleting the synovial fluid of immune complexes would be expected to potentially reverse the inhibition. The level of inhibition was comparable to the LPS inhibition, therefore it was suggested that there was potential endotoxin contamination in the depleted synovial fluid, through the reagents used for the depletion. To assess whether this was the case, the depleted and complete synovial fluids were analysed for endotoxin using the kinetic limulus assay. The results of this assay showed that there was no contamination, compared with the LPS positive control (Figure 4.9C). Therefore, the greater inhibition observed in the protein A/G/L depleted synovial fluid was not due to endotoxin contamination.

To elucidate whether another major component of RA synovial fluid could cause inhibition of GM-CSF induced CCL17 that would not have been removed after depletion of immune complexes, type I interferons were analysed. To investigate this, monocytes were co-stimulated with GM-CSF and 10ng/ml or 100ng/ml IFN α . LPS was used as a positive control. At both 10ng/ml and 100ng/ml, IFN α inhibited the GM-CSF driven CCL17 (Figure 4.10). At 100ng/ml, the level of inhibition was significant and at a similar level to that of LPS. The ability of IFN α to cause inhibition of CCL17 supports the concept that there are multiple factors within synovial fluid causing the inhibition as TLR ligands also have this ability.

These data suggest that there are multiple methods of causing inhibition of GM-CSF induced CCL17 including by IFN α and small immune complex co-stimulation. This suggests that as synovial fluid contains many of the factors that have been found to cause inhibition, there are several mechanisms in which synovial fluid can employ to cause inhibition of CCL17 after GM-CSF stimulation of monocytes.



Figure 4.9 Immune Complexes inhibit CCL17, but depletion was unable to reverse the inhibition.

A) Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF, with or without RA synovial fluid (n=1) or small immune complexes formed from complexing 2 human IgG molecules with 4 SpA molecules. IgG and SpA used alone as controls. B) Protein A, Protein G or Protein A/G/L magnetic beads were used to deplete RA synovial fluids (protein A n=3, protein G n=2, protein A/G/L n=5). Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF and RA synovial fluids with matched depleted synovial fluids. Supernatants were collected after 24 hours and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA (A and B). C) Depleted and non-depleted synovial fluids were analysed for endotoxin contamination by the kinetic limulus assay. 10ng/ml LPS was used as a positive control. Statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test with Dunn's post test. * = p<0.05.



Figure 4.10 IFN α inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL17 in monocytes.

Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF with or without 10ng/ml LPS, 10 or 100ng/ml IFN α for 24 hours. Supernatants were then analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. Statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test with Dunn's post test. * = p<0.05.

4.2.8 Investigation into GM-CSF and CCL17 associated signalling.

The previous data demonstrated that RA synovial fluid was able to inhibit GM-CSF driven CCL17 and multiple factors within synovial fluid could potentially cause this inhibition. To investigate the underlying mechanism causing synovial fluid-mediated inhibition of this pathway, associated signalling pathways were investigated. Despite the ability of synovial fluid to inhibit CCL17 4 hours after initial GM-CSF stimulation, STAT5 which is downstream of GM-CSFR signalling (306) was assessed to confirm that it was not involved. The binding site for the transcription factor, STAT6, has been identified on the CCL17 locus, and therefore could have the potential to be inhibited by synovial fluid (307). In order to elucidate the signalling pathway involved in the inhibition of CCL17 by RA synovial fluid, pSTAT5 and pSTAT6 were analysed.

Monocytes were incubated with synovial fluid for 4 hours prior to stimulation with GM-CSF for 10 minutes. With no GM-CSF stimulation, the pSTAT5 Mean Fluorescent Intensity (MFI) was 115 \pm 17 (Mean \pm SD) in CD14⁺ monocytes, however with GM-CSF stimulation, there was a significant increase in pSTAT5 expression to 233 ± 76 (Mean \pm SD) (Figure 4.11). Pre-incubation with RA synovial fluid had varying effects on the MFI of pSTAT5 in CD14⁺ monocytes. Interestingly, this was not due to the synovial fluid used, but the monocyte donor that caused the variability, suggesting that monocytes from different donors respond differently to the stimuli in RA synovial fluid. The CD16⁺ monocytes were much more variable when stimulated with GM-CSF as some increased expression of pSTAT5, however this was not a consistent finding. The pre-incubation with RA synovial fluid also made no change to the level of pSTAT5. The analysis of pSTAT6 in monocytes showed that unstimulated monocytes have a residual level pSTAT6 (Figure 4.12). In CD14⁺ monocytes this was an MFI of 433 \pm 8 (Mean \pm SD) however, in CD16⁺ monocytes this was much lower at 185 ± 8 (Mean ± SD). There was a slight increase in pSTAT6 expression in GM-CSF stimulated CD16⁺ monocytes, however this was very small and there was no change to the CD14⁺ monocytes. Interestingly, both RA synovial fluids analysed caused a downregulation in pSTAT6, below the unstimulated level in the CD14⁺ monocytes but not the CD16⁺ monocytes. This could potentially suggest that STAT6 is involved in the pathway of inhibition, however this was only investigated in 2 monocyte

donors, so more work needs to be performed to investigate the validity of this finding.

Analysis of signalling pathways associated with GM-CSF signalling and CCL17 transcription suggest that STAT5 is not involved in RA synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 transcription. STAT6, which is potentially the transcription factor for CCL17 after GM-CSF stimulation, could be involved in the down-regulation of CCL17 transcription after RA synovial fluid stimulation, however further work is required to evaluate this.



Figure 4.11 pSTAT5 analysis after RA synovial fluid and GM-CSF stimulation.

Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=5) were incubated either in media alone or with 5% RA synovial fluid for 4 hours. Monocytes were cell surface stained, and stimulated for 10 minutes with GM-CSF before immediate fixation. After pSTAT5 staining, samples were analysed on the BD LSRII. A) Representative histograms of pSTAT5 gated on CD14 positive cells. Pre-gating on PBMCs and CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. B) Representative histograms of pSTAT5 gated on CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. B) Representative histograms of pSTAT5 gated on CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. B) Representative histograms of pSTAT5 gated on CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. Gating determined by FMOs. Statistically analysed using One-way ANOVA with Bonferonni's post test. * = p<0.05.



Figure 4.12 pSTAT6 analysis after RA synovial fluid and GM-CSF stimulation.

Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=2) were incubated either in media alone or with 5% RA synovial fluid for 4 hours. Monocytes were cell surface stained, and stimulated for 10 minutes with GM-CSF before immediate fixation. After pSTAT6 staining, samples were analysed on the BD LSRII. A) Representative histograms of pSTAT6 gated on CD14 positive cells. Pre-gating on PBMCs and CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. B) Representative histograms of pSTAT6 gated on CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. B) Representative histograms of pSTAT6 gated on CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. B) Representative histograms of pSTAT6 gated on CD16 positive cells. Pre-gating on PBMCs and CD3⁻CD19⁻. Graphically represented in right hand pane. Gating determined by FMOs.

А

4.2.9 Investigation into CCL17 inhibition by RA synovial fluid through the inhibition of JAK1 and JAK3.

The analysis of STAT5 and STAT6 phosphorylation supported the theory that the factor in synovial fluid causing inhibition was not directly interfering with GM-CSFR signalling upstream of STAT5. However, STAT6, a transcription factor known to bind to the CCL17 promoter, is potentially down-regulated by RA synovial fluid. It is unknown how the factor within RA synovial fluid is causing inhibition of CCL17; therefore the mechanism was further investigated. Therefore, in order to further dissect potential signalling pathways involved, Tofacitinib, a JAK1/3 inhibitor was used to pre-treat monoyctes. JAK1 is upstream of STAT6 signalling (308), therefore, this inhibitor would give us a potential indication as to whether JAK signalling was involved in the inhibition. However, Tofacitinib is known to have off-target effects by slight inhibition of JAK2. As GM-CSFR signals via JAK2, the effect of Tofacitinib was analysed by measuring CCL17 after increasing doses of Tofacitinib and GM-CSF stimulation.

With no pre-treatment with Tofacitinib, GM-CSF was able to induce between 600 and 6000pg/ml CCL17 (Figure 4.13). This was variable due to the monocyte donors. With the vehicle control (DMSO) pre-treatment, there was no difference to the level of CCL17 secreted. However, there was a dose dependent decrease in CCL17 produced with an increase in concentration of Tofacitinib. This confirmed that there were some off-target effects of Tofacitinib on JAK2. Therefore, to reduce the impact of Tofacitinib on GM-CSF signalling and to ensure CCL17 induction after GM-CSF stimulation, the 2 lower doses of Tofacitinib were used for further experiments. Previous data have shown that 100nM and 300nM both effectively inhibited JAK1/3 pathways in T cells and DCs, therefore, these doses were assumed viable to use in this experiment (198,309).

In order to establish whether Tofacitinib was able to reverse the observed inhibition by RA synovial fluid, monocytes were pre-treated with 100nM, 300nM Tofacitinib or vehicle control (0.001% DMSO) and GM-CSF for 30 minutes. Following treatment, monocytes were further stimulated with RA synovial fluid or LPS. Monocytes pre-treated with the vehicle control secreted 3088pg/ml \pm 3194 (Mean \pm SD) CCL17 (Figure 4.14). There was a large level of variability, therefore to compare each individual monocyte donor to the GM-CSF alone control, percentage change was also calculated with GM-CSF alone at 100% and the other conditions relative to this. LPS co-stimulation caused a 90% (mean \pm SD) reduction in CCL17 secretion and RA synovial fluid co-stimulation led to greater than 60% (mean \pm SD) inhibition. After monocytes were pre-treated with 100nM Tofacitinib, GM-CSF caused the secretion of 1045pg/ml \pm 1159 (mean \pm SD), which was lower than the vehicle control and also variable between monocyte donors. LPS co-stimulation with 100nM Tofacitinib caused 80% inhibition (mean \pm SD) of CCL17 secretion and RA synovial fluid also inhibited CCL17 by greater than 60% (mean \pm SD). Pre-treatment of monocytes with 300nM Tofacitinib led to a reduction in GM-CSF stimulated CCL17 as monocytes only secreted 184pg/ml \pm 100 (mean \pm SD). LPS only caused a 38% (mean \pm SD) reduction in CCL17 secretion, whereas RA synovial fluid inhibited CCL17 production by 50% (mean \pm SD).

This analysis suggests that pre-treatment of monocytes with Tofacitinib at 300nM caused less inhibition of CCL17 when monocytes were co-stimulated with GM-CSF and LPS. Therefore JAK1 and/or JAK3 could potentially have a role in LPS inhibition of CCL17. However, the actual level of CCL17 after LPS stimulation was similar across all pre-treatment conditions, so the outcome of this experiment is difficult to conclude.



Figure 4.13 Tofacitinib effect on GM-CSF induction of CCL17

Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with Tofacitinib at 100nM, 300nM or 1000nM in the vehicle control (0.001% DMSO) and 1ng/ml GM-CSF for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. Horizontal Bar represents the median. Statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test. No significance identified.





Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were stimulated with 1ng/ml GM-CSF and treated with Tofacitinib at 100nM, 300nM or 1000nM in vehicle control (0.001% DMSO) for 30 minutes. DMSO used as a control. Monocytes were then treated with 10ng/ml LPS or 5% RA synovial fluid (n=3). After 24 hours, supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17 by ELISA. Data analysed as actual values, and percentage change in relation to GM-CSF alone for each donor. Horizontal Bar represents the median. Statistically analysed using Kruskal Wallis non-parametric test with Dunn's post test. * = p < 0.05

4.3 Discussion

There have been several studies profiling the contents of synovial fluids from proteomics to metabolomics, to try and detect whether there are any synovial biomarkers (84,132,133). The analysis of synovial fluid aimed to assess the level of cytokines in comparison to OA. Most inflammatory cytokines and chemokines were present in RA synovial fluid and in some cases in OA synovial fluid (Figure 4.1 and Figure 4.2). There were no statistically significant differences between RA and OA synovial fluids, which was due to the low numbers of synovial fluids analysed, and the heterogeneity between different fluids. To improve this, more RA and OA synovial fluids would have to be profiled. This analysis clarified the large differences between individual patient RA synovial fluids. This suggested that the effect of the RA synovial environment on GM-CSF induced monocytes had the potential to be extremely variable dependent on the stimuli present in the synovial fluids.

We investigated monocytes stimulated with GM-CSF in a synovial environment to determine whether the stimuli within the synovial fluid such as cytokines, DAMPs or immune complexes would exacerbate the secretion of chemokines. Analysing the secretion of chemokines after GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid or OA synovial fluid co-stimulation showed that there were great differences between the response of monocytes to stimuli as well as the differences between the individual synovial fluids. The only robust response from RA synovial fluid was in its inhibition of CCL17 both at 2.5% and 5% (Figure 4.3B). OA synovial fluid was variable in its ability to inhibiting CCL17. Interestingly, co-stimulation of GM-CSF with OA synovial fluid, caused differing effects on CCL17 production. This suggests that the factor within the synovial fluid causing the inhibition of CCL17 is robustly found in RA synovial fluids, and only occasionally in OA synovial fluid. However, the OA synovial fluids significantly inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL3 and CCL4, which RA synovial fluid had no impact on. This suggests an OA specific phenomenon and disease specific factors in synovial fluid that impact monocyte inflammatory secretions. However, more work needs to be done to interrogate the properties of OA SF that can lead to inhibition of CCL3 and CCL4. In this study, we were particularly intrigued by the inhibition of CCL17 by RA synovial fluid. This was interesting as the previous chapter analysed how CCL17 was inhibited by TLR ligands.
Similarly to LPS in the previous chapter, RA synovial fluid significantly inhibited the induction of CCL17 transcript at 18 and 24 hours, suggesting a comparable mechanism (Figure 4.4). The other ligand for CCR4 is CCL22, and interestingly the CCL22 transcript is also inhibited by RA synovial fluid. This suggests a CCR4 specific effect that could impact the contribution of monocyte driven recruitment of CCR4⁺ cells into the synovium. The up-regulation of the CCL17 transcript after GM-CSF stimulation was between 6 and 18 hours. This is an extended time period from stimulation to transcription, suggesting a potential indirect signalling pathway either intracellularly or via a secreted factor that further stimulates the cell. To investigate whether GM-CSF stimulates the secretion of a factor that then induces the monocyte to secrete CCL17, conditioned media was used to analyse this (Figure 4.5). Several time points were used to take media after the initial GM-CSF stimulation of monocytes. As residual GM-CSF would still be in the media, Mavrilimumab was used to pre-treat monocytes and within the media itself to prevent any residual GM-CSF causing the up-regulation of CCL17. This experiment showed, however, that at all analysed time points, the conditioned media with Mavrilimumab was unable to induce CCL17. Therefore, the GM-CSF signalling pathway to CCL17 transcription must be intracellular.

To begin to understand the ability of synovial fluid to intracellularly inhibit the transcription of CCL17, we investigated stimulating monocytes with synovial fluid up to 8 hours after the initial GM-CSF stimulation. Interestingly, synovial fluid was able to inhibit GM-CSF induced CCL17 when added to monocytes up to 4 hours after the initial GM-CSF stimulation (Figure 4.6). This supports the transcriptional data, which showed the induction CCL17 after GM-CSF stimulation was potentially an indirect intracellular pathway due to the delay in transcription. Therefore, the synovial fluid must inhibit a downstream signalling molecule that prevents CCL17 transcription.

Due to the results of the previous chapter where TLR agonists inhibited CCL17, we hypothesised that endogenous DAMPs in the synovial fluid that bind TLRs were causing this effect. DAMPs have previously been shown to activate TLRs, for example the S100 proteins that are up-regulated in RA synovial fluid (84). S100A12 activates TLR4 in monocytes and induces inflammatory gene expression (82). Tenascin C is also a ligand for TLR4 and leads to the production of

inflammatory cytokines. In Tenascin C knockout mice, there was significantly reduced CIA disease scores and an abrogation in the cytokines produced (86). DAMPs are involved in RA pathogenesis, therefore we questioned whether DAMPs within synovial fluid were causing the inhibition in CCL17 through the binding of TLRs.

To determine whether the inhibition of CCL17 was due to TLR binding DAMPs within the synovial fluid, anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 antibodies were used (Figure 4.7). Initially, a dose response was performed to determine the concentration of the antibodies to use in further assays. The anti-TLR4 antibody successfully reversed the LPS inhibition of CCL17 at all concentrations, however the anti-TLR2 antibody was less successful at reversing FSL1. At the higher concentrations, the anti-TLR2 antibody made a slight impact on the FSL1 inhibition, however the antibody was not as effective as the anti-TLR4 antibody. To improve this experiment, a number of concentrations of FSL1 should have been used to assess the competition and whether the anti-TLR2 antibody had the ability at lower concentrations of FSL1 to reverse the inhibition of CCL17. However, the anti-TLR2 antibody was still used to determine whether the inhibition by RA synovial fluid could be reversed. The anti-TLR2 and anti-TLR4 antibodies, both individually and in combination were unable to reverse the inhibition by RA synovial fluid inhibition on GM-CSF induced CCL17. Despite the less effective anti-TLR2 antibody, in comparison to the anti-TLR4 antibody, there was no difference in the level of inhibition by synovial fluid. This led us to question whether it was a redundancy mechanism, whereby the inability of signalling via TLR2 or TLR4 led to the other TLRs being activated. Previous experiments showed signalling via other TLRs could also inhibit CCL17 therefore to test this theory, all TLRs had to be inhibited.

In order to assess this, MyD88/TRIF knockout mice were obtained and monocytes isolated from their bone marrow. MyD88 and TRIF are the adaptor molecules for signalling pathways downstream of TLRs (310). Inhibiting MyD88 prevents the majority of TLR signalling, however TRIF allows residual signalling via TLR3 and TLR4 in MyD88 knockout mice, therefore a double knockout of MyD88 and TRIF prevents signalling via TLRs (310,311). C57BL/6 mouse monocytes were used as a control, with LPS and RA synovial fluid significantly inhibiting GM-CSF induced CCL17 (Figure 4.8). This was a surprising, but useful finding that human RA

synovial fluid had the ability to inhibit CCL17 in mouse monocytes as it suggested cross-reactivity of the inhibitory factor within RA synovial fluid. Furthermore, LPS, which inhibited wildtype monocyte CCL17, would be expected to be ineffective in MyD88/TRIF double knockout mouse monocytes. This was the case as there was no inhibition of CCL17 by LPS in these monocytes, confirming that these mice lacked the ability to signal via downstream molecules from TLRs. However, surprisingly, the RA synovial fluid still inhibited the GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in MyD88/TRIF knockout monocytes. This showed that the factor causing inhibition of CCL17 in synovial fluid was not acting via TLRs and therefore had a different mechanism causing the inhibition than the TLR ligands. Synovial fluid is known to contain a whole milieu of inflammation inducing factors, from DAMPs, to immune complexes and cytokines (84,134,137).

Identifying that RA synovial fluid had the ability to inhibit GM-CSF induced CCL17, independently of TLR signalling, we analysed whether the inhibition could be replicated by other means. Initially small immune complexes were investigated as a high proportion of RA synovial fluids contain immune complexes (296). Small immune complexes also significantly inhibited GM-CSF stimulated secretion of CCL17 (Figure 4.9). Although these were manmade immune complexes and not the immune complexes found in the RA synovial fluid, it supports the hypothesis that immune complexes can also inhibit this pathway. Immune complexes bind to Fcy receptors and previous studies with SIC show that through Fc mediated pathways, macrophages can be primed towards more regulatory and anti-inflammatory pathways (245). The inhibition of CCL17 by SIC suggests that the down-regulation caused by synovial fluid, could in fact be a regulatory mechanism, preventing the migration of CCR4⁺ cells into the synovium. To determine whether eliminating immune complexes from the synovial fluid would reverse the observed inhibition of CCL17, protein A, protein G and protein A/G/L magnetic beads were used (Figure 4.9). We undertook studies to determine the efficacy of the depletion, however, the assay was inconclusive and we were unable to repeat due to time restraints and sample availability. Due to the nature of the technique, we were confident that depletion occurred, however, this is an uncertainty. There was no effect on the inhibition by synovial fluid when protein A or protein G were depleted, however we were unable to assess the level at which the immune complexes were

removed. Interestingly with the depletion of protein A/G/L, there was an even greater inhibition of RA synovial fluid to the level of LPS inhibition. This suggested that endotoxin contamination could be a possibility, but after a limulus assay, the synovial fluids were not contaminated. This showed that by removing more of the immune complexes, there was a larger inhibition of CCL17. The reasons for this are unknown, however we confirmed that immune complex depletion did not reverse the inhibition of CCL17. This suggests that there are other factors in synovial fluid that would be unaffected by immune complex depletion, but that also have the ability to inhibit CCL17. Type I interferons, specifically IFN α , is known to be highly expressed within RA synovial fluid but not in OA synovial fluid, which we know had less ability to inhibit CCL17 (302). This cytokine would be unaffected by depletion of immune complexes, therefore could explain why no reversal of inhibition was observed. Using recombinant IFN α , there was inhibition of CCL17 to comparable levels as LPS inhibition (Figure 4.10). This highlighted that there are multiple factors, commonly found within RA synovial fluid, which had the ability to inhibit GM-CSF driven CCL17. To investigate the intracellular mechanism leading to inhibition of CCL17, the downstream signalling of GM-CSFR was analysed.

GM-CSF binds its receptor GM-CSFR (formed of α and β chains) and signals via JAK2 and STAT5. To determine whether STAT5 signalling was impacted by synovial fluid, we investigated its phosphorylation status after pre-stimulation with synovial fluid, and a short 10 minute stimulation with GM-CSF (Figure 4.11). This analysis showed that in comparison to unstimulated monocytes, GM-CSF stimulation caused an upregulation in pSTAT5 MFI in CD14⁺ monocytes. There was a difference between CD14⁺ and CD16⁺ monocytes in the induction of pSTAT5 after GM-CSF stimulation as this was more apparent in the CD14⁺ monocytes than CD16⁺ monocytes suggesting different responses to GM-CSF. Interestingly in some monocytes donors there was no effect on the MFI of pSTAT5 in monocytes with the RA synovial fluid pre-treatment. However, some monocyte donors had fewer pSTAT5 positive monocytes after RA synovial fluid pre-treatment. This suggests that there are perhaps multiple mechanisms leading to the inhibition of CCL17. Transcription of CCL17 was not induced when monocytes were co-stimulated with GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid (Figure 4.4), and the signalling directly downstream of GM-CSFR through STAT5 was not consistently targeted (Figure 4.11). Therefore to determine whether RA synovial fluid was affecting the direct transcription of CCL17, we analysed a known transcription factor. Binding sites for STAT6 have been identified in the promoter region of the CCL17 locus through reporter assays examining IL-4 induction of CCL17 in T cells (267,307). As STAT6 had been identified as a transcription factor for CCL17 in T cells, we aimed to analyse whether its phosphorylation was potentially inhibited by RA synovial fluid, thereby preventing the transcription of CCL17. Monocytes expressing pSTAT6 were present even in unstimulated conditions suggesting a basal level of signalling through STAT6. There was a very slight increase in the percentage of pSTAT6 positive monocytes after GM-CSF stimulation, however due to the small number analysed, this was difficult to interpret. Furthermore, phosphorylation is indicative of an involvement of STAT6 after GM-CSF signalling, however it does not confirm whether STAT6 translocated to the nucleus, or whether it is the transcription factor for CCL17 after GM-CSF stimulation. For nuclear translocation of STAT6, it must be phosphorylated but also dimerized, therefore analysis of dimerization would be required to assess the involvement of STAT6 (312,313). Interestingly, both RA synovial fluids analysed appear to inhibit pSTAT6 to below the basal level in CD14⁺ monocytes, however this was not the case in CD16⁺ monocytes. The difference between the response of CD14⁺ monocytes and CD16⁺ monocytes suggests their differing phenotypes could impact their response to GM-CSF. However, this experiment required further repeats to be conclusive. Another caveat to this finding was that if GM-CSF did not induce a high level of pSTAT6 positive cells, it suggests that this was not the transcription factor response for inducing CCL17 in response to GM-CSF. However, the previous transcript analysis showed a lag time between GM-CSF stimulation and CCL17 transcription (Figure 4.4). Therefore, the 10 minute GM-CSF stimulation of monocytes to analyse the potential transcription factor for CCL17 could have been extended to multiple later time points. The RA synovial fluid had a 4 hour pre-stimulation with the monocytes, which could explain why there was an inhibition observed below the basal level of the unstimulated monocytes as there was enough time for this transcription factor to be inhibited. Therefore, further analysis of STAT6 is required to elucidate whether it has an involvement in RA synovial fluid inhibition of GM-CSF driven CCL17.

Tofacitinib is a small molecule inhibitor that preferentially inhibits JAK3 and JAK1 signalling (198,314). Inhibition of this pathway, it had the potential to shed light onto the signalling pathway in which the synovial fluid was inhibiting CCL17 transcription as the JAK molecules are upstream signalling molecules of STATs. Specifically, JAK1 is an upstream of STAT6 signalling (308). Initially, we analysed whether Tofacitinib had any off-target effects by assessing the impact of treatment on the CCL17 production by GM-CSF stimulated monocytes (Figure 4.13). There was a dose dependent decrease in the level of CCL17 secreted with increasing concentrations of Tofacitinib, suggesting that the GM-CSF signalling molecule JAK2 was also partially inhibited. This has been observed before despite the major target molecules of JAK1 and JAK3 (314,315). Due to this targeted inhibition of GM-CSF induced CCL17, the effect of Tofacitinib on LPS or RA synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17 was analysed in comparison to the GM-CSF with matched pre-treatment for a more accurate comparison (Figure 4.14). At 100mM, there was no reversal of the RA synovial fluid inhibition of CCL17, however at 300mM, there was an increase in the percentage change in the LPS inhibition of CCL17. This appears to show a slight reversal in the inhibition observed, however, when the specific concentration of CCL17 was analysed, the level of CCL17 secreted with LPS co-stimulation was comparable across all conditions. This was therefore difficult to interpret, as there were too many variables that affected the result. Therefore, as we have been unable to determine the precise intracellular signalling pathway leading to CCL17 inhibition, we analysed the potential factors within the synovial fluid that could be causing the inhibition.

Initially, after establishing that RA synovial fluid inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL17, we investigated the potential factor within the synovial fluid that was causing this inhibition. However, these studies identified that there were multiple factors that had the ability to cause inhibition all of which are present in RA synovial fluid. These ranged from the cytokine IFN α , to immune complexes and TLR binding DAMPs (Figure 4.15). The ability of GM-CSF driven CCL17 induction to be inhibited in several ways suggests a regulatory mechanism to

prevent the infiltration of CCR4 positive cells into the joint. GM-CSF is abundant in the joint, and therefore there is huge potential for high levels of CCL17 to be secreted. The ability of the inflamed synovial milieu to dampen the secretion of CCL17 shows a mechanism to prevent further excessive inflammation through the migration of Th17 cells into the joint. There are other regulatory mechanisms within the joint such as the secretion of IL-10 from macrophages, which is highly expressed in the synovial fluid (136) and in the blood there are significantly higher levels of IL-10 in RA blood compared with healthy controls (316). IL-10 is classed as a more anti-inflammatory cytokine that classically dampens the immune response through suppressing interactions between macrophages and T cells and down-regulation of macrophage inflammatory cytokine secretion (317,318). However, as IL-10 as well as other antiinflammatory cytokines are not at high local concentrations, they are unable to mediate a response against the more abundant pro-inflammatory cytokines. Therefore, despite their presence, other pathogenic factors prevent resolution, and drive inflammation. Potentially, synovial fluid inhibition is a regulatory mechanism that is too little, too late to alter disease pathogenesis.

The ability of multiple factors within the RA synovial fluid to inhibit GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in monocytes is potentially another regulatory mechanism in RA, to try to dampen the immune response. The inhibition of chemokines that would chemoattract Th17 cells suggests a preventative mechanism, without which, hugely exacerbated inflammation of the joint would exist. The synovial milieu has the capacity to influence cell responses that are exposed to it, making the understanding of the synovial environment and cellular responses hugely important.



Figure 4.15 Schematic of updated hypothesis

Upon stimulation with GM-CSF, monocytes secrete CCL17, which leads to the recruitment of CCR4⁺ T cells to the synovium. The CCR4⁺ T cells upon activation, produce GM-CSF in a positive feedback loop. Synovial fluid, or specifically: TLR ligands; Small Immune Complexes; and IFN α can inhibit GM-CSF induction of CCL17 in monocytes.

Chapter 5 Macrophage and monocyte phenotypes in the synovial environment

5.1 Introduction

The previous chapter assessed how GM-CSF induced CCL17 in monocytes, but also how the RA synovial milieu inhibited this induction. Multiple components within the synovial fluid had the ability to cause inhibition of CCL17, suggesting the synovial fluid can influence the cellular secretome and have an impact on cellular phenotype.

Human monocytes can be classified into subsets by their expression of CD14 and CD16 (319). The majority of monocytes lack CD16 expression and are classified as classical monocytes (CD14⁺⁺CD16⁻). They are present in blood at 10 times greater levels than other subsets (52). The subset that are CD16⁺, are classed as non-classical monocytes (CD14⁺CD16⁺⁺), however some state these monocytes are pro-inflammatory as they respond to LPS and secrete TNF α . Even under non-inflammatory conditions, non-classical monocytes can migrate into tissues (320). Monocytes are not only classified by their expression of CD14 and CD16 but expression of chemokine receptors such as CCR2 or the presence of specific TLRs (Section 14.1.1). Cytokine and chemokine secretion can also allow the classification of the populations.

The traditional viewpoint is that when monocytes receive specific environmental cues, they differentiate into monocyte-derived cells, however, there have also been studies to suggest that there are tissue resident monocytes that do not differentiate into macrophages (321). When macrophages differentiate, they are classified into distinct categories, depending on specific transcriptional markers, surface receptors or cytokines released. Until recently, the nomenclature of macrophage classification has ranged from M1 and M2 macrophages to alternatively activated, classically activated and regulatory macrophages. These terms have been generated in the main from *in vitro* cultured human blood monocyte derived macrophages or mouse bone marrow macrophages (63). Traditionally, monocytes were differentiated into macrophages using growth factors such as GM-CSF for an M1 macrophage or M-CSF for an M2 macrophage (265). Alternatively activated macrophages were differentiated in IL-4 with or

without IL-13 and classically activated macrophages were differentiated in IFN γ . However, there are several other *in vitro* stimuli that are used to differentiate macrophages such as IL-10, immune complexes and LPS (62,63).

There are specific transcriptional markers that are used to define *in vitro derived* macrophage subsets to form a transcriptional signature, such as CD64, which is an M1 marker, and CD23, which is an M2 marker (322). However, the spectrum of macrophages isolated from tissue, or differentiated *in vitro* under different conditions, has led to cells that do not fit into a distinct category. There is still dispute over macrophage classifications, however, it is now widely accepted that tissue resident macrophages are embryonic derived. Monocytes that infiltrate into a tissue in response to inflammatory cues, differentiate dependent on the specific stimuli in the milieu, or interactions with other cells, into a broad spectrum of monocyte-derived cells, which do not necessarily fit into a distinct category (50). They may have aspects of an M1 or an M2 but are unique (57). Monocyte-derived cells can be classified with transcriptional markers, scavenger receptors, metabolic profiles cytokines and chemokines (63,323).

Macrophages within the RA synovium reside primarily in the intimal lining layer, where they interact with synovial fibroblasts and are exposed to the synovial milieu (67). Monocytes increase in number in the synovium upon inflammatory insult, and as they differentiate into macrophages, the 30-40% increase in macrophage numbers in the RA patient synovium suggests that monocyte infiltration directly contributes to this (255,324,325). In general, macrophages within the RA synovial lining are positive for GM-CSFR α , as there was a significant up-regulation of GM-CSFR α positive macrophages in RA patients in comparison to OA patients(238). The presence of increased levels of GM-CSFR α in the RA synovial tissue suggests that there is the capacity for more GM-CSF signalling to occur. Therefore, inhibition of this receptor via Mavrilimumab could alter the phenotype of macrophages or their monocyte precursors, particularly within the synovial milieu, which was shown in the previous chapter to influence the secretion of chemokines (Fig 4.3).

The RA synovial environment contains many stimuli that could impact monocyte and macrophage phenotypes. Understanding the effect of these stimuli on polarisation of macrophages and the activation of monocytes is not well understood. Therefore, this chapter aims to identify the impact of the synovial environment on macrophage polarisation and monocyte activation.

Chapter Aims:

- To assess the impact of synovial fluid on macrophage polarisation.
- To determine how monocyte activation markers are affected by synovial fluid.
- To establish whether Mavrilimumab affects monocyte phenotypes.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 The effect of *in vitro* stimuli on macrophage polarisation

Transcriptional signatures for macrophage polarisation states have been well defined for M1 and M2 macrophages. Investigations were undertaken to determine whether a transcriptional profile could be generated that were comparable with previously reported studies, to then be used in further experiments. The effect of disease-specific stimuli on these transcriptional profiles could then be evaluated. Differentiation of macrophages has traditionally been with individual stimuli such as M-CSF or GM-CSF for 7 days (265). These experiments investigated whether macrophages differentiated with M-CSF could then be skewed with alternative stimuli, to create different polarisation states. This would aim to understand macrophage plasticity after stimulation with differing environmental factors. Therefore monocytes isolated from buffy coats were differentiated using M-CSF for 7 days for an M0 macrophage. From this M0 macrophage, further stimulations with IFNγ, IL-4 or GM-CSF were used to create different polarised macrophages.

There are multiple methods described to determine macrophage polarisation state, however in initial studies, transcriptional profile was interrogated. Specific transcriptional markers were chosen from a particular paper from Beyer et al., (322) in which transcriptional profiles were analysed, specifically in M1 and M2 differentiated human macrophages. The majority of available data has only looked at specific polarisation states; therefore this was expanded to interrogate alternative polarisation states. This was achieved by identifying transcriptional profiles for 4 experimentally differentiated macrophage phenotypes.

Therefore, investigations into macrophages polarised with M-CSF followed by IFN_Y (M1), IL-4 (M2) or GM-CSF (M-GM) were compared to M-CSF (M0) differentiated macrophages. The evaluation of transcriptional signatures in M1, M2 and M-GM macrophages revealed that M1 macrophages have a different transcriptional signature in comparison to other macrophage phenotypes. M1 macrophages had significantly higher transcript expression of APOL2, APOL3, APOL6 and IRF7 compared with M0 macrophages (Figure 5.1). Macrophages

differentiated with IL-4, or M2 macrophages, also differed from M0, M1 and M-GM macrophages. M2 macrophages had significantly elevated expression of CD23 with 10 fold greater expression than M0 macrophages. However, M2 macrophages had significantly lower expression of CD64 with greater than M0 and M1 macrophages. IRF4 and IRF5 were also significantly higher, with a greater than 3 fold increase in expression in M2 macrophages in comparison to M0 macrophages. Macrophages differentiated with GM-CSF, or M-GM macrophages, had no specific marker that was more highly expressed than other macrophages. Despite this, M-GM macrophages had greater than 2 fold increase in expression to an M0 macrophage.

This transcriptional analysis confirmed that experimental stimuli, in this case, IFNγ, IL-4, GM-CSF or M-CSF have differing effects on macrophage phenotypes. Dependent on the stimuli received, the polarisation of these macrophages was altered, even after initial differentiation with M-CSF showing their plasticity. This suggests that these macrophages could be altered by their microenvironment.



Figure 5.1 Experimental macrophage transcriptional profiles.

Monocytes isolated from human buffy coats (n=4) (n=3 for APOL3) and cultured in 100ng/ml M-CSF for 7 days. Media was replaced with further stimulations of 100ng/ml M-CSF for M0, 20ng/ml IFN γ for M1, 100ng/ml IL-4 for M2 or 100ng/ml GM-CSF for M-GM for 24 hours. Cells were lysed and RNA extracted for analysis of specific transcripts by qPCR using SYBR green. Transcripts were normalised to GAPDH housekeeping. RQ was calculated for each experimental macrophage transcript in relation to an M0 macrophage was analysed. Horizontal bar indicates the median. Statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test, followed by Dunn's post test. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01.

5.2.2 Evaluation of valid housekeeping genes.

For further evaluation of macrophage transcriptional phenotypes, Taqman Low Density Arrays (TLDA) were used. For this technique, multiple housekeeping genes could be used, therefore, it was necessary to identify the most suitable housekeeping genes prior to further evaluation. For this, the most consistent housekeeping genes after experimental macrophage polarisation were determined by using a housekeeping TLDA plate.

Monocytes were differentiated in M-CSF for 7 days, followed by polarisation stimuli with IFN_Y, IL-4 or GM-CSF. In addition to evaluating the best housekeeping gene to use for macrophage polarisation states, studies were also undertaken to determine a housekeeping gene that stayed at comparable CT values from monocyte separation through to macrophage differentiation for consistent analysis of monocytes and macrophages. Therefore monocytes were assessed (n=1) as well as polarised macrophages (n=3). PBMCs and LPS stimulated M0 and M-GM macrophages were also analysed as a comparison.

The CT values were assessed for each condition and every gene on the array plate. Commonly used housekeeping genes such as GAPDH, ACTB and TBP, did not have consistent CT values across all conditions (Figure 5.2). In several of the genes, PBMCs were different to the other conditions, however, as there was no intention to transcriptionally analyse whole PBMCs, this was not a concern. There was also variability observed between the 3 donors used between the macrophage phenotypes. However, CT values for UBC and GUSB were found to be the most comparable across all conditions. These housekeeping genes were therefore carried on into further experiments using TLDA transcriptional analyses.



Figure 5.2 Housekeeping Array analysis

cDNA was analysed from 3 buffy coat donors cultured into 4 phenotypes of macrophages with the additional stimuli of LPS in an M0 or MGM macrophage or a CD14 monocyte immediately after separation or a PBMCs. CT values of each labelled gene are shown across all conditions.

5.2.3 The effect of disease stimuli on macrophage polarisation

The initial experiments showed that macrophages can be polarised and expressed different macrophage transcriptional markers depending on the stimuli. To assess the effect of the diseased microenvironment on macrophage polarisation, macrophages were stimulated with synovial fluid from RA patients. Stimulating macrophages with synovial fluid *in vitro*, aimed to artificially recreate the environment in which monocytes infiltrating the tissue would be subjected to. By determining how macrophages differentiate in this environment, we could establish whether these macrophages were similar to particular polarisation states of the experimental macrophages (Figure 5.1). OA synovial fluid had a different effect on monocytes when co-stimulated with GM-CSF in comparison to RA synovial fluid in the previous chapter. Therefore, to determine whether different synovial fluids affected the polarisation of macrophages, RA, and OA synovial fluids were used.

Macrophages stimulated with synovial fluid from RA or OA patients, termed MSF, had some transcript similarities to experimental macrophages, however, despite aspects of specific experimental macrophages, their overall transcriptional profile was different. Individual samples came from buffy coats donated from the Scottish National Blood Transfusion Service (Section 2.2.1). It was observed that there was variation between the buffy coats and their response to synovial fluid. M1 macrophages expressed APOL3 at greater levels, and one buffy coat also expressed this transcript highly with the addition of either RA or OA synovial fluid, however due to the variation observed, it was difficult to confirm a specific MSF transcriptional phenotype (Figure 5.3). CD36 had similar levels of expression across all experimental macrophages, however, there was an upregulation of this transcript in both OA and RA MSFs. M1 and M-GM macrophages had greater levels of CLEC4E and this was mirrored by both the OA and RA MSFs. M2 and M-GM macrophages had increased expression of CSF2RA in comparison to M0 macrophages, and 1 buffy coat donor MSF had higher expression. The transcript LILRA2 in the OA and RA MSFs was more comparable in lower expression than MO and M2 macrophages to the M1 and M-GM macrophages. MSR1 and TLR4 transcripts had greater expression in the MSFs in comparison to the experimental macrophages.

Analysis of macrophage transcriptional profiles differentiated with RA and OA synovial fluids showed that MSFs are different from a specific experimental macrophage. However, MSFs had properties of the experimental macrophages, as there was not a transcript that was up-regulated in the MSFs, that was not also up-regulated in another condition. Synovial fluid provides another profile in the spectrum of macrophage activation. There was also no transcriptional profile that was consistent across all donors, therefore it was difficult to conclude a specific MSF phenotype. The RA and OA MSFs had comparable transcriptional profiles suggesting the synovial fluid had a similar impact on macrophage polarisation, however functional studies would be needed to determine whether these macrophages were the same.

As macrophages polarised with OA or RA synovial fluid had a very similar transcriptional phenotypic profile, it was investigated whether synovial fluid from PsA patients also had the same impact on macrophage transcriptional phenotypes. After 7 days differentiation of monocytes with M-CSF, macrophages were further stimulated for 24 hours with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid.

Transcripts were analysed by qPCR for genes that were identified as markers of specific experimental macrophages (Figure 5.1). The synovial fluid stimulations caused very minor changes to transcription in comparison to M0 macrophages (Figure 5.4) and expression of transcripts in MSFs was much lower than in Figure 5.3. This confirmed the variability between monocyte donors, and the difficulty in making conclusions. However, the RA, OA and PsA MSFs had comparable levels of transcript expression suggesting they were of a similar transcriptional phenotype (Figure 5.4).

The transcriptional observation, suggested a similar transcriptional phenotype between MSFs polarised with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid. Therefore, to determine whether the similar MSF transcriptional phenotype could be translated into their functional output, chemokine levels were investigated. To ensure the chemokine induction was measured, without interference from the level in synovial fluid, the chemokine content of the synovial fluids that were added to the culture, was deducted from the level of the supernatants. In 2 of the 3 buffy coat donors, LPS up-regulated chemokine expression, acting as a positive control, however, this was not the case for 1 donor, which was unresponsive to LPS stimulation. None of the chemokines were up-regulated by stimulation with synovial fluids, which would potentially be expected due to the number of pro-inflammatory DAMPs within the fluid. Interestingly, the MSFs had a suppressed level of CCL7 and CCL8 in comparison to M0 macrophages, and the synovial fluid had a similar impact on functional chemokine output, whether it was derived from RA, OA or PsA patients.

Although there is not a robust signature in the transcriptional analysis or the secreted chemokines that have been looked at, it is clear that synovial fluid from any arthropathy has a comparable impact on macrophage polarisation with regards to transcriptional profile or chemokine induction.



Figure 5.3 Transcriptional analysis by TLDA of macrophages differentiated with RA or OA synovial fluid.

Monocytes isolated from human buffy coats (n=3) were cultured with 100ng/ml M-CSF for 7 days, followed by 24 hour stimulation with: 100ng/ml M-CSF for M0; 20ng/ml IFN_{γ} for M1, 100ng/ml IL-4 for M2; 100ng/ml GM-CSF for M-GM; or 10% synovial fluid (n=4) from RA or OA patients for MSF. Transcripts were analysed by TLDA relative to GUSB housekeeping gene and the RQ calculated over M0 macrophages. Horizontal bar indicates mean.





Figure 5.4 Transcriptional analysis by qPCR of macrophages differentiated with diseased synovial fluid.

Monocytes isolated from human buffy coats (n=3) were cultured with 100ng/ml M-CSF for 7 days, followed by stimulation for 24 hours with: 10% synovial fluid (n=4) from RA, OA or PsA patients. Transcripts were analysed by qPCR relative to GUSB housekeeping gene and the RQ calculated in relation to M0 macrophages. Horizontal bar indicates mean.



n/d = not detected

Figure 5.5 Chemokine induction after synovial fluid stimulations.

A) Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were cultured in 100ng/ml M-CSF for 7 days. M0 macrophages were stimulated with M-CSF for a further 24 hours with or without 15.63ng/ml LPS or with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid (n=2,3,4). The supernatants were removed and were analysed for chemokine induction by Luminex. B) The synovial fluids themselves were also analysed and the level (pg/ml) that was added to the culture deducted from the MSF to ensure induction was quantified (A). Horizontal bar indicates mean.

5.2.4 Monocyte and macrophage transcriptional profile comparison after synovial fluid stimulation.

The previous data found that the disease origin of the synovial fluid did not impact the macrophage phenotypic markers investigated. To determine whether this was also the case for infiltrating monocytes into the joint, monocytes were also stimulated with synovial fluid and directly compared with the macrophage.

In several of the analysed genes, transcriptional expression of was significantly different between monocytes and macrophages. There were no significant differences in any of the analysed transcripts between unstimulated monocytes and monocytes stimulated with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid (Figure 5.6). However, despite the lack of significance, transcript expression was more variable across the conditions in comparison to macrophages. Monocytes stimulated with OA synovial fluid had significantly less expression of CSF2RA, CREB1, IRF5 and CCL13 in comparison to PsA synovial fluid stimulated monocytes, suggesting these monocytes have a different transcriptional signature. There was no significant difference between the RA and OA synovial fluid stimulated monocytes, however, there was slightly increased expression of the analysed transcripts in the RA synovial fluid stimulated monocytes. In comparison to macrophage transcript expression, there was significantly less APOL3 transcript in comparison to all MSFs. Monocytes stimulated with OA and RA synovial fluid also had significantly lower levels of CSF2RA in comparison to comparative MSFs. Interestingly this was not the case for the PsA synovial fluid stimulated monocytes. Although there were no significant differences, monocytes stimulated with all synovial fluids had greater levels of CCL2 transcript expression in comparison to the macrophages. CCL13 expression was significantly higher in monocytes compared with their corresponding macrophages when stimulated with RA or PsA synovial fluid.

Looking specifically at the monocytes stimulated with synovial fluid, the PsA stimulated monocytes had significantly greater expression of APOL3, CSF2RA, CREB1, CD36, CCL13 and IRF5 in comparison to the OA synovial fluid (Figure 5.7).

The caveat to this experiment was that it was only tested in one matched monocyte and macrophage donor, however, the use of 4 synovial fluid from each disease showed the consistent response to these fluids by the monocytes or macrophages. Thus the data generated supports the concept that monocytes are more responsive to disease stimuli in comparison to differentiated macrophages at least, with respect to the transcripts measured in this study.



Figure 5.6 Transcriptional comparison between monocyte and macrophages after synovial fluid stimulation.

Monocytes isolated from a buffy coat (n=1) were either cultured in complete media for 24 hours or for 7 days in M-CSF. The stimulations with 10% RA, OA or PsA synovial fluids (n=4) were for 24 hours. Cells were lysed and analysed for transcripts by TLDA in relation to GUSB housekeeping. RQ calculated over the freshly isolated monocyte. MSFs statistically analysed using 2-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post test. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001, ***=p<0.0001.



Figure 5.7 TLDA analysis of monocytes stimulated with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid. Monocytes separated from a human buffy coat (n=1) were stimulated with 10% synovial fluid from RA, OA or PsA patients (n=4) for 24 hours. Cells were lysed and transcripts analysed by TLDA, relative to GUSB housekeeping. RQ calculated in relation to monocytes alone with no synovial treatment. Horizontal bar indicates mean. Statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post test. *=p<0.05, **=p<0.01, ***=p<0.001.

5.2.5 Monocyte phenotype analysis after stimulation with synovial fluid and Mavrilimumab.

Monocytes stimulated with synovial fluid from RA, OA or PsA patients have different transcriptional profiles (Figure 5.7). The previous chapters examined GM-CSF stimulation of monocytes, which causes the induction and the secretion of pro-inflammatory chemokines (Figure 3.2). The interplay between GM-CSF and synovial fluid with regards to monocyte secretion of CCL17 was also analysed. Synovial fluid contains GM-CSF (326), therefore the involvement of GM-CSF on monocyte activation and differentiation was elucidated through the use of Mavrilimumab (CAM3001).

Synovial fluid stimulated monocytes previously showed differential expression of transcripts associated with macrophage polarisation (Figure 5.7). Therefore, to elucidate whether monocyte activation and differentiation were affected after synovial fluid stimulation, an alternative transcriptional profile was analysed. This also assessed whether Mavrilimumab impacted monocyte activation or differentiation. Monocytes were pre-treated with Mavrilimumab (CAM3001) for 30 minutes before the addition of synovial fluid, to allow binding of the antibody to GM-CSFR α prior to the addition of a potential GM-CSF stimulus.

There were no large differences in transcriptional patterns between monocytes that were pre-treated with the isotype, and the monocytes pre-treated with CAM3001 with and without synovial fluid. The pre-treatment with the isotype followed by RA synovial fluid caused an increase in CCL3, CCL4, CD36 and IL-8 transcripts in most buffy coat donors, however this was not a robust finding and there was variability between the buffy coat donors and the synovial fluids used (Figure 5.8). CD1A and TLR4 were up-regulated by pre-treatment with CAM3001 followed by RA synovial fluid. OA synovial fluid stimulation caused a down-regulation after pre-treatment with CAM3001 in CCL22, CHI3L1, CXCL2 and CLEC4E, however these differences were marginal.

This data shows that there were no significant differences in the transcripts that were analysed. This suggests that Mavrilimumab has no effect on the activation of monocytes, although there was a large amount of variability between the buffy coat donors. Only transcripts were analysed, which prevents accurate conclusions, therefore further functional analysis or flow cytometric profiles could improve the understanding of the effect of Mavrilimumab on monocytes.

There was substantial variability observed in Figure 5.8 that caused difficulty in interpretation of results. Therefore, to assess whether the observed variability was due to the buffy coat donors, an experiment was performed to limit other variables. In order to ensure consistency, monocytes were all isolated from buffy coats on the same day, and all RNA isolations and qPCR was done at the same time.

Monocytes alone, after 24 hours, up-regulated in CD36 and MRC1 expression, however, CLEC4E was down-regulated (Figure 5.9). RA synovial fluid had no effect on the analysed transcripts after 6 hours, however, after 24 hours, there was a significant increase in MRC1. As monocytes alone after 24 hours also up-regulated MRC1, the RA synovial fluid had no distinct effect on transcript expression. There was no difference with the other analysed transcripts.

There was still variability between the buffy coat donors, despite the measures to keep the experiment consistent. This suggests that the buffy coat donors were causing variability observed in Figure 5.8.



OR*CANDIDI

OA BONDE

RA* CANONI

PA Isotype

No*CANSON

Wo Isotype

Pol * Chargon

Pedleowpe

ß

g

Ra

ß

0.1

Wo Ison Pe

No CANSOOT RA Isotype

RA* CANDON

on constraints of

OA BONDE

Pealsonpe

Ped.* Charge

172





Monocytes isolated from human buffy coats (n=3) were pre-stimulated with Mavrilimumab (CAM3001) or the isotype (CAT004) for 30 minutes. After pre-stimulation, synovial fluid from RA (n=4 or n=3 for buffy coat 3), OA (n=3) or PsA (n=4 for 2 buffy coats, n=1 or n=2 for buffy coat 3) patients was added at 10% for 24 hours. Cells were lysed, and transcripts analysed by TLDA in relation to GUSB housekeeping. RQ calculated relative to monocytes with the isotype pre-treatment. Horizontal bar indicates mean.





Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) on the same day were stimulated with 10% RA synovial fluid (n=3) for 6 or 24 hours. Cells were lysed and RNA extractions were performed at the same time to ensure consistency. Transcripts were analysed by qPCR relative to GUSB housekeeping. RQ calculated in relation to un-stimulated monocytes after 6 hours of culture. Horizontal bar indicates the median. Statistically analysed using Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test with Dunn's post test. *=p<0.05.

5.2.6 Mavrilimumab caused induction of CCL17 and TNF α in synovial fluid treated monocytes.

Mavrilimumab had little impact on the transcriptional phenotype of synovial fluid stimulated monocytes (Figure 5.8). To determine whether there were any functional differences, cytokine and chemokine secretion were analysed. Isolated monocytes were pre-incubated with Mavrilimumab or the isotype for 30 minutes prior to stimulation with synovial fluid. Chapter 4 analysed how CCL17 was inhibited by synovial fluid after GM-CSF stimulation. Therefore, it was determined whether inhibition of GM-CSF had an impact on CCL17 induction. The pro-inflammatory cytokines: IL-6; IL-8; and TNF α were also analysed.

Secretion of IL-6 was unaffected by pre-treatment with Mavrilimumab (CAM3001), however there was a large amount of variability with the level of cytokine produced. IL-8 was induced by pre-treatment with Mavrilimumab, and one sample was out of range above detection of the assay. The addition of synovial fluid stimulation had no impact on both IL-6 and IL-8 secretion. CCL17 was undetected in the monocytes pre-treated with the isotype, however stimulation of monocytes with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluids caused detectable, but low levels of CCL17 induction (Figure 5.10). Pre-incubation with Mavrilimumab had no effect on the monocytes stimulated with OA or PsA synovial fluid, but caused a significant increase in CCL17 induction in monocytes stimulated with RA synovial fluid. In chapter 4, GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid costimulation inhibited CCL17 secretion. Therefore, in this situation, perhaps inhibition of GM-CSF allowed the up-regulation of CCL17. TNF α had a very low level of induction in the monocytes pre-treated with the isotype, which slightly increased in the Mavrilimumab pre-treated monocytes. Surprisingly, in the monocytes pre-incubated with Mavrilimumab, and stimulated with synovial fluids from RA, OA or PsA patients, there was a significant increase in the induction of TNF α in comparison to the monocytes pre-incubated with the isotype.

The significant induction of $TNF\alpha$ after pre-treatment of monocytes with Mavrilimumab was an unexpected and surprising finding, however, this study was only an 'n' of 2 buffy coats. Although this suggests that Mavrilimumab causes an up-regulation of $TNF\alpha$, further studies were required to validate this finding.



Figure 5.10 Monocytes pre-treated with Mavrilimumab secreted TNF α and CCL17. Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=2) were pre-treated with Mavrilimumab (CAM3001) or the isotype (CAT004) for 30 minutes prior to the addition of 10% RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid (n=4). After 24 hours, supernatants were collected and analysed for CCL17, IL-8, IL-6 and TNF α by ELISA. Horizontal bar indicates the mean. Statistically analysed using one-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post test. *=p<0.05 and ***=p<0.001.

5.2.7 Investigation into the induction of TNF α by Mavrilimumab.

The previous data showed that Mavrilimumab could potentially cause the induction of $TNF\alpha$ in monocytes. Therefore, to analyse this, a dose response of both Mavrilimumab and the isotype was investigated.

Increasing concentrations of the isotype, increasing concentrations of Mavrilimumab and 50ng/ml GM-CSF were used to stimulate monocytes as well as monocytes cultured alone. Stimulation for 4, 16 and 24 hours showed that monocytes alone had a basal level of TNF α secretion (Figure 5.11A). All concentrations of Mavrilimumab resulted in a similar level of TNF α secretion to monocytes alone, whereas the isotype inhibited TNF α production in a dose dependent manner. The GM-CSF positive control caused induction of TNF α , 16 hours after stimulation.

It was an unexpected finding that the isotype for Mavrilimumab inhibited the basal level of TNF α after pre-stimulation. Therefore, it was considered that it could be due to non-specific binding. To examine whether this was the case, monocytes were cultured in media containing human serum to prevent unspecific binding of the antibody. The isotype still inhibited the basal level of TNF α secretion at all analysed concentrations, whereas Mavrilimumab had no change in TNF α production in comparison to the untreated monocyte control (Figure 5.11B).

Therefore, it was necessary to elucidate why this was occurring. One hypothesis was that the isotype was inducing cell death, and therefore preventing the induction of TNF α . To investigate this hypothesis, monocytes were cultured alone, with Mavrilimumab, the isotype or with GM-CSF as a positive control and analysed for apoptosis via FACS (Figure 5.12A-D). Monocytes treated with Mavrilimumab or the isotype had similar levels of apoptosis, comparable with monocytes alone, therefore this was not the reason for inhibition of TNF α . It was possible that the isotype was actually binding to cells, therefore the isotype was fluorescently labelled with vioblue. Using FACS, it was possible to compare binding of the isotype to cells in comparison to unstained cells and FACS beads, which were a positive control. There was a marginal shift in the expression of

isotype labelled-vioblue positive cells in comparison with unstained cells suggesting there was some binding of the isotype to the cells (Figure 5.12E). Controls were used to confirm the isotype was successfully labelled using FACS beads, and so a comparison of vioblue-labelled FACS beads were compared with unstained beads and another pacific blue antibody. The isotype was successfully labelled with the vioblue-fluorescent probe as there was a large shift between unstained and labelled beads (Figure 5.12F) and it was comparable with another pacific blue antibody fluorescence (Figure 5.12G).

These data confirm that Mavrilimumab was not inducing $TNF\alpha$ in monocytes, however, the relevant isotype inhibited $TNF\alpha$ induction. Investigations into the mechanism in which the isotype caused $TNF\alpha$ inhibition were inconclusive, however, the data showed that inhibition was not due to unspecific binding through the use of human serum. Apoptosis was not induced but the isotype had only slight binding to the cells. As I was unable to include an appropriate control antibody there was difficulty in interpretation of the effect of Mavrilimumab on monocytes.





в

TNFa



Figure 5.11 Dose response of Mavrilimumab and isotype analysing TNF α induction. A) Monocytes isolated from buffy coats (n=3) were incubated with increasing concentrations of Mavrilimumab (CAM3001) or the isotype. Supernatants were collected at 4, 16 and 24 hours and analysed by ELISA for TNF α . B) Monocytes separated from buffy coats (n=2) were cultured in media containing human serum and increasing concentrations of Mavrilimumab or the isotype. Supernatants were analysed after 24 hours for TNF α by ELISA. 50ng/ml GM-CSF was used to treat monocytes as a positive control in both A) and B).


Figure 5.12 Isotype does not induce apoptosis in monocytes.

Monocytes isolated from a buffy coat (n=1) were cultured for 24 hours A) alone or with B) 50ng/ml GM-CSF, C) 10µg/ml Mavrilimumab or D) 10µg/ml Isotype for 24 hours. Monocytes were assessed for apoptosis by Annexin V and PI by FACS. E-G) The isotype was fluorescently labelled with vioblue fluorophore and used to analyse binding to monocytes. E) Unstained cells (red) in relation to cells stained with the vioblue isotype (blue). F) Beads labelled with the vioblue isotype (blue) relative to unstained beads (red). G) Beads labelled with the vioblue isotype (blue) in relation to the beads with another pacific blue antibody (red).

5.3 Discussion

Macrophages are highly plastic cells that change their phenotype and activation in response to environmental triggers such as endogenous DAMPs and cytokines (57). In this chapter, investigations were undertaken into macrophage polarisation in response to disease relevant stimuli. Specifically, arthropathy derived synovial fluids were used in order to assess the impact of Mavrilimumab on macrophage phenotypes.

Initial experiments examined macrophage phenotypes under experimental stimuli. The classification system widely used in the macrophage field is the M1 or M2 phenotype. There have been studies suggesting M1 macrophages are in vitro derived through stimulation with IFN_Y, IFN_Y with LPS or GM-CSF, whereas M2 macrophages are derived through stimulation with IL-4, IL-4 and IL-13 or M-CSF (61). In this chapter, macrophages were defined as M0 if they were differentiated with M-CSF alone, M1 for macrophages differentiated with IFN γ , M2 for macrophages differentiated with IL-4 and M-GM for macrophages differentiated with GM-CSF. The nomenclature devised for these experiments was for ease of comparison of macrophages differentiated with synovial fluid with experimental macrophages. We aimed to determine whether there were transcriptional phenotypic similarities between an experimental macrophage and the synovial fluid stimulated macrophages. The M0, M1 and M2 macrophages had distinct transcriptional phenotypes, however the M-GM did not have a specific transcript that was more highly expressed than the other phenotypes. In comparison to the Beyer et al paper (322), in Figure 5.1 there was a significant reduction of CD64 in M2 macrophages in comparison to M1 macrophages. There was also an increase in CD23 expression in M2 macrophages, as well as M1 macrophages highly expressing APOL2, APOL3 and APOL6. Interestingly, Beyer et al., also observed M1 macrophages expressing APOL1, LILRA2 and LILRB3 at significantly higher levels than M2 macrophages, which were not reproduced in this experiment. Krausgruber et al., (327) found M1 macrophages, or macrophages differentiated in GM-CSF to highly express IRF5, whereas in Figure 5.1, M2 macrophages had significantly greater expression of IRF5 than M0 macrophages. M-GM macrophages had a 2.5 fold increase in IRF5 in comparison to MO macrophages, which could potentially explain why Krausgruber et al., saw an increase in expression. However, M2 macrophages differentiated with IL-4

had greater expression of IRF5. GM-CSF has also been shown to induce IRF4 (328), however this analysis found a greater expression of IRF4 in M2 macrophages. Comparing our findings with the literature shows how there are many different ways of differentiating M1 and M2 macrophages, and variability in assay conditions can lead to differences in expression of transcriptional markers. To improve our findings, we could have used RNAseq or a microarray to fully identify macrophage profiles.

Before examining the effect of synovial fluids on macrophage phenotypic transcripts by TLDA, confirmation of the most consistent housekeeping gene was determined to ensure accurate further analysis. Commonly used housekeeping genes such as GAPDH and ACTB were not consistent across all macrophage phenotypes or the monocyte alone (Figure 5.2). This showed that using a welldefined housekeeping that is popular in the literature is not necessarily the most appropriate for all conditions. In this analysis of 3 buffy coat donors differentiated into macrophages as well as monocytes and PBMCs, the most consistent housekeeping genes were GUSB and UBC, which are less commonly used in the literature. To ensure the housekeeping had a steady CT value, these were used for all further transcriptional analysis.

Analysis of the effect of RA or OA synovial fluid on the polarisation of macrophages was investigated through the analysis of transcriptional profiles. The transcriptional data shown in Figure 5.3 compared monocytes differentiated with experimental stimuli with macrophages stimulated with with RA or OA synovial fluid. Multiple buffy coats and multiple synovial fluids were used to look at the robustness of the observed transcriptional signatures. Both RA and OA synovial fluids had similar effects on the analysed transcripts. This was potentially due to both containing many DAMPs (84). However, this was also surprising considering the previous chapter where OA and RA synovial fluids had different effects on GM-CSF induced secretion of chemokines in monocytes (Figure 4.3). Both OA and RA MSFs had greater expression of CD36, MSR1 and TLR4 in comparison to all experimental macrophages. Despite using multiple buffy coats and multiple synovial fluids to try and gain a robust signature, the data has led us to conclude that there is substantial heterogeneity across healthy donor cells and their response to synovial fluids. This data confirmed that there is a spectrum of activation in macrophages (57) and that the specific

transcriptional analysis of macrophage markers are not necessarily definitive measure of macrophage polarisation. There are other methods of analysis such as flow cytometric analysis of surface receptors and functional assays such as the secretion of cytokines or chemokines (63). RA and OA synovial fluid differentiated macrophages were comparable in the analysed transcript expression. Therefore, we considered whether all arthropathy derived synovial fluids caused a similar phenotype of macrophage. To further investigate, PsA synovial fluids were used and compared with the RA and OA MSF transcript expression. The analysis by qPCR showed the all MSF had a similar transcriptional profile to the MO macrophages stimulated with LPS suggesting that the origin of the synovial fluid has no impact on the transcriptional phenotypes of macrophages (Figure 5.4). However, the unchanged cellular response between synovial fluids from RA, OA or PsA could be due to: storage as long term storage at -80°C could have caused protein degradation; and the synovial fluid was used at 10% as a greater concentration is cytotoxic, however, this dilutes the cytokines and DAMPs to low concentrations which would have less of an effect than recombinant cytokines. The cytokine content of synovial fluids (Figure 4.1) is very heterogeneous, and in some cases, once diluted, would contain negligible levels of factors, such as cytokines.

Functionally, through chemokine analysis, there were also no differences between macrophages differentiated with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluid. The secretion of chemokines is used to define macrophage phenotypes, with CCL3 and CCL5 secretion associated with M1 macrophage phenotypes (329). CCL7 has also been associated with increased induction in M1 macrophages in comparison to M2 macrophages (330), whereas CCL8 is secreted more in an M2 macrophage (266). CXCL1 secretion is not specifically associated with a phenotype of macrophage, however it is produced upon stimulation with LPS, therefore it is potentially a more pro-inflammatory M1 chemokine (331). These chemokines were analysed using a multiplex assay. Synovial fluids caused no induction of chemokines, the assay was functional (Figure 5.5). There were also no differences between RA, OA or PsA differentiated macrophages, suggesting that all synovial fluids have a similar impact on macrophage phenotypes. For most of the analysed chemokines, there was no difference in comparison to the

control, however for CCL7 and CCL8, there was a potential suppression of induction with the addition of synovial fluids.

Despite analysing macrophages polarised with synovial fluids from RA, OA and PsA patients via transcriptional markers and chemokine induction, there were no differences. This suggests either that macrophages have less of an inflammatory response to synovial fluid, or that the diluted synovial fluid was not enough of a stimulus for more dynamic activation where differences between the diseases would be observed. RA and OA synovial fluid have widely been compared and there are many differences in the DAMPs and cytokines content (84,133,140). Therefore, as macrophages are plastic and known to alter phenotypes in response to their environment, it would be expected for differences to be observed. There was also a large level of variability between the buffy coat donors used to differentiate into macrophages. This could potentially have been improved with an increase in the number of buffy coats analysed. A large limitation of the phenotypic analysis of macrophages was the factors analysed. FACS analysis of surface receptors would assess the protein expression of multiple markers such as CD206 and CD23, and the analysis of cytokine secretion such as IL-10, IL-6, TNF α or TGF β could have been used to more thoroughly evaluate macrophage phenotypes.

Macrophages stimulated with synovial fluids from different arthropathies had similar transcriptional profiles and chemokine expression. As macrophages are tissue resident cells, we aimed to determine whether monocytes were more responsive to synovial fluid, as they infiltrate the synovium in response to inflammatory cues. Monocytes had differing levels of most of the transcripts in comparison to macrophages (Figure 5.6), showing that despite originating from monocytes, the differentiation process alters many aspects of the cell's phenotype. Interestingly monocytes transcribe less of CSF2RA (GM-CSFR gene) in comparison to macrophages, which are known to highly express the GM-CSFR on their surface (238). Monocytes had a greater level of CCL2 expression in comparison to macrophages although this was not a significant difference due to the donor variability. Not only were differences observed between monocytes and macrophages, but there were also differences in transcriptional profiles between monocytes stimulated with RA, OA or PsA synovial fluids. PsA synovial fluid stimulated monocytes had a greater expression of most transcripts in comparison to monocytes stimulated with OA synovial fluid, with monocytes stimulated with RA synovial fluid at a level in between (Figure 5.7). Monocytes appeared to be more responsive to the differences in synovial fluid in comparison to macrophages, which may be due to monocytes infiltrating the synovium in response to inflammatory cues, and therefore the factors within the synovial fluid have more of an impact on the fate of the monocyte (56). The differences observed between diseased synovial fluid stimulations suggest that the components are important with regards to monocyte activation. However, this was only analysed in one buffy coat with 4 different synovial fluids from each disease. This would need to be repeated in a greater number of buffy coat donors to confirm the differences between monocytes and macrophages. Due to the ability of monocytes to respond to synovial fluid from RA, OA or PsA patients in different ways, monocytes were used to take forward and assess for activation markers with the addition of Mavrilimumab.

Pre-treatment of monocytes with Mavrilimumab led to no differences between synovial fluid treated monocytes and monocytes alone. This was hard to interpret due to the large level of variability between the monocyte donors. The variability was confirmed to be due to the monocytes and not a batch effect in repeating the assay. When transcripts were analysed from monocytes that were isolated on the same day, with the whole assay taking place at the same time, there was still variation (Figure 5.9). Mavrilimumab had little effect on monocyte activation transcripts, however due to the variation between monocyte donors, no differences could be observed (Figure 5.8). To improve this experiment, more donors could be used to try to minimise variability as this would allow more conclusions to be drawn. Specific activation markers could be analysed by FACS or functionally by cytokine or chemokine analysis. Analysis of cytokines and chemokines was attempted, but the lack of a suitable unstimulated monocyte control prevented further analysis. The lack of this control also gave the impression that monocytes pre-treated with Mavrilimumab were causing the induction of TNF α and CCL17 (Figure 5.10). Based on the interpretation of the data and the missing control, experiments were repeated to investigate the impact of Mavrilimumab on TNF α secretion. Mavrilimumab caused comparable levels of TNF α induction to the unstimulated monocyte

confirming that Mavrilimumab was not inducing TNF α (Figure 5.11A). During development of Mavrilimumab, studies were conducted into the secretion of TNF α from the monocyte, which showed a down-regulation of TNF α with increasing concentrations of Mavrilimumab (332). The experiments revealed however, that the isotype, used in the studies, caused inhibition of TNF α . The inhibition caused by the isotype was an issue as this prevented comparison with Mavrilimumab, thereby preventing any conclusions being drawn.

We therefore aimed to determine how the isotype was causing such a dramatic dose dependent inhibition of $TNF\alpha$. Initially human serum was used instead of FBS in the media to block unspecific binding and could prevent the observed inhibition. This was not the case, as even with human serum in the media, there was inhibition of $TNF\alpha$ by the isotype. This suggested that the isotype was either binding to cells, inhibiting TNF α signalling, or that it was causing the cells to apoptose (Figure 5.11B). Apoptosis analysis revealed that monocytes treated with Mavrilimumab or the isotype had similar levels of apoptosis to monocytes alone, suggesting that this was not the cause of TNF α inhibition (Figure 5.12A). Fluorescent labelling the isotype allowed us to assess the ability of the isotype to bind to monocytes. There was a marginal shift in isotype expression in comparison to unstained cells, showing that the labelled isotype was not fully binding to cells. This suggested that by directly binding to the monocyte, the isotype was causing inhibition of $TNF\alpha$ from the basal level. Despite this unusual finding, it was not possible to pursue this any further. However, the hypothesis that the IgG_4 isotype could be binding to $Fc\gamma$ receptors and causing downregulation of TNF α is unlikely. It has been shown that binding of immune complexes to Fcy receptors caused a down-regulation of IL-12 secretion in monocytes (333), however TNF α secretion was induced in macrophages and DCs upon FcyR triggering (68,334). Interestingly, however, binding of mouse FcyRI by small immune complexes have shown to have induce IL-10 responses and downregulate IL-12 (245). Furthermore $Fc\gamma RI$ has been shown to bind IgG_4 (335). The effects of non-complexed IgG4 binding in human monocytes has also been examined in monocyte-derived macrophages, whereby IgG_4 inhibited IFNy mediated events such as the secretion of CXCL10 via FcyRI (336). Therefore, there could be the potential for IgG_4 to bind $Fc\gamma RI$ and inhibit the induction of

TNF α in monocytes, as a hypothesis for the observation in Figure 5.11. However, as the inhibition of TNF α by the isotype was not the main focus of the experiment it was not fully investigated.

This chapter has shown how macrophages stimulated with synovial fluids are a polarised macrophage and a part of the macrophage phenotypic spectrum. The synovial macrophage phenotype, both from the synovial membrane and the synovial fluid also has broad qualities and are incompletely understood (325). These macrophages secrete pro-inflammatory mediators such as TNF α and IL-1, suggesting an M1 phenotype, but also IL-10, IL-1RA and TGF β , which are more M2-like traits (325,337). Interestingly, the macrophages that were polarised with RA, OA and PsA synovial fluids were comparable both transcriptionally and in chemokine induction. Monocytes were much more responsive to diseased synovial fluids, and differentiating the monocytes in synovial fluids from day 1 rather than in M-CSF first could have created a more accurate in vitro derived synovial macrophage. Analysis of Mavrilimumab with respect to monocyte phenotype was inconclusive due to the large level of variability between buffy coat donors and the effect of the isotype on monocytes. In order to move forward with this research, it would be interesting to analyse the phenotype of macrophages directly from synovial membranes and synovial fluid in relation to an *in vitro* stimulated macrophage. Also, the effect of Mavrilimumab on macrophage and monocyte phenotypes stimulated with synovial fluid would be interesting as this would determine whether GM-CSF has in a synovial context has an effect on macrophage activation. However, a more robust assay that would limit donor heterogeneity and an isotype that caused no inhibitory effects on the cells would be required for conclusive analysis of Mavrilimumab. More ways of analysing phenotypes by methods such as FACS could also provide information on the activation of the cells. Overall, this chapter has determined that macrophages that are exposed to synovial fluid are polarised to a unique phenotype. Monocytes, that would potentially infiltrate the synovium, appear more responsive to synovial fluid stimulation and transcriptionally have altered phenotypes dependent on synovial fluid disease origin. Further studies are warranted to understand in greater detail the impact of synovial fluid on macrophage differentiation, as these are key cell types involved in RA pathology.

Chapter 6 General Discussion

This thesis has examined the relationship between the synovial environment and GM-CSF and their impact on monocytes and macrophages. When monocytes infiltrate the synovium, they are exposed to multiple factors that influence their inflammatory response (320). The monocyte response to environmental stimuli, prior to differentiation was unknown. Therefore, we aimed to evaluate the effect of GM-CSF on chemokine responses secreted from monocytes, as well as the influence of the environment on monocytes and macrophage polarisation.

These data have highlighted that monocytes secrete substantial quantities of the CCR4 binding chemokine, CCL17, after 24 hours of stimulation with GM-CSF. GM-CSF is a relevant cytokine to examine as it has been found at high levels within the synovial fluid and CD4⁺ T cells have been shown to be producers of GM-CSF in the RA synovium (326,338). However, as Chapters 3 and 4 have identified, the capacity of monocytes to secrete CCL17 can be inhibited my multiple factors, including TLR ligands, RA synovial fluid, Small Immune Complexes and IFN α . The ability of RA synovial fluid to inhibit the secretion of a pro-inflammatory chemokine was unique, as RA synovial fluid has previously been found to be stimulatory rather than inhibitory. RA synovial fluid has prevented the apoptosis of neutrophils, thereby leading to the persistence of activated neutrophils, exacerbating the inflammatory pathology (339). Monocytes differentiated with IL-4 or IL-13 for 3 or 6 days had an increase in secretion of CCL18 when costimulated with RA synovial fluid, showing that RA synovial fluid can cause an up-regulation in chemokine secretion (340). We found RA synovial fluid inhibited the GM-CSF induced secretion of CCL17, which is a novel inhibitory response opposed to the multiple stimulatory responses that have previously been observed. This suggests that not only are there pro-inflammatory responses involved in RA pathogenesis, but to some level there are more regulatory mechanisms. In this instance, monocytes have the ability, prior to their differentiation, to cause the influx of CCR4⁺ T cells into the joint, however the synovial milieu prevents this.

Analysis of CCL17, CCR4 and GM-CSFR α in the RA synovium, in Chapter 3, found that CCL17 and CCR4 were prevalent in the tissue. This suggests that despite synovial fluid inhibiting the secretion of CCL17 from monocytes, there must be

other cell types that are secreting CCL17, leading to the infiltration of CCR4⁺ cells that are observed in the tissue. Dendritic cells are also known to secrete CCL17 upon TSLP stimulation, and TSLP has been found in the RA synovial fluid (180,268). Interestingly, RANKL, which is present within the RA synovium (341) has been found to mediate an increase in the secretion of TSLP induced CCL17 from DCs (342). This suggests that the induction of CCL17 from DCs could be upregulated by factors within synovial fluid, whereas for monocytes, this induction is inhibited.

Our investigations into the mechanism of inhibition by RA synovial fluid initially analysed pSTAT5 as it was downstream in the signalling cascade from GM-CSFR α . There was no difference observed in unstimulated monocytes compared with monocytes pre-treated with RA synovial fluid. We concluded that pSTAT5 or upstream molecules were not impacted by synovial fluid. Interestingly, STAT6 has been identified as a transcription factor for CCL17 downstream of IL-4 signalling (267). Therefore, we investigated whether this transcription factor was down-regulated after RA synovial fluid signalling. There was a slight downregulation after RA synovial fluid, but as this was a preliminary study, it was inconclusive, but repeating this experiment would confirm whether STAT6 was involved. Identifying the transcription factor that GM-CSF signalling activates to transcribe CCL17 is important to confirm whether Immune complexes, TLR ligands and IFN α affect activation of this transcription factor.

We have identified that RA synovial fluid differs from OA synovial fluid in the capacity to inhibit GM-CSF induced CCL17 in monocytes. However, the effect of synovial fluid on macrophage polarisation, showed that it was not dependent on the disease origin. Despite synovial fluid polarisation forming distinct macrophages, they had comparable transcriptional profiles despite the origin of the synovial fluid. Whether these macrophages were comparable with macrophages that were directly isolated from the synovium it is unknown, but this would be an interesting comparison. Synovial macrophages are generally associated more with an M1 phenotype due to the pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF α and IL-1, that they secrete. However, they are also known to secrete the more anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (343). This suggests that there could be multiple subsets of macrophages within the synovium. It could

also suggest that the mixed M1 and M2 phenotype observed in our experimentally produced macrophages differentiated with synovial fluid, are similar to those observed in synovial macrophages. Further investigation would be required to examine this observation. Understanding macrophages of the synovium is important to understand RA pathogenesis, as macrophages of the sub-lining layer have been suggested as a potential biomarker to predict therapeutic efficacy (344). For this reason we aimed to establish the effect of Mavrilimumab on macrophage and monocyte phenotypes, as GM-CSFR α was identified at high levels in areas where CD68 was also expressed (Chapter 3). However, due to the large level of variability between human monocyte donors and the isotype phenotype that caused inhibition of TNF α , this could not be achieved.

6.1 Future Work

We found in Chapter 3 that the ability of monocytes to secrete CCL17 was inhibited by TLR ligands. When we observed in Chapter 4 that RA synovial fluid also inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL17 in monocytes, it was assumed that TLR ligands within the fluid were causing this. However, TLR ligands were not the only factor with the capacity to cause inhibition of CCL17. Therefore, future work would include identifying the specific factors within synovial fluid that cause inhibition of CCL17. In order to achieve this, fractionating the synovial fluid based on size would be the initial method to narrow down the investigations. As we know that small immune complexes can mimic the RA synovial fluid in causing inhibition, it would be interesting to isolate the ACPA or RF from the fluid to determine whether they have the same effect. It would also be important to identify the specific mechanism leading to inhibition of CCL17. Our data suggests there could be multiple pathways as there are several factors that cause inhibition of GM-CSF driven CCL17, however, it would be important to confirm this. There is the possibility that there are multiple signalling pathways that lead to the same factor that inhibits transcription of CCL17.

These data have analysed monocytes as a whole, however it would be interesting to determine whether the different subsets of monocytes, categorised by their CD14 and CD16 expression, had varying responses to GM-CSF and RA synovial fluid. OA synovial fluid had variable effects on the inhibition of CCL17, therefore, it would be important to identify whether the factor within OA synovial fluid that caused inhibition was the same as the RA synovial fluid. OA synovial fluid significantly inhibited GM-CSF induced CCL3 and CCL4, and it would be interesting to understand the mechanism of inhibition, as well as its biological relevance and impact on disease pathology.

It would still be of interest to understand the impact of Mavrilimumab on monocyte and macrophage phenotypes within the synovium, however, a reliable isotype and experimental system would be required for this. Also, analysis via flow cytometry or assessing cytokine and chemokine release as well as transcriptional analysis or RNAseq would give a greater depth to phenotypic profile analysis. Mavrilimumab impacted on CCL17 and CCL22 in serum of patients, highlighting that GM-CSF driven CCL17 and CCL22 could be involved in RA pathogenesis (295).

6.2 Conclusions

This thesis has identified a novel regulatory system within the RA synovium. Monocytes exposed to GM-CSF secrete CCL17, however, in the RA synovial environment, this induction is inhibited. CCL17 chemoattracts CCR4⁺ cells into the synovium, which upon activation secrete GM-CSF. Therefore, the inhibition of CCL17 could potentially prevent the influx of CCR4⁺ cells into the synovium, thereby regulating the inflammatory cell infiltration into the joint. However, as there are other cells such as dendritic cells that secrete CCL17, there is still the possibility of CCR4⁺ T recruitment into the tissue. Inhibition of GM-CSF driven CCL17 by RA synovial fluid was mimicked by TLR ligands, small immune complexes and IFN α . This suggests multiple mechanisms can cause inhibition of this pathway, which need further investigation.

Appendix

Media

Complete RPMI:

500ml Incomplete RPMI (Gibco, Invitrogen)50ml Heat Inactivated Foetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen)5ml Penicillin-Streptomycin (Sigma)

Human Serum RPMI:

500ml Incomplete RPMI (Gibco, Invitrogen)50ml Human Serum (Biowest)5ml Penicillin-Streptomycin (Sigma)

T Cell Media:

500ml Incomplete RPMI (Gibco, Invitrogen) 50ml Heat Inactivated Foetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen) 5ml Penicillin-Streptomycin (Sigma) 5ml L-Glutamine (Sigma)

Complete Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (D-MEM):

500ml Incomplete D-MEM 50ml Heat Inactivated Foetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen) 5ml Penicillin-Streptomycin (Sigma) 5ml L-Glutamine (Sigma)

Buffers

Cell Separation Buffer:

500ml dPBS (Gibco, Invitrogen) 10ml FBS (Invitrogen)

FACS buffer:

1L 1x PBS 3% BSA 1mM EDTA 0.05% Sodium Azide

ELISA Coating Buffer: 1L 1x PBS

ELISA Assay Buffer: 1x PBS 1% BSA

ELISA Wash Buffer:

1x PBS 0.05% Tween

IHC Citrate Buffer (pH6)

2.1g Citric Acid 1L dH_2O

IHC Wash Buffer (TBST)

1x TBS 0.05% Tween

Protein A/G/L magnetic bead binding buffer

50 mM Tris 150 mM NaCl In dH₂O, pH 7.5

References

- Sweeney SE, Firestein GS. Rheumatoid arthritis: regulation of synovial inflammation. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*. [Online] 2004;36(3): 372-378. Available from: doi:10.1016/S1357-2725(03)00259-0
- Firestein GS. Evolving concepts of rheumatoid arthritis. Nature. [Online] 2003;423(6937): 356-361. Available from: doi:10.1038/nature01661
- 3. McInnes IB, Schett G. Cytokines in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] 2007;7(6): 429-442. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri2094
- 4. Taylor PC, Feldmann M. Rheumatoid arthritis: pathogenic mechanisms and therapeutic targets. *Drug Discovery Today: Disease Mechanisms*. [Online] 2004;1(3): 289-295. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.ddmec.2004.10.006
- 5. Miedany El Y. Co-morbidity index in rheumatoid arthritis: time to think. 2015;34(12): 1995-2000. Available from: doi:10.1007/s10067-015-3101-0
- 6. Gullick NJ, Scott DL. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2011;25(4): 469-483. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.berh.2011.10.009
- 7. Tobón GJ, Youinou P, Saraux A. The environment, geo-epidemiology, and autoimmune disease: Rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Autoimmunity*. [Online] 2010;35(1): 10-14. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2009.12.009
- 8. Gibofsky A. Overview of epidemiology, pathophysiology, and diagnosis of rheumatoid arthritis. 2012;18(13 Suppl): S295-S302. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=23327517&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 9. Arnett FC, Edworthy SM, Bloch DA, McShane DJ, Fries JF, Cooper NS, et al. The American Rheumatism Association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 1988;31(3): 315-324.
- 10. Aletaha D, Neogi T, Silman AJ, Funovits J, Felson DT, Bingham CO, et al. 2010 rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2010;69(9): 1580-1588. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2010.138461
- 11. Uhlig T, Kvien TK. Is rheumatoid arthritis disappearing? Annals of the

Rheumatic Diseases. [Online] 2005;64(1): 7-10. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2004.023044

- 12. Uhlig T, Moe RH, Kvien TK. The burden of disease in rheumatoid arthritis. *PharmacoEconomics*. [Online] 2014;32(9): 841-851. Available from: doi:10.1007/s40273-014-0174-6
- 13. Symmons DP, Barrett EM, Bankhead CR, Scott DG, Silman AJ. The incidence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United Kingdom: results from the Norfolk Arthritis Register. *British journal of rheumatology*. 1994;33(8): 735-739.
- 14. Anaya JM, Correa PA, Mantilla RD, Jimenez F, Kuffner T, McNicholl JM. Rheumatoid arthritis in African Colombians from Quibdo. Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism. [Online] 2001;31(3): 191-198. Available from: doi:10.1053/sarh.2001.27737
- 15. Kochi Y, Suzuki A, Yamamoto K. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. [Online] Elsevier Inc; 2014;452(2): 254-262. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.07.085
- 16. Orozco G, Rueda B, Martin J. Genetic basis of rheumatoid arthritis. Biomedicine & pharmacotherapy = Biomédecine & pharmacothérapie. [Online] 2006;60(10): 656-662. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.biopha.2006.09.003
- 17. Deighton CM, Walker DJ, Griffiths ID, Roberts DF. The contribution of HLA to rheumatoid arthritis. 1989;36(3): 178-182. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=2676268&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 18. Harney SMJ, Newton JL, Wordsworth BP. Molecular genetics of rheumatoid arthritis. *Current Opinion in Pharmacology*. [Online] 2003;3(3): 280-285. Available from: doi:10.1016/S1471-4892(03)00049-3
- 19. Huizinga TWJ. Genetics in rheumatoid arthritis. *Best Practice and Research Clinical Rheumatology*.2003;17(5): 703-716. Available from: doi:10.1016/S1521-6942(03)00040-8
- 20. Han B, Diogo D, Eyre S, Kallberg H, Zhernakova A, Bowes J, et al. AR TICLEFine Mapping Seronegative and Seropositive Rheumatoid Arthritis to Shared and Distinct HLA Alleles by Adjusting for the Effects of Heterogeneity. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*. [Online] The American Society of Human Genetics; 2014;94(4): 522-532. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2014.02.013
- 21. Messemaker TC, Huizinga TW, Kurreeman F. Journal of Autoimmunity. *Journal of Autoimmunity*. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2015;64(C): 74-81. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2015.07.007
- 22. Karlson EW, Deane K. Environmental and Gene-Environment Interactions and Risk of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatic Disease*

Clinics of North America. [Online] 2012;38(2): 405-426. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.rdc.2012.04.002

- 23. Karlson EW, Ding B, Keenan BT, Liao K, Costenbader KH, Klareskog L, et al. Association of Environmental and Genetic Factors and Gene-Environment Interactions With Risk of Developing Rheumatoid Arthritis. Arthritis Care & Research. [Online] 2013;65(7): 1147-1156. Available from: doi:10.1002/acr.22005
- 24. Kallberg H, Ding B, Padyukov L, Bengtsson C, Ronnelid J, Klareskog L, et al. Smoking is a major preventable risk factor for rheumatoid arthritis: estimations of risks after various exposures to cigarette smoke. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2011;70(3): 508-511. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2009.120899
- 25. Krishnan E, Sokka T, Hannonen P. Smoking-gender interaction and risk for rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2003;5(3): R158-R162. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar750
- 26. Kobayashi S, Okamoto H, Iwamoto T, Toyama Y, Tomatsu T, Yamanaka H, et al. A role for the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and the dioxin TCDD in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2008;47(9): 1317-1322. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ken259
- 27. Mahdi H, Fisher BA, Kallberg H, Plant D, Malmström V, Rönnelid J, et al. Specific interaction between genotype, smoking and autoimmunity to citrullinated. *Nature Genetics*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2009;41(12): 1319-1324. Available from: doi:10.1038/ng.480
- 28. Cantorna MT, Hayes CE, DeLuca HF. 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol inhibits the progression of arthritis in murine models of human arthritis. *The Journal of nutrition*. 1998;128(1): 68-72.
- 29. James MJ, Gibson RA, Cleland LG. Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids and inflammatory mediator production. *The American journal of Clinical Nutrition*. 2000.
- Stamp LK, James MJ, Cleland LG. Diet and Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Review of the Literature. Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism. [Online] 2005;35(2): 77-94. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2005.05.001
- 31. Sokka T, Toloza S, Cutolo M. Women, men, and rheumatoid arthritis: analyses of disease activity, disease characteristics, and treatments in the QUEST-RA study. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* [Online] 2009. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar2591
- 32. de Man YA, Dolhain RJEM, van de Geijn FE, Willemsen SP, Hazes JMW. Disease activity of rheumatoid arthritis during pregnancy: Results from a nationwide prospective study. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*.
 [Online] 2008;59(9): 1241-1248. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.24003

- 33. Barrett JH, Brennan P, Fiddler M. Breast-feeding and postpartum relapse in women with rheumatoid and inflammatory arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 2000.
- 34. Spector TD, Roman E, Silman AJ. The pill, parity, and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 1990;33(6): 782-789.
- 35. Islander U, Jochems C, Lagerquist MK, Forsblad-d'Elia H, Carlsten H. Estrogens in rheumatoid arthritis; the immune system and bone. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology*. [Online] 2011;335(1): 14-29. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.mce.2010.05.018
- 36. Man GS, Mologhianu G. Osteoarthritis pathogenesis a complex process that involves the entire joint. *Journal of medicine and life*. 2014;7(1): 37-41.
- 37. Sokolove J, Lepus CM. Role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis: latest findings and interpretations. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease*. [Online] 2013;5(2): 77-94. Available from: doi:10.1177/1759720X12467868
- 38. KATZ J. Total joint replacement in osteoarthritis. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*. [Online] 2006;20(1): 145-153. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.berh.2005.09.003
- 39. Clouet J, Vinatier C, Merceron C, Pot-vaucel M, Maugars Y, Weiss P, et al. From osteoarthritis treatments to future regenerative therapies for cartilage. [Online] Drug discovery today. 2009. pp. 913-925. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2009.07.012
- 40. Gladman DD. Psoriatic arthritis: epidemiology, clinical features, course, and outcome. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2005;64(suppl_2): ii14-ii17. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2004.032482
- 41. Nograles KE, Brasington RD, Bowcock AM. New insights into the pathogenesis and genetics of psoriatic arthritis. *Nature clinical practice Rheumatology*. [Online] 2009;5(2): 83-91. Available from: doi:10.1038/ncprheum0987
- 42. Veale DJ. Psoriatic arthritis: recent progress in pathophysiology and drug development. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. BioMed Central Ltd; 2013;15(6): 224.
- 43. FitzGerald O, Winchester R. Psoriatic arthritis: from pathogenesis to therapy. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2009;11(1): 214. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar2580
- 44. Frleta M, Siebert S, McInnes IB. The interleukin-17 pathway in psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis: disease pathogenesis and possibilities of treatment. *Current rheumatology reports*. [Online] 2014. Available from: doi:10.1007/s11926-014-0414-y
- 45. Mease PJ, Genovese MC, Greenwald MW, Ritchlin CT, Beaulieu AD,

Deodhar A, et al. Brodalumab, an anti-IL17RA monoclonal antibody, in psoriatic arthritis. *The New England journal of medicine*. [Online] 2014;370(24): 2295-2306. Available from: doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1315231

- 46. Dennis G, Holweg CTJ, Kummerfeld SK, Choy DF, Setiadi AF, Hackney JA, et al. Synovial phenotypes in rheumatoid arthritis correlate with response to biologic therapeutics. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2014;16(2): R90. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar4555
- 47. Gordon S, Taylor PR. Monocyte and macrophage heterogeneity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] 2005;5(12): 953-964. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri1733
- 48. Ginhoux F, Jung S. Monocytes and macrophages: developmental pathways and tissue homeostasis. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2014;14(6): 392-404. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3671
- 49. Dai X-M, Ryan GR, Hapel AJ, Dominguez MG, Russell RG, Kapp S, et al. Targeted disruption of the mouse colony-stimulating factor 1 receptor gene results in osteopetrosis, mononuclear phagocyte deficiency, increased primitive progenitor cell frequencies, and reproductive defects. *Blood*. 2002;99(1): 111-120.
- 50. Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU, et al. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nature Publishing Group*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2014;14(8): 571-578. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3712
- 51. Frankenberger M, Sternsdorf T, Pechumer H, Pforte A, Ziegler-Heitbrock HW. Differential cytokine expression in human blood monocyte subpopulations: a polymerase chain reaction analysis. 1996;87(1): 373-377. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=8547664&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 52. Ziegler-Heitbrock L, Ancuta P, Crowe S, Dalod M, Grau V, Hart DN, et al. Nomenclature of monocytes and dendritic cells in blood. *Blood*. [Online] 2010;116(16): e74-e80. Available from: doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-258558
- 53. Shi C, Pamer EG. Monocyte recruitment during infectionand inflammation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2011;11(11): 762-774. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3070
- 54. Kawanaka N, Yamamura M, Aita T, Morita Y, Okamoto A, Kawashima M, et al. CD14+,CD16+ blood monocytes and joint inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis. 2002;46(10): 2578-2586. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.10545
- 55. Iwahashi M, Yamamura M, Aita T, Okamoto A, Ueno A, Ogawa N, et

al. Expression of Toll-like receptor 2 on CD16+ blood monocytes and synovial tissue macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2004;50(5): 1457-1467. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.20219

- 56. Roberts CA, Dickinson AK, Taams LS. The Interplay Between Monocytes/Macrophages and CD4+ T Cell Subsets in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Frontiers in immunology*. [Online] 2015;6(3): 650. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200310
- 57. Mosser DM, Edwards JP. Exploring the full spectrum of macrophage activation. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] 2008;8(12): 958-969. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri2448
- 58. Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2011;11(11): 723-737. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3073
- 59. Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, Teo P, Beasley MB, Leboeuf M, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. *Immunity*. [Online] 2013;38(4): 792-804. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004
- 60. Epelman S, Lavine KJ, Beaudin AE, Sojka DK, Carrero JA, Calderon B, et al. Embryonic and Adult-Derived Resident Cardiac Macrophages Are Maintained through Distinct Mechanisms at Steady State and during Inflammation. *Immunity*. [Online] Elsevier Inc; 2014;40(1): 91-104. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.11.019
- 61. Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Reports*. [Online] 2014;6. Available from: doi:10.12703/P6-13
- 62. Lawrence T, Natoli G. Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] 2011;11(11): 750-761. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3088
- 63. Murray PJ, Allen JE, Biswas SK, Fisher EA, Gilroy DW, Goerdt S, et al. Macrophage activation and polarization: nomenclature and experimental guidelines. *Immunity*. [Online] 2014;41(1): 14-20. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.06.008
- 64. Galli SJ, Borregaard N, Wynn TA. Phenotypic and functional plasticity of cells of innate immunity: macrophages, mast cells and neutrophils. *Nature Immunology*. [Online] 2011;12(11): 1035-1044. Available from: doi:10.1038/ni.2109
- 65. Xing R, Jin Y, Sun L, Yang L, Li C, LI Z, et al. Interleukin-21 induces migration and invasion of fibroblast-like synoviocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. [Online] 2016;184(2): 147-158. Available from: doi:10.1111/cei.12751

- 66. Juarez M, Filer A, Buckley CD. Fibroblasts as therapeutic targets in rheumatoid arthritis and cancer. *Swiss medical weekly*. [Online] 2012;142: w13529. Available from: doi:10.4414/smw.2012.13529
- 67. Donlin LT, Jayatilleke A, Giannopoulou EG, Kalliolias GD, Ivashkiv LB. Modulation of TNF-induced macrophage polarization by synovial fibroblasts. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2014;193(5): 2373-2383. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1400486
- 68. Ambarus CA, Noordenbos T, de Hair MJ, Tak PP, Baeten DL. Intimal lining layer macrophages but not synovialsublining macrophages display an IL-10polarized-like phenotype in chronic synovitis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] BioMed Central Ltd; 2012;14(2): R74. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar3796
- 69. Li J, Hsu H-C, Mountz JD. Managing macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis by reform or removal. *Current rheumatology reports*. [Online] 2012;14(5): 445-454. Available from: doi:10.1007/s11926-012-0272-4
- 70. Davignon J-L, Hayder M, Baron M, Boyer J-F, Constantin A, Apparailly F, et al. Targeting monocytes/macrophages in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2013;52(4): 590-598. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kes304
- 71. Khan S, Greenberg JD, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cells as targets for therapy in rheumatoid arthritis. 2009;5(10): 566-571. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2009.185
- 72. Guilliams M, van de Laar L. A Hitchhiker's Guide to Myeloid Cell Subsets: Practical Implementation of a Novel Mononuclear Phagocyte Classification System. *Frontiers in immunology*. [Online] 2015;6. Available from: doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00406
- 73. Guilliams M, Ginhoux F, Jakubzick C, Naik SH, Onai N, Schraml BU, et al. Dendritic cells, monocytes and macrophages: a unified nomenclature based on ontogeny. *Nature Publishing Group*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2014;14(8): 571-578. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3712
- 74. Seillet C, Belz GT. *Terminal Differentiation of Dendritic Cells*. [Online]. 1st ed. Elsevier Inc; 2013. 26 p. Available from: doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-417028-5.00007-7
- 75. Brocker T. Survival of mature CD4 T lymphocytes is dependent on major histocompatibility complex class II-expressing dendritic cells. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 1997;186(8): 1223-1232.
- 76. Bergroth V, Tsai V, Zvaifler NJ. Differences in responses of normal and rheumatoid arthritis peripheral blood T cells to synovial fluid and peripheral blood dendritic cells in allogeneic mixed leukocyte reactions. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 1989;32(11): 1381-1389. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm

ed&id=2479387&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks

- 77. Thomas R, MacDonald KP, Pettit AR, Cavanagh LL, Padmanabha J, Zehntner S. Dendritic cells and the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. 1999;66(2): 286-292. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=10449169&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 78. O'Reilly S. Pound the alarm: danger signals in rheumatic diseases. *Clinical Science*. [Online] 2014;128(5): 297-305. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.20018
- 79. Sancho D, Sousa CRE. Sensing of cell death by myeloid C-type lectin receptors. *Current Opinion in Immunology*. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2013;25(1): 46-52. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.coi.2012.12.007
- 80. Goh FG, Midwood KS. Intrinsic danger: activation of Toll-like receptors in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2012;51(1): 7-23. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ker257
- 81. Bianchi ME. DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. 2007.
- Foell D, Wittkowski H, Roth J. Mechanisms of disease: a 'DAMP' view of inflammatory arthritis. *Nature clinical practice Rheumatology*.
 [Online] 2007;3(7): 382-390. Available from: doi:10.1038/ncprheum0531
- 83. Chen GY, Nuñez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2010;10(12): 826-837. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri2873
- 84. Baillet A, Trocmé C, Berthier S, Arlotto M, Grange L, Chenau J, et al. Synovial fluid proteomic fingerprint: S100A8, S100A9 and S100A12 proteins discriminate rheumatoid arthritis from other inflammatory joint diseases. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2010;49(4): 671-682. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kep452
- 85. Obry A, Lequerré T, Hardouin J, Boyer O, Fardellone P, Philippe P, et al. Identification of S100A9 as Biomarker of Responsiveness to the Methotrexate/Etanercept Combination in Rheumatoid Arthritis Using a Proteomic Approach. Saleem M (ed.) 2014;9(12): e115800. Available from: doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0115800.t003
- 86. Midwood K, Sacre S, Piccinini AM, Inglis J, Trebaul A, Chan E, et al. Tenascin-C is an endogenous activator of Toll-like receptor 4 that is essential for maintaining inflammation in arthritic joint disease. *Nature medicine*. [Online] 2009;15(7): 774-780. Available from: doi:10.1038/nm.1987
- 87. Page TH, Charles PJ, Piccinini AM, Nicolaidou V, Taylor PC, Midwood KS. Raised circulating tenascin-C in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] BioMed Central Ltd; 2012;14(6): R260. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar4105

- Magna M, Pisetsky D. The Role of HMGB1 in the Pathogenesis of Inflammatory and Autoimmune Diseases. *Molecular Medicine*.
 [Online] 2014;20(1): 1. Available from: doi:10.2119/molmed.2013.00164
- 89. Biscetti F, Flex A, Pecorini G, Angelini F, Arena V, Stigliano E, et al. The role of high-mobility group box protein 1 in collagen antibodyinduced arthritis is dependent on vascular endothelial growth factor. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. [Online] 2016;184(1): 62-72. Available from: doi:10.1111/cei.12758
- 90. Chen Y, Sun W, Gao R, Su Y, Umehara H, Dong L, et al. The role of high mobility group box chromosomal protein 1 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. [Online] 2013;52(10): 1739-1747. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ket134
- 91. TAKAGI M. Toll-like receptor--a potent driving force behind rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of clinical and experimental hematopathology* : *JCEH*. 2011;51(2): 77-92.
- 92. Lu Y-C, Yeh W-C, Ohashi PS. LPS/TLR4 signal transduction pathway. *Cytokine*. [Online] 2008;42(2): 145-151. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2008.01.006
- 93. Joosten LAB, Abdollahi-Roodsaz S, Dinarello CA, O'Neill L, Netea MG. Toll-like receptors and chronic inflammation in rheumatic diseases: new developments. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2016;12(6): 344-357. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2016.61
- 94. McInnes IB, Schett G. The pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *The New England journal of medicine*. [Online] 2011;365(23): 2205-2219. Available from: doi:10.7748/phc2011.11.21.9.29.c8797
- 95. Broere F, Apasov SG, Sitkovsky MV, van Eden W. A2 T cell subsets and T cell-mediated immunity. Basel: Birkhäuser Basel; 2011. pp. 15-27. Available from: doi:10.1007/978-3-0346-0136-8_2
- 96. Furst DE, Emery P. Rheumatoid arthritis pathophysiology: update on emerging cytokine and cytokine-associated cell targets. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2014;53(9): 1560-1569. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ket414
- 97. Romagnani S. T-cell subsets (Th1 versus Th2). Annals of allergy, asthma & immunology : official publication of the American College of Allergy, Asthma, & Immunology. [Online] 2000;85(1): 9-18-quiz18-21. Available from: doi:10.1016/S1081-1206(10)62426-X
- 98. Noack M, Miossec P. Autoimmunity Reviews. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. [Online] Elsevier B.V; 2014;13(6): 668-677. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2013.12.004
- 99. Cope AP, Schulze-Koops H, Aringer M. The central role of T cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*.

2007;25(5 Suppl 46): S4-S11.

- 100. Mauri C, Williams RO, Walmsley M, Feldmann M. Relationship between Th1/Th2 cytokine patterns and the arthritogenic response in collagen-induced arthritis. *European Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 1996;26(7): 1511-1518. Available from: doi:10.1002/eji.1830260716
- 101. Schulze-Koops H, Kalden JR. The balance of Th1/Th2 cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*. [Online] 2001;15(5): 677-691. Available from: doi:10.1053/berh.2001.0187
- 102. Malfait AM, Butler DM, Presky DH, Maini RN, Brennan FM, Feldmann M. Blockade of IL-12 during the induction of collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) markedly attenuates the severity of the arthritis. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. 1998;111(2): 377-383.
- 103. Alonzi T, Fattori E, Lazzaro D, Costa P, Probert L, Kollias G, et al. Interleukin 6 is required for the development of collagen-induced arthritis. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. 1998;187(4): 461-468.
- 104. Murphy CA, Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, et al. Divergent pro- and antiinflammatory roles for IL-23 and IL-12 in joint autoimmune inflammation. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. [Online] 2003;198(12): 1951-1957. Available from: doi:10.1084/jem.20030896
- 105. Nakae S, Nambu A, Sudo K, Iwakura Y. Suppression of Immune Induction of Collagen-Induced Arthritis in IL-17-Deficient Mice. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2003;171(11): 6173-6177. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.6173
- 106. Lubberts E, Koenders MI, Oppers-Walgreen B, van den Bersselaar L, Coenen-de Roo CJJ, Joosten LAB, et al. Treatment with a neutralizing anti-murine interleukin-17 antibody after the onset of collageninduced arthritis reduces joint inflammation, cartilage destruction, and bone erosion. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2004;50(2): 650-659. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.20001
- 107. Lubberts E, Koenders MI, van den Berg WB. The role of T-cell interleukin-17 in conducting destructive arthritis: lessons from animal models. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2005;7(1): 29-37. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar1478
- 108. Honorati MC, Meliconi R, Pulsatelli L, Canè S, Frizziero L, Facchini A. High in vivo expression of interleukin-17 receptor in synovial endothelial cells and chondrocytes from arthritis patients. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. 2001;40(5): 522-527.
- 109. Shahrara S, Pickens SR, Mandelin AM, Karpus WJ, Huang Q, Kolls JK, et al. IL-17-mediated monocyte migration occurs partially through CC chemokine ligand 2/monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 induction. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2010;184(8): 4479-4487.

Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901942

- 110. McDonald C. Novartis' secukinumab expected to have successful Phase III ankylosing spondylitis trial- rheumatologists. pp. 1-2.
- Burmester G-R, Durez P, Shestakova G, Genovese MC, Schulze-Koops H, Li Y, et al. Association of HLA-DRB1alleles with clinical responses to the anti-interleukin-17A monoclonal antibody secukinumab in active rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*.
 [Online] 2015;55(1): 49-55. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kev258
- 112. Miyara M, Ito Y, Sakaguchi S. -cell therapies for autoimmune rheumatic diseases. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2014;10(9): 543-551. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2014.105
- 113. Ehrenstein MR, Evans JG, Singh A, Moore S, Warnes G, Isenberg DA, et al. Compromised function of regulatory T cells in rheumatoid arthritis and reversal by anti-TNFalpha therapy. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. [Online] 2004;200(3): 277-285. Available from: doi:10.1084/jem.20040165
- 114. Panayi GS. B cells: a fundamental role in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis? *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2005;44(suppl_2): ii3-ii7. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keh616
- 115. Silverman GJ, Carson DA. Roles of B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2003;5 Suppl 4: S1-S6. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar1010
- 116. Litsiou E, Semitekolou M, Galani IE, Morianos I, Tsoutsa A, Kara P, et al. CXCL13 production in B cells via Toll-like receptor/lymphotoxin receptor signaling is involved in lymphoid neogenesis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*. [Online] 2013;187(11): 1194-1202. Available from: doi:10.1164/rccm.201208-15430C
- 117. Nakken B, Munthe LA, Konttinen YT, Sandberg AK, Szekanecz Z, Alex P, et al. Autoimmunity Reviews. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. [Online]
 Elsevier B.V; 2011;11(1): 28-34. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.06.010
- 118. Svensson L, Jirholt J, Holmdahl R, Jansson L. B cell-deficient mice do not develop type II collagen-induced arthritis (CIA). *Clinical and experimental immunology*. 1998;111(3): 521-526.
- 119. Petryk M, Grossbard ML. Rituximab Therapy of B-Cell Neoplasms. *Clinical Lymphoma*. [Online] Elsevier Inc; 2011;1(3): 186-194. Available from: doi:10.3816/CLM.2000.n.015
- 120. Edwards JCW, Szczepanski L, Szechinski J, Filipowicz-Sosnowska A, Emery P, Close DR, et al. Efficacy of B-cell-targeted therapy with rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *The New England*

journal of medicine. [Online] 2004;350(25): 2572-2581. Available from: doi:10.1056/NEJMoa032534

- 121. Mok CC. Rituximab for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: an update. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*. [Online] 2013;: 87. Available from: doi:10.2147/DDDT.S41645
- 122. Menconi F, Marcocci C, Marinò M. Diagnosis and classification of Graves' disease. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. [Online] 2014;13(4-5): 398-402. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.01.013
- 123. Scott DL, Wolfe F, Huizinga TW. Rheumatoid arthritis. *The Lancet*. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2010;376(9746): 1094-1108. Available from: doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(10)60826-4
- 124. van Beers JJBC, Willemze A, Jansen JJ, Engbers GHM, Salden M, Raats J, et al. ACPA fine-specificity profiles in early rheumatoid arthritis patients do not correlate with clinical features at baseline or with disease progression. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2013;15(5): R140. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar4322
- 125. van Venrooij WJ, van Venrooij WJ, Pruijn GJ, Pruijn GJ. How citrullination invaded rheumatoid arthritis research. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2014;16(1): 103. Available from: doi:10.1111/all.12111
- 126. Westwood OMR. Rheumatoid factors: what's new? *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2006;45(4): 379-385. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kei228
- 127. Laurent L, Clavel C, Lemaire O, Anquetil F, Cornillet M, Zabraniecki L, et al. Fc receptor profile of monocytes and macrophages from rheumatoid arthritis patients and their response to immune complexes formed with autoantibodies to citrullinated proteins. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2011;70(6): 1052-1059. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2010.142091
- Damgaard D. Demonstration of extracellular peptidylarginine deiminase (PAD) activity in synovial fluid of patients with rheumatoid arthritis using a novel assay for citrullination of fibrinogen. 2015;: 1-7. Available from: doi:10.1186/s13075-014-0498-9
- Sokolove J, Pisetsky D. Bone loss, pain and inflammation: three faces of ACPA in RA pathogenesis. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases.
 [Online] 2016. Available from: http://ard.bmj.com/content/early/2016/01/14/annrheumdis-2015-208308.extract
- 130. Moeez S, John P, Bhatti A. Anti-citrullinated protein antibodies: role in pathogenesis of RA and potential as a diagnostic tool. *Rheumatology international*. [Online] 2013;33(7): 1669-1673. Available from: doi:10.1007/s00296-012-2635-6
- 131. Pascual E, Jovaní V. Synovial fluid analysis. Best Practice & Research

Clinical Rheumatology. [Online] 2005;19(3): 371-386. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.berh.2005.01.004

- 132. Kim S, Hwang J, Xuan J, Jung YH, Cha H-S, Kim KH. Global Metabolite Profiling of Synovial Fluid for the Specific Diagnosis of Rheumatoid Arthritis from Other Inflammatory Arthritis. *PLoS ONE*. [Online] 2014;9(6): e97501. Available from: doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0097501.s004
- 133. Balakrishnan L, Bhattacharjee M, Ahmad S, Nirujogi RS, Renuse S, Subbannayya Y, et al. Differential proteomic analysis of synovial fluid from rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis patients. *Clinical Proteomics*. [Online] Clinical Proteomics; 2014;11(1): 1-14. Available from: doi:10.1186/1559-0275-11-1
- 134. Noh R, Park SG, Ju JH, Chi S-W, Kim S, Lee C-K, et al. Comparative proteomic analyses of synovial fluids and serums from rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Journal of microbiology and biotechnology*. [Online] 2014;24(1): 119-126. Available from: doi:10.4014/jmb.1307.07046
- 135. Kimura E, Kanzaki T, Tahara K, Hayashi H, Hashimoto S, Suzuki A, et al. Identification of citrullinated cellular fibronectin in synovial fluid from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Modern rheumatology / the Japan Rheumatism Association*. [Online] 2014;24(5): 766-769. Available from: doi:10.3109/14397595.2013.879413
- 136. Gómez-Puerta JA, Celis R, Hernandez MV, Ruiz-Esquide V, Ramirez J, Haro I, et al. Differences in synovial fluid cytokine levels but not in synovial tissue cell infiltrate between anti-citrullinated peptide/protein antibody-positive and -negative rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2013;15(6): R182. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar4372
- 137. Hampel U, Sesselmann S, Iserovich P, Sel S, Paulsen F, Sack R. Chemokine and cytokine levels in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid. *Journal of Immunological Methods*. [Online] 2013;396(1-2): 134-139. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.jim.2013.08.007
- 138. Malyak M, Swaney RE, Arend WP. Levels of synovial fluid interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in rheumatoid arthritis and other arthropathies. Potential contribution from synovial fluid neutrophils. *Arthritis & Rheumatism.* 1993;36(6): 781-789.
- 139. Gordon RA, Grigoriev G, Lee A, Kalliolias GD, Ivashkiv LB. The interferon signature and STAT1expression in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid macrophages are induced by tumor necrosis factor α and counter-regulated by the synovial fluid microenvironment. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2012;64(10): 3119-3128. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.34544
- 140. Lettesjö H, Nordström E, Ström H, Nilsson B, Glinghammar B, Dahlstedt L, et al. Synovial fluid cytokines in patients with

rheumatoid arthritis or other arthritic lesions. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*. 1998;48(3): 286-292.

- 141. Schlaak JF, Pfers I, Meyer Zum Büschenfelde KH, Märker-Hermann E. Different cytokine profiles in the synovial fluid of patients with osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and seronegative spondylarthropathies. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*. 1996;14(2): 155-162.
- 142. Tetta C, Camussi G, Modena V, Di Vittorio C, Baglioni C. Tumour necrosis factor in serum and synovial fluid of patients with active and severe rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 1990;49(9): 665-667.
- 143. Dinarello CA. Historical insights into cytokines. *European Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2007;37(S1): S34-S45. Available from: doi:10.1002/eji.200737772
- McInnes IB, Buckley CD, Isaacs JD. Cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis shaping the immunological landscape. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*.
 [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2015;12(1): 63-68. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2015.171
- 145. Mula RVR, Shashidharamurthy R. Multifaceted role of TNF-α during the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Advances in Bioscience and Biotechnology*. [Online] 2013;04(10): 937-940. Available from: doi:10.4236/abb.2013.410123
- 146. Vasanthi P, Nalini G. Role of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in rheumatoid arthritis: a review. *APLAR Journal of Rheumatology*. 2007.
- 147. Matsuno H, Yudoh K, Katayama R. The role of TNF-α in the pathogenesis of inflammation and joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis (RA): a study using a human RA/SCID mouse chimera. *Rheumatology* [Online] 2002. Available from: http://rheumatology.oxfordjournals.org/content/41/3/329.short
- 148. Saklatvala J. Tumour necrosis factor alpha stimulates resorption and inhibits synthesis of proteoglycan in cartilage. *Nature*. [Online] 1986;322(6079): 547-549. Available from: doi:10.1038/322547a0
- 149. Brennan FM, Maini RN, Feldmann M. TNF alpha--a pivotal role in rheumatoid arthritis? 1992;31(5): 293-298. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=1581770&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 150. van den Berg WB, Han B, Brocker T, Segal R, Joosten LA, Diogo D, et al. Role of tumour necrosis factor alpha in experimental arthritis: separate activity of interleukin 1beta in chronicity and cartilage destruction. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 1999;58 Suppl 1: I40-I48.
- 151. Feldmann M, Brennan FM, Maini RN. Role of cytokines in rheumatoid

arthritis. *Annual Review of Immunology*. [Online] 1996;14: 397-440. Available from: doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.14.1.397

- 152. Kay J, Calabrese L. The role of interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. [Online] 2004;43 Suppl 3: iii2-iii9. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keh201
- 153. Srirangan S, Choy EH. The role of interleukin 6 in the pathophysiology of rheumatoid arthritis. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease*. [Online] 2010;2(5): 247-256. Available from: doi:10.1177/1759720X10378372
- 154. Kudo O, Sabokbar A, Pocock A, Itonaga I, Fujikawa Y, Athanasou NA. Interleukin-6 and interleukin-11 support human osteoclast formation by a RANKL-independent mechanism. *Bone*. [Online] 2003;32(1): 1-7. Available from: doi:10.1016/S8756-3282(02)00915-8
- 155. Choy E. Understanding the dynamics: pathways involved in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2012;51(suppl 5): v3-v11. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kes113
- Nowell MA, Richards PJ, Horiuchi S, Yamamoto N, Rose-John S, Topley N, et al. Soluble IL-6 Receptor Governs IL-6 Activity in Experimental Arthritis: Blockade of Arthritis Severity by Soluble Glycoprotein 130. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950). [Online] 2003;171(6): 3202-3209. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.6.3202
- 157. Kotake S, Sato K, Kim KJ, Takahashi N, Udagawa N, Nakamura I, et al. Interleukin-6 and soluble interleukin-6 receptors in the synovial fluids from rheumatoid arthritis patients are responsible for osteoclast-like cell formation. Journal of bone and mineral research : the official journal of the American Society for Bone and Mineral Research. [Online] 1996;11(1): 88-95. Available from: doi:10.1002/jbmr.5650110113
- 158. Charo IF, Ransohoff RM. The many roles of chemokines and chemokine receptors in inflammation. *The New England journal of medicine*. [Online] 2006;354(6): 610-621. Available from: doi:10.1056/NEJMra052723
- 159. Baggiolini M. Chemokines and leukocyte traffic. *Nature*. [Online] 1998;392(6676): 565-568. Available from: doi:10.1038/33340
- 160. Tak PP. Chemokine inhibition in inflammatory arthritis. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Rheumatology*. [Online] 2006;20(5): 929-939. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.berh.2006.06.001
- 161. Murphy PM, Baggiolini M, Charo IF, Hébert CA, Horuk R, Matsushima K, et al. International union of pharmacology. XXII. Nomenclature for chemokine receptors. 2000;52(1): 145-176. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm

ed&id=10699158&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks

- 162. Nomiyama H, Osada N, Yoshie O. Developmental and Comparative Immunology. *Developmental and Comparative Immunology*. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2011;35(7): 705-715. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.dci.2011.01.019
- 163. Bacon K, Baggiolini M, Broxmeyer H, Horuk R, Lindley I, Mantovani A, et al. Chemokine/chemokine receptor nomenclature. Journal of interferon & cytokine research : the official journal of the International Society for Interferon and Cytokine Research. [Online] 2002;22(10): 1067-1068. Available from: doi:10.1089/107999002760624305
- 164. Patel L, Charlton SJ, Chambers JK, Macphee CH. EXPRESSION AND FUNCTIONAL ANALYSIS OF CHEMOKINE RECEPTORS IN HUMAN PERIPHERAL BLOOD LEUKOCYTE POPULATIONS. *Cytokine*. [Online] 2001;14(1): 27-36. Available from: doi:10.1006/cyto.2000.0851
- 165. Mantovani A. The chemokine system: redundancy for robust outputs. *Immunology today*. [Online] 1999;20(6): 254-257. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=10354549&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 166. Koch AE. Chemokines and their receptors in rheumatoid arthritis: Future targets? *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2005;52(3): 710-721. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.20932
- 167. Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Burrows JC, Evanoff HL, Haines GK, Pope RM, et al. Synovial tissue macrophage as a source of the chemotactic cytokine IL-8. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 1991;147(7): 2187-2195. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=1918955&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 168. Patterson AM, Schmutz C, Davis S, Gardner L, Ashton BA, Middleton J. Differential binding of chemokines to macrophages and neutrophils in the human inflamed synovium. 2002;4(3): 209-214. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=12010572&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 169. Koch AE, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, DiPietro LA, Elner VM, et al. Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis. 1992;258(5089): 1798-1801. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=1281554&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 170. Harada A, Sekido N, Akahoshi T, Wada T, Mukaida N, Matsushima K. Essential involvement of interleukin-8 (IL-8) in acute inflammation. 1994;56(5): 559-564. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=7964163&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 171. Dufour JH, Dziejman M, Liu MT, Leung JH, Lane TE, Luster AD. IFN-

gamma-inducible protein 10 (IP-10; CXCL10)-deficient mice reveal a role for IP-10 in effector T cell generation and trafficking. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2002;168(7): 3195-3204. Available from:

http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=11907072&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks

- 172. Fife BT, Kennedy KJ, Paniagua MC, Lukacs NW, Kunkel SL, Luster AD, et al. CXCL10 (IFN- -Inducible Protein-10) Control of Encephalitogenic CD4+ T Cell Accumulation in the Central Nervous System During Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. 2001;166(12): 7617-7624. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.12.7617
- 173. Hanaoka R, Kasama T, Muramatsu M, Yajima N, Shiozawa F, Miwa Y, et al. A novel mechanism for the regulation of IFN-gamma inducible protein-10 expression in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2003;5(2): R74-R81. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar616
- 174. Kwak HB, Ha H, Kim H-N, Lee J-H, Kim HS, Lee S, et al. Reciprocal cross-talk between RANKL and interferon-gamma-inducible protein 10 is responsible for bone-erosive experimental arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2008;58(5): 1332-1342. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.23372
- 175. Lee EY, Lee ZH, Song YW. Autoimmunity Reviews. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. [Online] Elsevier B.V; 2013;12(5): 554-557. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2012.10.001
- 176. Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, Johnson B, Evanoff HL, Haines GK, et al. Enhanced production of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. [Online] 1992;90(3): 772-779. Available from: doi:10.1172/JCI115950
- 177. Bruhl H, Cihak J, Schneider MA, Plachy J. Dual role of CCR2 during initiation and progression of collagen-induced arthritis: evidence for regulatory activity of CCR2+ T cells. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2004. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.2.890
- 178. Haringman JJ, Gerlag DM, Smeets TJM, Baeten D, van den Bosch F, Bresnihan B, et al. A randomized controlled trial with an anti-CCL2 (anti-monocyte chemotactic protein 1) monoclonal antibody in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. 2006;54(8): 2387-2392. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.21975
- 179. Hartgring SAY, Willis CR, Dean CE Jr., Broere F, van Eden W, Bijlsma JWJ, et al. Critical proinflammatory role of thymic stromal lymphopoietin and its receptor in experimental autoimmune arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2011;63(7): 1878-1887. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.30336
- 180. Hillen MR, Radstake TRDJ, Hack CE, van Roon JAG. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin as a novel mediator amplifying immunopathology in rheumatic disease: Fig. 1. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2015;: kev241.

Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kev241

- 181. Mariani M, Lang R, Binda E, Panina-Bordignon P, D'Ambrosio D. Dominance of CCL22 over CCL17 in induction of chemokine receptor CCR4 desensitization and internalization on human Th2 cells. *European Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2004;34(1): 231-240. Available from: doi:10.1002/eji.200324429
- Saeki H, Tamaki K. Thymus and activation regulated chemokine (TARC)/CCL17 and skin diseases. *Journal of Dermatological Science*. [Online] 2006;43(2): 75-84. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2006.06.002
- 183. Leipe J, Grunke M, Dechant C, Reindl C, Kerzendorf U, Schulze-Koops H, et al. Role of Th17 cells in human autoimmune arthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism. [Online] 2010;62(10): 2876-2885. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.27622
- 184. Gobert M, Treilleux I, Bendriss-Vermare N, Bachelot T, Goddard-Leon S, Arfi V, et al. Regulatory T Cells Recruited through CCL22/CCR4 Are Selectively Activated in Lymphoid Infiltrates Surrounding Primary Breast Tumors and Lead to an Adverse Clinical Outcome. Cancer Research. [Online] 2009;69(5): 2000-2009. Available from: doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2360
- 185. Faustino L, Fonseca DMD, Takenaka MC, Mirotti L, Florsheim EB, Guereschi MG, et al. Regulatory T Cells Migrate to Airways via CCR4 and Attenuate the Severity of Airway Allergic Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2013;190(6): 2614-2621. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1202354
- 186. Al-Banna NA, Vaci M, Slauenwhite D, Johnston B, Issekutz TB. CCR4 and CXCR3 play different roles in the migration of T cells to inflammation in skin, arthritic joints, and lymph nodes. *European Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2014;44(6): 1633-1643. Available from: doi:10.1002/eji.201343995
- 187. YANG PT, KASAI H, ZHAO LJ, et al. Increased CCR4 expression on circulating CD4+ T cells in ankylosing spondylitis, rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. [Online] 2004;138(2): 342-347. Available from: doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2004.02617.x
- 188. Smolen JS, Aletaha D, Bijlsma JWJ, Breedveld FC, Boumpas D, Burmester G, et al. Treating rheumatoid arthritis to target: recommendations of an international task force. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2010;69(4): 631-637. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2009.123919
- 189. Fransen J, van Riel PLCM. The Disease Activity Score and the EULAR Response Criteria. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America*.
 [Online] 2009;35(4): 745-757. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.rdc.2009.10.001

- 190. Ruderman EM. Overview of safety of non-biologic and biologic DMARDs. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2012;51(suppl 6): vi37-vi43. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kes283
- 191. Chan ESL, Cronstein BN. Molecular action of methotrexate in inflammatory diseases. *Arthritis research*. 2002;4(4): 266-273.
- 192. Cutolo M, Sulli A, Pizzorni C, Seriolo B, Straub RH. Anti-inflammatory mechanisms of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 2001;60(8): 729-735.
- 193. Braun J. Methotrexate: optimizing the efficacy in rheumatoid arthritis. *Therapeutic Advances in Musculoskeletal Disease*. [Online] 2011;3(3): 151-158. Available from: doi:10.1177/1759720X11408635
- 194. Weinblatt ME. Methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis: a quarter century of development. *Transactions of the American Clinical and Climatological Association*. 2013;124: 16-25.
- 195. Pincus T, Cronstein B, Braun J. Methotrexate--the anchor drug--an introduction. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*. 2010;28(5 Suppl 61): S1-S2.
- 196. Gibbons LJ, Hyrich KL. Biologic therapy for rheumatoid arthritis: clinical efficacy and predictors of response. *BioDrugs* : *clinical immunotherapeutics*, *biopharmaceuticals* and gene therapy. 2009;23(2): 111-124.
- Herrero-Beaumont G, Calatrava MJM, Castañeda S. Abatacept
 Mechanism of Action: Concordance With Its Clinical Profile.
 Reumatología clínica (English Edition). [Online] SEGO; 2015;8(2): 78-83. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.reumae.2011.08.004
- 198. Maeshima K, Yamaoka K, Kubo S, Nakano K, Iwata S, Saito K, et al. The JAK inhibitor tofacitinib regulates synovitis through inhibition of interferon-γ and interleukin-17 production by human CD4+ T cells. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2012;64(6): 1790-1798. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.34329
- 199. Schett G, Elewaut D, McInnes IB, Dayer J-M, Neurath MF. How cytokine networks fuel inflammation. *Nature medicine*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2013;19(7): 822-824. Available from: doi:10.1038/nm.3260
- Feldmann M, Maini RN. Anti-TNF alpha therapy of rheumatoid arthritis: what have we learned? Annual Review of Immunology.
 [Online] 2001;19: 163-196. Available from: doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.19.1.163
- 201. Williams RO, Feldmann M, Maini RN. Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 1992;89(20): 9784-9788.

- 202. Piguet PF, Grau GE, Vesin C, Loetscher H, Gentz R, Lesslauer W. Evolution of collagen arthritis in mice is arrested by treatment with anti-tumour necrosis factor (TNF) antibody or a recombinant soluble TNF receptor. *Immunology*. 1992;77(4): 510-514.
- 203. Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Long-Fox A, Charles P, Katsikis P, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with chimeric monoclonal antibodies to tumor necrosis factor α. Arthritis & Rheumatism. 1993;36(12): 1681-1690.
- Elliott MJ, Maini RN, Feldmann M, Kalden JR, Antoni C, Smolen JS, et al. Randomised double-blind comparison of chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumour necrosis factor α (cA2) versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. *The Lancet*. 1994;344(8930): 1105-1110.
- 205. Taylor PC, Feldmann M. Anti-TNF biologic agents: still the therapy of choice for rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*.
 [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2009;5(10): 578-582. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2009.181
- 206. Monaco C, Nanchahal J, Taylor P, Feldmann M. Anti-TNF therapy: past, present and future. *International Immunology*. [Online] 2014;27(1): 55-62. Available from: doi:10.1093/intimm/dxu102
- 207. Mpofu S, Fatima F, Moots RJ. Anti-TNF-alpha therapies: they are all the same (aren't they?). *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. [Online] 2005;44(3): 271-273. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keh483
- 208. Nishimoto N, Kishimoto T, Yoshizaki K. Anti-interleukin 6 receptor antibody treatment in rheumatic disease. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 2000;59 Suppl 1: i21-i27.
- 209. Takagi N, Mihara M, Moriya Y, Nishimoto N. Blockage of interleukin-6 receptor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis & [Online] 1998. Available from: http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/1529-0131(199812)41:12%3C2117::AID-ART6%3E3.0.CO;2-P/abstract
- 210. Smolen JS, Beaulieu A, Rubbert-Roth A, Ramos-Remus C, Rovensky J, Alecock E, et al. Effect of interleukin-6 receptor inhibition with tocilizumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis (OPTION study): a double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomised trial. *Lancet (London, England)*. [Online] 2008;371(9617): 987-997. Available from: doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60453-5
- 211. Emery P, Keystone E, Tony HP, Cantagrel A, van Vollenhoven R, Sanchez A, et al. IL-6 receptor inhibition with tocilizumab improves treatment outcomes in patients with rheumatoid arthritis refractory to anti-tumour necrosis factor biologicals: results from a 24-week multicentre randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2008;67(11): 1516-1523. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2008.092932

- Koch AE, Kunkel SL, Chensue SW, Haines GK. Expression of interleukin-1 and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist by human rheumatoid synovial tissue macrophages. *Clinical immunology and* [Online] 1992. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/009012299290243 H
- Bresnihan B, Alvaro-Gracia JM, Cobby M, Doherty M, Domljan Z, Emery P, et al. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 1998;41(12): 2196-2204. Available from: doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199812)41:12<2196::AID-ART15>3.0.CO;2-2
- 214. Gabay C, Arend WP. Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with IL-1 inhibitors. *Springer seminars in immunopathology*. [Online] 1998;20(1-2): 229-246. Available from: doi:10.1517/13543784.9.1.113
- 215. Kalliolias GD, C Liossis S-N. The future of the IL-1 receptor antagonist anakinra: from rheumatoid arthritis to adult-onset Still's disease and systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Expert Opinion on Investigational Drugs*. [Online] 2008;17(3): 349-359. Available from: doi:10.1517/13543784.17.3.349
- Buch MH, Bingham SJ, Seto Y, McGonagle D, Bejarano V, White J, et al. Lack of response to anakinra in rheumatoid arthritis following failure of tumor necrosis factor ? blockade. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2004;50(3): 725-728. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.20115
- 217. Dinarello CA, Simon A, van der Meer JWM. Treating inflammation by blocking interleukin-1 in a broad spectrum of diseases. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*. [Online] 2012;11(8): 633-652. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrd3800
- 218. Neogi T. Interleukin-1 antagonism in acute gout: Is targeting a single cytokine the answer? *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2010;62(10): 2845-2849. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.27635
- 219. Sullivan SD, Alfonso-Cristancho R, Carlson J, Mallya U, Ringold S. Economic consequences of sequencing biologics in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic review. *Journal of Medical Economics*. [Online] 2013;16(3): 391-396. Available from: doi:10.3111/13696998.2013.763812
- 220. Hamilton JA, Anderson GP. Mini Review GM-CSF Biology. Annals of Internal Medicine. [Online] 2004;22(4): 225-231. Available from: doi:10.1080/08977190412331279881
- Hercus TR, Broughton SE, Ekert PG, Ramshaw HS, Perugini M, Grimbaldeston M, et al. The GM-CSF receptor family: mechanism of activation and implications for disease. *Annals of Internal Medicine*. [Online] 2012;30(2): 63-75. Available from: doi:10.3109/08977194.2011.649919
- 222. Shi Y, Liu CH, Roberts AI, Das J, Xu G, Ren G, et al. Granulocyte-

macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and T-cell responses: what we do and don't know. *Cell research*. [Online] 2006;16(2): 126-133. Available from: doi:10.1038/sj.cr.7310017

- 223. Cornish AL, Campbell IK, McKenzie BS, et al. G-CSF and GM-CSF as therapeutic targets in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2009;5(10): 554-559. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2009.178
- 224. Hercus TR, Thomas D, Guthridge MA, Ekert PG, King-Scott J, Parker MW, et al. The granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor receptor: linking its structure to cell signaling and its role in disease. *Blood*. [Online] 2009;114(7): 1289-1298. Available from: doi:10.1182/blood-2008-12-164004
- Hansen G, Hercus TR, McClure BJ, Stomski FC, Dottore M, Powell J, et al. The structure of the GM-CSF receptor complex reveals a distinct mode of cytokine receptor activation. *Cell*. [Online] 2008;134(3): 496-507. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.cell.2008.05.053
- 226. Fleetwood AJ, Lawrence T, Hamilton JA, Cook AD. Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (CSF) and macrophage CSFdependent macrophage phenotypes display differences in cytokine profiles and transcription factor activities: implications for CSF blockade in inflammation. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.* : 1950). 2007;178(8): 5245-5252.
- 227. Fagerholm SC. alpha-Chain phosphorylation of the human leukocyte CD11b/CD18 (Mac-1) integrin is pivotal for integrin activation to bind ICAMs and leukocyte extravasation. Blood. 2006;108(10): 3379-3386. Available from: doi:10.1182/blood-2006-03-013557
- 228. Wicks IP, Roberts AW. Targeting GM-CSF in inflammatory diseases. Nature Reviews Rheumatology. [Online] 2016;12(1): 37-48. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2015.161
- 229. van Nieuwenhuijze A, Koenders M, Roeleveld D, Sleeman MA, van den Berg W, Wicks IP. GM-CSF as a therapeutic target in inflammatory diseases. *Molecular immunology*. [Online] 2013;56(4): 675-682. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2013.05.002
- 230. Hamilton JA. Rheumatoid arthritis: opposing actions of haemopoietic growth factors and slow-acting anti-rheumatic drugs. *The Lancet*. 1993;342(8870): 536-539.
- 231. Stanley E, Lieschke GJ, Grail D, Metcalf D, Hodgson G, Gall JA, et al. Granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor-deficient mice show no major perturbation of hematopoiesis but develop a characteristic pulmonary pathology. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. [Online] 1994;91(12): 5592-5596.
- 232. Yang YH, Hamilton JA. Dependence of interleukin-1-induced arthritis on granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2001;44(1): 111-119.
- 233. Campbell IK, Rich MJ, Bischof RJ, Dunn AR, Grail D, Hamilton JA. Protection from collagen-induced arthritis in granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-deficient mice. *The Journal of Immunology*. Am Assoc Immnol; 1998;161(7): 3639-3644.
- 234. Cook AD, Braine EL, Campbell IK, Rich MJ, Hamilton JA. Blockade of collagen-induced arthritis post-onset by antibody to granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF): requirement for GM-CSF in the effector phase of disease. *Arthritis research*. 2001;3(5): 293-298.
- 235. Plater-Zyberk C, Joosten LAB, Helsen MMA, Hepp J, Baeuerle PA, van den Berg WB. GM-CSF neutralisation suppresses inflammation and protects cartilage in acute streptococcal cell wall arthritis of mice. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2007;66(4): 452-457. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2006.057182
- 236. Campbell IK, Bendele A, Smith DA, Hamilton JA. Granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor exacerbates collagen induced arthritis in mice. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 1997;56(6): 364-368. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.56.6.364
- 237. Berenbaum F, Rajzbaum G et al. Evidence for GM-CSF receptor expression in synovial tissue. An analysis by semi-quantitative polymerase chain reaction on rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis synovial biopsies. *European cytokine network*. 1994;5(1): 43-46.
- 238. Greven DEA, Cohen ES, Gerlag DM, Campbell J, Woods J, Davis N, et al. Preclinical characterisation of the GM-CSF receptor as a therapeutic target in rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2015;74(10): 1924-1930. Available from: doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-205234
- 239. Nair JR, Edwards SW, Moots RJ. Mavrilimumab, a human monoclonal GM-CSF receptor-α antibody for the management of rheumatoid arthritis: a novel approach to therapy. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy. [Online] 2012;12(12): 1661-1668. Available from: doi:10.1517/14712598.2012.732062
- 240. Ryan PC, Sleeman MA, Rebelatto M, Wang B, Lu H, Chen X, et al. Nonclinical safety of mavrilimumab, an anti-GMCSF receptor alpha monoclonal antibody, in cynomolgus monkeys: Relevance for human safety. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*. [Online] Elsevier B.V; 2014;279(2): 1-10. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.taap.2014.06.002
- Burmester G-R, Feist E, Sleeman MA, Wang B, White B, Magrini F. Mavrilimumab, a human monoclonal antibody targeting GM-CSF receptor-α, in subjects with rheumatoid arthritis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase I, first-in-human study. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. [Online] 2011;70(9): 1542-1549. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2010.146225
- 242. MedImmune. MedImmune Presents Positive Phase IIb Data for Mavrilimumab in Rheumatoid Arthritis at ACR Annual Meeting

Wire B, (eds.) www.businesswire.com. Available from: http://www.businesswire.com/news/home/20141117005300/en/Med Immune-Presents-Positive-Phase-IIb-Data-Mavrilimumab [Accessed: 2nd January 2017]

- 243. Behrens F, Tak PP, Østergaard M, Stoilov R, Wiland P, Huizinga TW, et al. MOR103, a human monoclonal antibody to granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor, in the treatment of patients with moderate rheumatoid arthritis: results of a phase Ib/IIa randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalation trial. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2015;74(6): 1058-1064. Available from: doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204816
- 244. Burmester G-R, Weinblatt ME, McInnes IB, Porter D, Barbarash O, Vatutin M, et al. Efficacy and safety of mavrilimumab in subjects with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2013;72(9): 1445-1452. Available from: doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-202450
- 245. MacLellan LM, Montgomery J, Sugiyama F, Kitson SM, Thümmler K, Silverman GJ, et al. Co-opting endogenous immunoglobulin for the regulation of inflammation and osteoclastogenesis in humans and mice. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2011;63(12): 3897-3907. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.30629
- Cook AD, Pobjoy J, Sarros S, Steidl S, Dürr M, Lacey DC, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor is a key mediator in inflammatory and arthritic pain. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2013;72(2): 265-270. Available from: doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2012-201703
- 247. Hamilton JA. Colony-stimulating factors in inflammation and autoimmunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*. [Online] 2008. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri2356
- 248. de Vries EG, PH W, B B. Flare-up of rheumatoid arthritis during GM-CSF treatment after chemotherapy. *The Lancet*. 1991.
- 249. Di Franco M, Gerardi MC, Conti F, Lucchino B. Mavrilimumab: an evidence based review of its potential in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Core Evidence*. [Online] 2014;: 41. Available from: doi:10.2147/CE.S39770
- 250. Huang QQ, Pope RM. The role of toll-like receptors in rheumatoid arthritis. *Current rheumatology reports*. [Online] 2009. Available from: doi:10.1007/s11926-009-0051-z
- 251. Warner N, Nunez G. MyD88: A Critical Adaptor Protein in Innate Immunity Signal Transduction. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.* : 1950). [Online] 2012;190(1): 3-4. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1203103
- 252. Desel C, Werninghaus K, Ritter M, et al. The Mincle-Activating Adjuvant TDB Induces MyD88-Dependent Th1 and Th17 Responses

through IL-1R Signaling. *PLoS ONE*. [Online] 2013;8(1): e53531. Available from: doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0053531.s004

- 253. Sacre SM, Drexler SK, Andreakos E, Feldmann M, Brennan FM, Foxwell BMJ. Could toll-like receptors provide a missing link in chronic inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis? Lessons from a study on human rheumatoid tissue. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2007;66 Suppl 3: iii81-iii86. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2007.079012
- 254. Miyake Y, Yamasaki S. Sensing Necrotic Cells. *Self and Nonself*. [Online] New York, NY: Springer US; 2012. pp. 144-152. Available from: doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-1680-7_9
- 255. Simmonds RE, Foxwell BM. Signalling, inflammation and arthritis: NFkappaB and its relevance to arthritis and inflammation. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2008;47(5): 584-590. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kem298
- 256. Yamasaki S, Ishikawa E, Sakuma M, Hara H, Ogata K, Saito T. Mincle is an ITAM-coupled activating receptor that senses damaged cells. *Nature Immunology*. [Online] 2008;9(10): 1179-1188. Available from: doi:10.1038/ni.1651
- 257. Kim JM, Lee JY, Yoon YM, Oh Y-K, Youn J, Kim Y-J. NF-kappa B activation pathway is essential for the chemokine expression in intestinal epithelial cells stimulated with Clostridium difficile toxin A. *Scandinavian journal of immunology*. [Online] 2006;63(6): 453-460. Available from: doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2006.001756.x
- 258. Flytlie HA, Hvid M, Lindgreen E, et al. Expression of MDC/CCL22 and its receptor CCR4 in rheumatoid arthritis, psoriatic arthritis and osteoarthritis. *Cytokine*. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2010;49(1): 24-29. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2009.10.005
- 259. Radstake TRDJ, van der Voort R, Brummelhuis ten M, de Waal Malefijt M, Looman M, Figdor CG, et al. Increased expression of CCL18, CCL19, and CCL17 by dendritic cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis, and regulation by Fc gamma receptors. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2005;64(3): 359-367. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2003.017566
- 260. Imai T, Yoshida T, Baba M, Nishimura M, Kakizaki M, Yoshie O. Molecular cloning of a novel T cell-directed CC chemokine expressed in thymus by signal sequence trap using Epstein-Barr virus vector. The Journal of biological chemistry. [Online] 1996;271(35): 21514-21521. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=8702936&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 261. Alferink J, Lieberam I, Reindl W, Behrens A, Weiss S, Hüser N, et al. Compartmentalized production of CCL17 in vivo: strong inducibility in peripheral dendritic cells contrasts selective absence from the spleen. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. [Online] 2003;197(5):

585-599. Available from: doi:10.1084/jem.20021859

- 262. Ito T, Wang Y-H, Duramad O, Hori T, Delespesse GJ, Watanabe N, et al. TSLP-activated dendritic cells induce an inflammatory T helper type 2 cell response through OX40 ligand. *The Journal of experimental medicine*. [Online] 2005;202(9): 1213-1223. Available from: doi:10.1084/jem.20051135
- 263. Anders H-J, Romagnani P, Mantovani A. Pathomechanisms: homeostatic chemokines in health, tissue regeneration, and progressive diseases. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*. [Online] Elsevier Ltd; 2014;20(3): 154-165. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2013.12.002
- 264. Yoshie O, Matsushima K. CCR4 and its ligands: from bench to bedside. International Immunology. [Online] 2014;27(1): 11-20. Available from: doi:10.1093/intimm/dxu079
- 265. Fleetwood AJ, Dinh H, Cook AD, Hertzog PJ, Hamilton JA. GM-CSFand M-CSF-dependent macrophage phenotypes display differential dependence on type I interferon signaling. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. [Online] 2009;86(2): 411-421. Available from: doi:10.1189/jlb.1108702
- 266. Sierra-Filardi E, Nieto C, Domínguez-Soto A, Barroso R, Sánchez-Mateos P, Puig-Kroger A, et al. CCL2 shapes macrophage polarization by GM-CSF and M-CSF: identification of CCL2/CCR2-dependent gene expression profile. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2014;192(8): 3858-3867. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1302821
- 267. Wirnsberger G, Hebenstreit D, Posselt G, Horejs-Hoeck J, Duschl A.
 IL-4 induces expression of TARC/CCL17via two STAT6 binding sites.
 European Journal of Immunology. [Online] 2006;36(7): 1882-1891.
 Available from: doi:10.1002/eji.200635972
- 268. Moret FM, Hack CE, van der Wurff-Jacobs KMG, Radstake TRDJ, Lafeber FPJG, van Roon JAG. Thymic stromal lymphopoietin, a novel proinflammatory mediator in rheumatoid arthritis that potently activates CD1c+ myeloid dendritic cells to attract and stimulate T cells. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, N.J.)*. [Online] 2014;66(5): 1176-1184. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.38338
- 269. Foell D, Wittkowski H, Kessel C, Lüken A, Weinhage T, Varga G, et al. Proinflammatory S100A12 can activate human monocytes via Toll-like receptor 4. American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine. [Online] 2013;187(12): 1324-1334. Available from: doi:10.1164/rccm.201209-16020C
- 270. Donnelly RP, Freeman SL, Hayes MP. Inhibition of IL-10 expression by IFN-gamma up-regulates transcription of TNF-alpha in human monocytes. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*. 1995;155(3): 1420-1427.
- 271. Saeed S, Quintin J, Kerstens HHD, Rao NA, Aghajanirefah A, Matarese

F, et al. Epigenetic programming of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation and trained innate immunity. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*. [Online] 2014;345(6204): 1251086-1251086. Available from: doi:10.1126/science.1251086

- 272. Baekkevold ES, Wurbel M-A, Kivisäkk P, Wain CM, Power CA, Haraldsen G, et al. A role for CCR4 in development of mature circulating cutaneous T helper memory cell populations. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. [Online] 2005;201(7): 1045-1051. Available from: doi:10.1016/S0264-410X(03)00141-5
- 273. Xu WD, Firestein GS, Taetle R, Kaushansky K, Zvaifler NJ. Cytokines in chronic inflammatory arthritis. II. Granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor in rheumatoid synovial effusions. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*. [Online] 1989;83(3): 876-882. Available from: doi:10.1172/JCI113971
- 274. Takahashi GW, Andrews DF, Lilly MB, Singer JW, Alderson MR. Effect of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and interleukin-3 on interleukin-8 production by human neutrophils and monocytes. *Blood.* 1993;81(2): 357-364.
- 275. Lioté F, Boval-Boizard B, Weill D, Kuntz D, Wautier JL. Blood monocyte activation in rheumatoid arthritis: increased monocyte adhesiveness, integrin expression, and cytokine release. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. 1996;106(1): 13-19.
- 276. Koyama K, Ozawa T, Hatsushika K, Ando T, Takano S, Wako M, et al. A possible role for TSLP in inflammatory arthritis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*. [Online] 2007;357(1): 99-104. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2007.03.081
- 277. Reche PA, Soumelis V, Gorman DM, Clifford T, Liu Mr, Travis M, et al. Human thymic stromal lymphopoietin preferentially stimulates myeloid cells. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md.* : 1950). 2001;167(1): 336-343.
- 278. Song K, Rabin RL, Hill BJ, De Rosa SC, Perfetto SP, Zhang HH, et al. Characterization of subsets of CD4+ memory T cells reveals early branched pathways of T cell differentiation in humans. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. [Online] 2005;102(22): 7916-7921. Available from: doi:10.1073/pnas.0409720102
- 279. Campbell JJ, Haraldsen G, Pan J, Rottman J, Qin S, Ponath P, et al. The chemokine receptor CCR4 in vascular recognition by cutaneous but not intestinal memory T cells. *Nature*. [Online] 1999;400(6746): 776-780. Available from: doi:10.1038/23495
- 280. Noster R, Riedel R, Mashreghi M-F, Radbruch H, Harms L, Haftmann C, et al. IL-17 and GM-CSF expression are antagonistically regulated by human T helper cells. Science Translational Medicine. [Online] 2014;6(241): 241ra80. Available from: doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3008706

- 281. Imai T, Nagira M, Takagi S, Kakizaki M, Nishimura M, Wang J, et al. Selective recruitment of CCR4-bearing Th2 cells toward antigenpresenting cells by the CC chemokines thymus and activationregulated chemokine and macrophage-derived chemokine. International Immunology. 1999;11(1): 81-88.
- 282. Codarri L, Gyülvészi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORγt drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nature Immunology*. [Online] 2011;12(6): 560-567. Available from: doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- 283. Kleinewietfeld M, Manzel A, Titze J, Kvakan H, Yosef N, Linker RA, et al. Sodium chloride drives autoimmune disease by the induction of pathogenic TH17 cells. *Nature*. [Online] 2013;496(7446): 518-522. Available from: doi:10.1038/nature11868
- 284. Zielinski CE. Autoimmunity beyond Th17: GM-CSF producing T cells. *Cell Cycle*. [Online] 2014;13(16): 2489-2490. Available from: doi:10.4161/15384101.2014.946377
- 285. Zhang J, Roberts AI, Liu C, Ren G, Xu G, Zhang L, et al. A novel subset of helper T cells promotes immune responses by secreting GM-CSF. *Cell Death and Differentiation*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2013;20(12): 1731-1741. Available from: doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.130
- 286. Youssef PP, Kraan M, Breedveld F, Bresnihan B, Cassidy N, Cunnane G, et al. Quantitative microscopic analysis of inflammation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial membrane samples selected at arthroscopy compared with samples obtained blindly by needle biopsy. Arthritis & Rheumatism. [Online] 1998;41(4): 663-669. Available from: doi:10.1002/1529-0131(199804)41:4<663::AID-ART13>3.0.CO;2-L
- 287. Tak PP, Smeets TJ, Daha MR, Kluin PM, Meijers KA, Brand R, et al. Analysis of the synovial cell infiltrate in early rheumatoid synovial tissue in relation to local disease activity. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 1997;40(2): 217-225.
- 288. Rooney M, Condell D, Quinlan W, Daly L, Whelan A, Feighery C, et al. Analysis of the histologic variation of synovitis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 1988;31(8): 956-963.
- 289. Katschke KJ, Rottman JB, Ruth JH, Qin S, Wu L, LaRosa G, et al. Differential expression of chemokine receptors on peripheral blood, synovial fluid, and synovial tissue monocytes/macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis & Rheumatism. [Online] 2001;44(5): 1022-1032. Available from: doi:10.1002/1529-0131(200105)44:5<1022::AID-ANR181>3.0.CO;2-N
- 290. Clemetson KJ, Clemetson JM, Proudfoot AE, Power CA, Baggiolini M, Wells TN. Functional expression of CCR1, CCR3, CCR4, and CXCR4 chemokine receptors on human platelets. *Blood*. 2000;96(13): 4046-

4054.

- 291. Smith MD. The normal synovium. *The open rheumatology journal*. [Online] 2011;5: 100-106. Available from: doi:10.2174/1874312901105010100
- 292. Haraoui B, Pelletier JP, Cloutier JM, Faure MP, Martel-Pelletier J. Synovial membrane histology and immunopathology in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. In vivo effects of antirheumatic drugs. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 1991;34(2): 153-163.
- 293. Revell PA, Mayston V, Lalor P, Mapp P. The synovial membrane in osteoarthritis: a histological study including the characterisation of the cellular infiltrate present in inflammatory osteoarthritis using monoclonal antibodies. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 1988;47(4): 300-307.
- 294. Cook AD, Pobjoy J, Steidl S, Dürr M, Braine EL, Turner AL, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor is a key mediator in experimental osteoarthritis pain and disease development. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2012;14(5): R199. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar4037
- 295. Guo X, Wang S, Bay-Jensen AC, Karsdal MA, Godwood A, Close D, et al. SUSTAINED SUPPRESSION OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS DISEASE MARKERS BY MAVRILIMUMAB BUT NOT GOLIMUMAB IN ANTI-TUMOR NECROSIS FACTOR-INADEQUATE RESPONDERS: AN EXPLORATORY ANALYSIS IN THE PHASE IIB EARTH EXPLORER 2 CLINICAL TRIAL. Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases. 2016;75(Suppl2): 150.
- 296. Sakkas LI, Bogdanos DP, Katsiari C, Platsoucas CD. Autoimmunity Reviews. *Autoimmunity Reviews*. [Online] Elsevier B.V; 2014;13(11): 1114-1120. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2014.08.012
- 297. Masson-Bessière C, Masson-Bessière C, Sebbag M, Sebbag M, Girbal-Neuhauser E, Girbal-Neuhauser E, et al. The major synovial targets of the rheumatoid arthritis-specific antifilaggrin autoantibodies are deiminated forms of the alpha- and beta-chains of fibrin. *The Journal* of Immunology. 2001;166(6): 4177-4184.
- Sokolove J, Zhao X, Chandra PE, Robinson WH. Immune complexes containing citrullinated fibrinogen costimulate macrophages via Toll-like receptor 4 and Fcγ receptor. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2011;63(1): 53-62. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.30081
- 299. Clavel C, Nogueira L, Laurent L, Iobagiu C, Vincent C, Sebbag M, et al. Induction of macrophage secretion of tumor necrosis factor alpha through Fcgamma receptor IIa engagement by rheumatoid arthritisspecific autoantibodies to citrullinated proteins complexed with fibrinogen. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2008;58(3): 678-688. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.23284
- 300. Mathsson L, Lampa J, Mullazehi M, Rönnelid J. Immune complexes from rheumatoid arthritis synovial fluid induce FcgammaRIIa

dependent and rheumatoid factor correlated production of tumour necrosis factor-alpha by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2006;8(3): R64. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar1926

- 301. Fong KY, Boey ML, Koh WH, Feng PH. Cytokine concentrations in the synovial fluid and plasma of rheumatoid arthritis patients: correlation with bony erosions. *Clinical and experimental rheumatology*. 1994;12(1): 55-58.
- 302. Hopkins SJ, Meager A. Cytokines in synovial fluid: II. The presence of tumour necrosis factor and interferon. *Clinical and experimental immunology*. 1988;73(1): 88-92.
- 303. Conigliaro P. The type I IFN system in rheumatoid arthritis. Autoimmunity. [Online] 2010;43(3): 220-225. Available from: doi:10.3109/08916930903510914
- 304. van der Pouw Kraan TCTM, Wijbrandts CA, van Baarsen LGM, Voskuyl AE, Rustenburg F, Baggen JM, et al. Rheumatoid arthritis subtypes identified by genomic profiling of peripheral blood cells: assignment of a type I interferon signature in a subpopulation of patients. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2007;66(8): 1008-1014. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2006.063412
- 305. Goldring MB, Otero M. Inflammation in osteoarthritis. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*. [Online] 2011;23(5): 471-478. Available from: doi:10.1097/BOR.0b013e328349c2b1
- 306. Lehtonen A, Matikainen S, Miettinen M, Julkunen I. Granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)-induced STAT5 activation and target-gene expression during human monocyte/macrophage differentiation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 2002;71(3): 511-519.
- 307. Maier E, Wirnsberger G, Horejs-Hoeck J, Duschl A, Hebenstreit D. Identification of a distal tandem STAT6 element within the CCL17 locus. *Human Immunology*. [Online] 2007;68(12): 986-992. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2007.10.012
- 308. Walford HH, Doherty TA. STAT6 and lung inflammation. *JAK-STAT*. [Online] 2014;2(4): e25301. Available from: doi:10.4161/jkst.25301
- 309. Kubo S, Yamaoka K, Kondo M, Yamagata K, Zhao J, Iwata S, et al. The JAK inhibitor, tofacitinib, reduces the T cell stimulatory capacity of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2014;73(12): 2192-2198. Available from: doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-203756
- 310. Deguine J, Barton GM. MyD88: a central player in innate immune signaling. *F1000Prime Reports*. [Online] 2014;6: 97. Available from: doi:10.12703/P6-97
- 311. Yamamoto M, Sato S, Hemmi H, Hoshino K, Kaisho T, Sanjo H, et al.

Role of adaptor TRIF in the MyD88-independent toll-like receptor signaling pathway. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*. [Online] 2003;301(5633): 640-643. Available from: doi:10.1126/science.1087262

- 312. Mikita T, Campbell D, Wu P, Williamson K, Schindler U. Requirements for interleukin-4-induced gene expression and functional characterization of Stat6. *Molecular and cellular biology*. [Online] 1996;16(10): 5811-5820. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=8816495&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- 313. Chen W, Daines MO, Hershey GKK. Methylation of STAT6 Modulates STAT6 Phosphorylation, Nuclear Translocation, and DNA-Binding Activity. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2004;172(11): 6744-6750. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.11.6744
- 314. Ghoreschi K, Jesson MI, Li X, Lee JL, Ghosh S, Alsup JW, et al. Modulation of innate and adaptive immune responses by tofacitinib (CP-690,550). *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2011;186(7): 4234-4243. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1003668
- 315. O'Shea JJ, Laurence A, McInnes IB. Back to the future: oral targeted therapy for RA and other autoimmune diseases. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2013;9(3): 173-182. Available from: doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2013.7
- 316. Shrivastava AK, Singh HV, Raizada A, Singh SK, Pandey A, Singh N, et al. Inflammatory markers in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Allergologia et Immunopathologia*. [Online] 2015;43(1): 81-87. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.aller.2013.11.003
- 317. Parry SL, Sebbag M, Feldmann M, Brennan FM. Contact with T cells modulates monocyte IL-10 production: role of T cell membrane TNFalpha. *Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md. : 1950)*. 1997;158(8): 3673-3681.
- 318. McInnes IB, Leung BP, Liew FY. Cell-cell interactions in synovitis. Interactions between T lymphocytes and synovial cells. *Arthritis research*. [Online] 2000;2(5): 374-378. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar115
- Robbins CS, Swirski FK. The multiple roles of monocyte subsets in steady state and inflammation. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*.
 [Online] 2010;67(16): 2685-2693. Available from: doi:10.1007/s00018-010-0375-x
- 320. Spahn JH, Kreisel D. Monocytes in sterile inflammation: recruitment and functional consequences. *Archivum immunologiae et therapiae experimentalis*. [Online] 2014;62(3): 187-194. Available from: doi:10.1007/s00005-013-0267-5
- 321. Swirski FK, Nahrendorf M, Etzrodt M. Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites.

Science. 2009. Available from: doi:10.1126/science.1175202

- 322. Beyer M, Mallmann MR, Xue J, Staratschek-Jox A, Vorholt D, Krebs W, et al. High-Resolution Transcriptome of Human Macrophages. *PLoS ONE*. [Online] 2012;7(9): e45466. Available from: doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0045466.s016
- 323. Ambarus CA, Krausz S, van Eijk M, Hamann J, Radstake TRDJ, Reedquist KA, et al. Systematic validation of specific phenotypic markers for in vitro polarized human macrophages. *Journal of Immunological Methods*. [Online] 2012;375(1-2): 196-206. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.jim.2011.10.013
- 324. Hamilton JA, Tak PP. The dynamics of macrophage lineage populations in inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. [Online] 2009. Available from: doi:10.1002/art.24505
- 325. Kennedy A, Fearon U, Veale DJ, Godson C. Macrophages in synovial inflammation. *Frontiers in immunology*. [Online] 2011;2: 52. Available from: doi:10.3389/fimmu.2011.00052
- 326. Wright HL, Bucknall RC, Moots RJ, Edwards SW. Analysis of SF and plasma cytokines provides insights into the mechanisms of inflammatory arthritis and may predict response to therapy. *Rheumatology*. [Online] 2012;51(3): 451-459. Available from: doi:10.1093/rheumatology/ker338
- 327. Krausgruber T, Blazek K, Smallie T, Alzabin S, Lockstone H, Sahgal N, et al. IRF5 promotes inflammatory macrophage polarization and T. *Nature Publishing Group*. [Online] Nature Publishing Group; 2011;12(3): 231-238. Available from: doi:10.1038/ni.1990
- 328. Lacey DC, Achuthan A, Fleetwood AJ, Dinh H, Roiniotis J, Scholz GM, et al. Defining GM-CSF- and macrophage-CSF-dependent macrophage responses by in vitro models. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2012;188(11): 5752-5765. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1103426
- 329. Mantovani A, SICA A, Sozzani S, et al. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends in immunology*. [Online] 2004;25(12): 677-686. Available from: doi:10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- 330. Ploeger DT, Hosper NA, Schipper M, Koerts JA, de Rond S, Bank RA. Cell plasticity in wound healing: paracrine factors of M1/ M2 polarized macrophages influence the phenotypical state of dermal fibroblasts. *Cell communication and signaling* : *CCS*. [Online] 2013;11(1): 29. Available from: doi:10.1186/1478-811X-11-29
- 331. De Filippo K, Dudeck A, Hasenberg M, Nye E, van Rooijen N, Hartmann K, et al. Mast cell and macrophage chemokines CXCL1/CXCL2 control the early stage of neutrophil recruitment during tissue inflammation. *Blood*. [Online] 2013;121(24): 4930-4937. Available from: doi:10.1182/blood-2013-02-486217

- 332. Minter RR, Cohen ES, et al. Protein engineering and preclinical development of a GM-CSF receptor antibody for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *British journal of pharmacology*. [Online] 2013;168(1): 200-211. Available from: doi:10.1111/j.1476-5381.2012.02173.x
- Berger S, Chandra R, Balló H, Hildenbrand R, Stutte HJ. Immune complexes are potent inhibitors of interleukin-12 secretion by human monocytes. *European Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 1997;27(11): 2994-3000. Available from: doi:10.1002/eji.1830271136
- 334. Radstake TRDJ. High production of proinflammatory and Th1 cytokines by dendritic cells from patients with rheumatoid arthritis, and down regulation upon Fc R triggering. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2004;63(6): 696-702. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2003.010033
- Guilliams M, Bruhns P, Saeys Y, Hammad H, Lambrecht BN. The function of Fcγ receptors in dendritic cells and macrophages. Nature Publishing Group; 2014;: 1-16. Available from: doi:10.1038/nri3582
- 336. Swisher JF, Haddad DA, McGrath AG, Boekhoudt GH, Feldman GM.
 IgG4 can induce an M2-like phenotype in human monocyte-derived macrophages through FcγRI. *mAbs*. [Online] 2014;6(6): 1377-1384.
 Available from: doi:10.4161/19420862.2014.975657
- 337. Stout RD, Jiang C, Matta B, Tietzel I, Watkins SK, Suttles J. Macrophages Sequentially Change Their Functional Phenotype in Response to Changes in Microenvironmental Influences. *The Journal of Immunology*. [Online] 2005;175(1): 342-349. Available from: doi:10.4049/jimmunol.175.1.342
- 338. Reynolds G, Gibbon JR, Pratt AG, Wood MJ, Coady D, Raftery G, et al. Synovial CD4+ T-cell-derived GM-CSF supports the differentiation of an inflammatory dendritic cell population in rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. [Online] 2015. Available from: doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2014-206578
- 339. Ottonello L, Cutolo M, Frumento G, Arduino N, Bertolotto M, Mancini M, et al. Synovial fluid from patients with rheumatoid arthritis inhibits neutrophil apoptosis: role of adenosine and proinflammatory cytokines. *Rheumatology (Oxford, England)*. [Online] 2002;41(11): 1249-1260. Available from: http://eutils.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/entrez/eutils/elink.fcgi?dbfrom=pubm ed&id=12421997&retmode=ref&cmd=prlinks
- van Lieshout AWT, van der Voort R, le Blanc LMP, Roelofs MF,
 Schreurs BW, van Riel PLCM, et al. Novel insights in the regulation of
 CCL18 secretion by monocytes and dendritic cells via cytokines, toll like receptors and rheumatoid synovial fluid. BMC Immunology.
 [Online] 2006;7: 23. Available from: doi:10.1186/1471-2172-7-23
- 341. Revu S, Neregård P, af Klint E, Korotkova M, Catrina AI. Synovial membrane immunohistology in early-untreated rheumatoid arthritis

reveals high expression of catabolic bone markers that is modulated by methotrexate. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*. [Online] 2013;15(6): R205. Available from: doi:10.1186/ar4398

- 342. Nakanishi T, Inaba M, Inagaki-Katashiba N, Tanaka A, Vien PTX, Kibata K, et al. Platelet-derived RANK ligand enhances CCL17 secretion from dendritic cells mediated by thymic stromal lymphopoietin. *Platelets*. [Online] 2015;26(5): 425-431. Available from: doi:10.3109/09537104.2014.920081
- 343. Kinne RW, Brauer R, Stuhlmuller B, Palombo-Kinne E, Burmester G-R. Macrophages in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis research*. CURRENT SCIENCE LTD; 2000;2(3): 189-202.
- 344. Haringman JJ, Gerlag DM, Zwinderman AH, Smeets TJM, Kraan MC, Baeten D, et al. Synovial tissue macrophages: a sensitive biomarker for response to treatment in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*. 2005. Available from: doi:10.1136/ard.2004.029751.
- 345. Acuthan A, Cook A, Lee M-C, Saleh R, et al. Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor induces CCL17 production via IRF4 to mediate inflammation, *Journal of Clinical Investigations*. 2016. Available from: doi:10.1172/JCI87828.